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Program Descriptions:

Fox 5 Morning News — A Monday through Friday news program that airs from
5:00am-9am and covers local, national and international stories; weather, traffic and
sports updates; interviews with local and political leaders.

Fox 5 News At Noon — A Monday through Friday news program that airs from noon
to 12:30pm and covers news headlines, provides sports and weather information and
gives updates on local news stories.

Fox 5 News at Five — A Monday through Friday news program that airs from 5:00pm-
6:00pm and covers news headlines, provides sports and weather information and
gives updates on local news stories.

Fox 5 News At Ten — A daily one-hour news program that airs from 10pm-11pm, the
program features local, national and international news headlines as well as in-depth
local stories, investigative reports, sports and weather information.

Fox News Sunday — A one-hour weekly program, airing Sundays from 9am-10am,
that looks at the most pressing issues of the week from the White House, Congress
and Capitol Hill, the Supreme Court and various government agencies and conducts
interviews with political newsmakers.

America’s Most Wanted — A one-hour weekly program, airing Saturdays from 9pm-
10pm. Working with the FBI and various state and local law enforcement agencies,
this program gives descriptions of crimes, its victims and the people wanted for these
crimes with the ultimate goal of helping to capture America’s most wanted criminals
by exposing them to the public and getting citizens to report information to the proper
authorities.
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Fox 5 Morning News — A Monday through Friday news program that airs from
5:30am-9am and covers local, national and international stories; weather, traffic and
sports updates; interviews with local and political leaders.

Fox 5 News At Noon — A Monday through Friday news program that airs from noon
to 12:30pm and covers news headlines, provides sports and weather information and
gives updates on local news stories.

Fox 5 News at Five — A Monday through Friday news program that airs from 5:00pm-
6:00pm and covers news headlines, provides sports and weather information and
gives updates on local news stories.

Fox 5 News At Ten — A daily one-hour news program that airs from 10pm-11pm, the
program features local, national and international news headlines as well as in-depth

local stories, investigative reports, sports and weather information.

Origination: Local

Issues addressed:

1. Crime

2. Local Politics
3. National Politics
4. Health

5. Education
6. Community
7. Housing

8. Transportation
9. Environment
10. Children
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Fox News Sunday — A one-hour weekly program, airing Sundays from %am-10am,
that looks at the most pressing issues of the week from the White House, Congress
and Capitol Hill, the Supreme Court and various government agencies and conducts
interviews with political newsmakers.

Origination: Network

Issues Addressed:

Terrorism
Government

Health

Iraq

Foreign Policy
Immigration

Gas Prices
Hurricane Katrina
U.S. Supreme Court
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America’s Most Wanted — Working with the FBI and various state and local law
enforcement agencies, this weekly one hour program (Saturdays, 9pm-10pm) gives
descriptions of crimes, its victims and the people wanted for these crimes with the
ultimate goal of helping to capture America’s most wanted criminals by exposing
them to the public and getting citizens to report information to the proper authorities.

Origination: Local

Issues Addressed:

1. Crime Prevention

2. Citizenship

3. Public Safety, Health & Welfare

America’s Most Wanted

The airdates are listed on the subject line of the attached descriptions.
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COMMUNITY OUTREACH REPORT

JULY

7/16  Sherri Ly, Reporter — Emcee for National Alliance of Vietnamese American
Service Agencies Recognition banquet.

7/17 Michael Gargiulo, Anchor — Emcee for the Italian-American Festa Italiana
Foundation.

7/26 Michelle Sigona, Reporter — Judge a Karaoke contest for USO Fundraiser.

AUGUST

8/18 Holly Morris, Reporter/Anchor — Host for Diversity Day Celebration at the
Nuclear Regulatory Commission.

8/20 Roby Chavez, Reporter — Moderator of a panel discussion for the National
Association of People with AIDS.

SEPTEMBER

9/18 Michael Gargiulo, Anchor — Discuss the news business at a seminar for the
American Institute for Contemporary German Studies at Johns Hopkins
University.

9/27 Lark McCarthy, Anchor — Emcee for a Cancer Survivor Art Exhibit for the
NCCS.

9/28 Roby Chavez, Reporter — Guest speaker at the Department of Treasury,
Financial Management Services for their annual Hispanic heritage month
event.

9/28 Will Thomas, Anchor/Reporter — Emcee/Host for the Eskandar Fashion Show,

Benefit for Whitman-Walker Clinic.



9/29 Michelle Sigona, Reporter — Speaker at the DARE Graduation, for the Calvert
County Sheriff’s Department, about her involvement in the community and
how she got where she is today without drugs.

PUBLIC SERVICE CAMPAIGNS/PSA’s

1. Media sponsor for the Red Cross blood drive at RFK Stadium on August 6". Also
produced and aired a public service announcement promoting the event.

2. Media sponsor for the Leukemia/L.ymphoma “Light the Night” campaign.
Produced and aired a public service announcement.



Fox News Sunday Guests/Topics July-September 2005

Date:  July3

Guest and Topic: Sen. Lindsey Graham (SCOTUS), C. Boyden Gray (SCOTUS), Nan
Aron (SCOTUS), Sen. Mitch McConnell (SCOTUS), Sen. Dianne Feinstein (SCOTUS)

Date: July 10

Guest and Topic:  Frances Townsend (Terrorism), Sen. Pat Roberts (Terrorism), Sen.
Chns Dodd (Terrorism)

Date: July 17

Guest and Topic:  Sen. Mary Landrieu (SCOTUS), Rep. Jane Harman
(Rove/Terrorism), Sen. Arlen Specter (SCOTUS)

Date: July24

Guest and Topic:  Sen. John Comyn (SCOTUS), Sen. Charles Schumer (SCOTUS),
Alberto Gonzales (SCOTUS)

Date:  July 31

Guest apd Topic:  Sen. Bill Nelson (Space Shuttle), Sen. Mitch McConnell (Senate
Business), Sen. Chris Dodd (Senate Business)

Date:  August 7

Guest and Topic:  Sen. Jim Bunning (Steroids), Rep. Tom Davis (Steroids and
Baseball), Sen. Richard Lugar (Iraq), Sen. Joe Biden (Iraq)

Date:  August 14

Guest and Topic:  Sen. John McCain (Foreign Policy), Amb. Zalmay Zhalilzad (Iraq)

Date:  August 21

Guest and Topic:  Gov. Bill Richardson (Gas Prices/Immigration), Sen. Lindsey
Graham (Politics)



Date:  August 28

Guest and Topic:  Sen. Mitch McConnell (Irag/John Roberts), Sen. Byron Dorgan
(Irag/John Roberts), Rhonda Winfield (Military Moms), Dr. Barbara Porchia (Military
Moms)

Date:  September 4

Guest and Topic:  Sen. Chris Dodd (Rehnquist), Sen. John Cornyn (Rehnquist), Sec.
Michael Chertoff (Hurricane)

Date:  September 11

Guest and Topic:  Sen. David Vitter (Hurricane Katrina), Sen. Mary Landrieu
(Hurricane Katrina), Vice Adm. Thad Allen (Katrina)

Date:  September 18

Guest and Topic: Vice Adm. Thad Allen (Katrina), Sen. Lindsey Graham (Katrina),
Vladimir Putin (Russia/Foreign Policy)

Date:  September 25

Guest and Topic:  Sen. David Vitter (Rita), Gov. Rick Perry (Rita), Vice Adm. Thad
Allen (Rita)
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AMERICA’S MOST WANTED — Show #811 (MW-1833) OAD 7/02/05

The following are the featured fugitives and others being sought by federal, state or local
authorities. The Update (if any) gives current status, previous references, or related information.

Patty Carrion (Attempted Murder, Criminal Use and Possession of a Firearms) -- FBI
agents in Connecticut are looking for Patty Carrion for attempted murder. On September 20, 1995,
agents say, Carrion walked up to a man who was sitting in a park and began to yell at him. Then
Carrion pulled a .32 caliber gun from her pants and shot him in the chest, When the man got up to
run, Carrion shot the man again in the back. A witness saw Carrion leave and go to a car parked
near the park. The witness saw Carrion slam the trunk of the car and then flee to a house. Police
impounded the car that evening, but Carrion was gone. When agents searched the car, they found
the .32 caliber gun and 82 packets of cocaine. Carrion has not been seen since. Carrion has used
numerous aliases and nicknames including Patricia E. Carrion, Patti Carrion, Patti Carrion, Patty
Watson, Patti Watson, and Patricia Watson. She is a small woman who has a discoloration on her
right cheek. Carrion has been known to alter her appearance by changing the color of her hair,
dressing as a young boy by wearing baggy clothes, hats, wigs and theatrical makeup. She is a
known drug user and dealer who is associated with the Latin King Street Gang and the Ching-Ling
Motorcycle Gang. Authorities believe that Carrion had twin daughters since on the run and may be
seeking medical attention for one of them. Carrion is 34, 5'0 and 115 pounds. (See Shows #748
and 775, OADs 1/10/04 and 8/07/04)

Leonard Ray Harper (Murder) -- Leonard Ray Harper is wanted for murdering his friend,
Jerry Permenter, in August 1997. Harper was seeking revenge when he killed Permenter.
Permenter struck Harper's pregnant girlfriend, Francesca. After the incident, Francesca decided to
abort her baby. About a month and a half after the incident Harper picked Permenter up in his car,
drove him to a deserted field, put a gun to Permenter and shot him. Harper and Francesca hopped
on a bus and traveled across the country. Francesca continued to work as a dancer to support their
life on the run. Francesca says Harper became more and more possessive. He wouldn't let her out
of his sight, and she began to fear for her own life and she was pregnant again. At one point
Francesca convinced Harper to let her go to the restroom of a Pizza Hut in Shamrock, Texas.



While in the bathroom she used a napkin to scribble a note asking for help. She left the note
behind with a manager. He called the police and they pulled over Harper's car a short time later.
Harper was arrested and brought back to San Antonio. Harper was officially charged with murder,
but bonded out of jail and took off. Before leaving, he threatened Francesca and promised that he
would be back for his daughter someday. Harper, who goes by the nickname “Hap,” has a scar on
his right cheek. He is a Jekyll and Hyde personality who drinks heavily and is often high. He bites
his fingernails. Harper may have a trust fund, and his grandmother may be supporting him on the
run. He likes sushi, likes to cook in known to use cocaine. He is a scuba diver. He could be in
California or in a Spanish speaking country. Harper is 34, 5'9" and 160 pounds. (See Shows #698,
#720, #748 and #775, OADs 11/23/02, 1/10/04, 5/24/03, and 8/07/04)

Heather Catherine Tallchief (Bank Larceny)

Roberto Solis (Bank Larceny) -- The Nevada FBI and Las Vegas police are looking for an
armored car driver and her male roommate who disappeared on October 1, 1993 along with a
Loomis Armored Inc. van filled with $3.15 million dollars. Heather Tallchief, a native of Buffalo,
New York, was hired by Loomis in Las Vegas as an armed guard/driver. On October 1, 1993
Tallchief drove a Loomis armored van to Circus Circus Hotel and Casino, where she dropped off
two co-workers to make a delivery. The co-workers went inside to fill ATM machines, while
Tallchief waited for them outside in the van, When they came back out of the casino, the van,
Tallchief and the money had disappeared. The van was found abandoned in Las Vegas on the
morning of October 13. Investigation of Tallchief’s residence, which had been vacated the day
before the robbery, indicated that she was living with her boyfriend, Julius Gabriel Sauve. The FBI
positively identified Sauve through fingerprints as Roberto Solis. Agents traced Tallchief and Solis
to Denver, Colorado the day of the heist. Approximately one week later, they were traced to
Miami, Florida where authorities intercepted two passports in the mail on their way to Tallchief
and Solis. The FBI believes the couple may be in the Caribbean. Tallchief, who also uses the
names Heather Sonny Tallchieffranco and Heather Franco, is a Native American of the Seneca
Tribe. She has long hair which she sometimes wears in a ponytail, multiple piercings in her left ear
and she also wears a nose ring. She wears clear glasses. Tallchiefis 33, 5'8" and 140 pounds.
Solis” aliases include Julio Garrett Sauve, Roberto Ignacio Zelaya, Pancho Aguilila, Pancho Agila,
Pancho Aguilar, Miguel Angel Dominguez, and Joseph Anthony Panura. He has tattoos on his
right forearm of the Spanish words “esta vida loca.” He has curly hair, but his most noticeable
feature is his eyes. He has an eye disease called “exophthalmoses,” which renders his eyes very
sensitive to light. He sometimes looks “bug-eyed,” sometimes wears a patch over one eye, and
may wear glasses or blue contact lenses over his naturally brown eyes. He enjoys writing poetry
and fancies himself an art collector. Solis is 59, 5'10" and 152 pounds. Authorities warn that both
Tallchief and Solis should be considered armed and dangerous. (See Shows #594, #698, #748 and
#775, OADs 7/8/00, 11/23/02, 1/10/04 and 8/07/04)

Cesar Anthony Lira (Felony Escape)

Manuel Ayala (Parole Violation) -- In the spring of 2004 Cesar Lira was in prison for
violating parole on a 1992 drug conviction when he injured his leg. As prison officials took him to
a Milwaukee hospital, Lira sprang from his wheelchair and jumped into a waiting getaway vehicle
with his girlfriend and young daughter, State troopers spotted the getaway vehicle in Oklahoma
and tried to stop Lira with a roadblock. Lira crashed through the barricade killing his girlfriend and
injuring his daughter. Lira was convicted of several crimes surrounding the police chase mcluding



second-degree murder for the death of his girlfriend in the crash. He was sentenced to 20 years in
an Oklahoma prison. Just nine months into his Oklahoma prison sentence, Lira was taken on a
quick trip back to Milwaukee to answer charges related to his prison escape. However, Oklahoma
prison officials made a big mistake. The paperwork that accompanied Lira never specified that the
prisoner was to be returned to Oklahoma to serve the remainder of his 20-year-murder sentence. As
a result, a Wisconsin judge unknowingly set a $15,000 bond for Lira, mistakenly allowing for his
release. Lira walked out of a Milwaukee jail on June 15, 2005. Before Wisconsin and Oklahoma
officials realized their mistake, Lira met up with a lifelong friend, Manuel Ayala (another
Milwaukee convict who just discovered that he was about to go back to prison for violating his
parole) and the two fugitives hit the road. Manuel Ayala, a resident of Milwaukee, was on parole
after being convicted of manufacturing and delivery of cocaine in April 2003. His parole was
revoked on May 31, 2004 after he was involved in two incidents involving a firearm. Ayala knew
that the authorities would be coming to pick him up in a matter of days. Police say instead of
returning to prison, Ayala decided to flee with Lira in his 1991 white Range Rover with the
Wisconsin license plate 970JJC or 856HEYV. Police believe Ayala and Lira are heading to Texas,
where they have family and friends before trying to slip over the border into Mexico. Police say
Ayala has an aggressive, violent history and was spotted with a gun in the month before he fled.
According to detectives, Ayala told his family that he would rather die than go back to prison. Lira
1s also known as Cesar Antonio Lira and Sergio Cano. He has a six-inch scar above his right ankle.
Oklahoma prison records show his leg injury was fixed using a metal plate, pins, and screws. He
also has a scar on is right ankle, two small scars on his right knee, a naked woman in a sombrero
with words "Mi Vida Loca" on his back and praying hands with comedy and tragedy masks, spider
web, hour glass and "Lira" on his right forearm. Lira is 34, 5°9” and 190 pounds. Ayala uses the
aliases Manual Hernandez, Cordora Manual, Manual Ramirez, and “Duby.” He wears a manicured
goatee but may have shaved it off. He has a scar on his upper lip and on his left eye and he has
undetermined tattoos on his back, upper left and right arms, both hands and left and right breasts.
Ayala is a heavy drinker who frequents bars. Ayala is 35, 5’11 and 260 pounds.

Unknown New York / New Jersey Serial Rapist (Rape) -- A serial rapist who targets
young women from New York and New Jersey struck again over the weekend of June 25, 2005.
The man police are looking for likes to dump his naked victims in the streets. Women in New
York and New Jersey say they're on edge yet again following the latest in a sick series of rapes.
Police say they received reports of at least eight rapes from women on both sides of the Hudson
River and most of the cases have a lot in common. Not only are police cautioning women to be
extra careful, they also want to put this guy behind bars once and for all. In many of the cases, the
victims say the suspect snatched them from outside of a bar or club and forced them into his car.
After attacking his victims, the suspect is known to throw them into the street in a remote part of
New Jersey. While this predator is vicious, police are having a hard time tracking him or collecting
forensic evidence because he frequently wears condoms. When he doesn't use a condom, he
allegedly cleans off his victims to make sure he doesn't leave any evidence behind. Police say the
perpetrator is targeting women of all ages - two of his victims were as young as 16-years old.
His latest victim told America's Most Wanted she was heading home from a Chelsea club Friday,
June 24, 2005 when she was abducted at knifepoint by the rapist. After being raped, the man threw
her naked body in the trunk of his sports car and drove around. It's uncertain where he went while
she was trapped in the back of the vehicle. When he finally let her out of the trunk, he raped her
again. After the assault, the rapist drove the woman to Elizabeth, New Jersey where he left her bare



body in the street. At this point police are sorting through other cases that could be linked to the
serial rapist. While police work to gather more details, there are a few clues about a possible
suspect. Investigators describe the suspect as a White, Hispanic male in his mid-twenties. He
stands about 5'6" and has a thin build. He carries a silver-folding knife and drives a small biack
two-door sports car with no back seats. His tactics to lure unsuspecting victims include small talk
with his victims to put them at ease and tells them that he is only going to rob them.

Randy C. Rencher (Escapee) -- Police in Chicago are trying to track down a man who
escaped from the Cook County Jail. Randy Rencher was awaiting trial on weapons and sexual
assault charges in the Cook County Jail where he was working in the loading dock near the
kitchen. Rencher broke into a correction officer's locker, stole his uniform, and simply walked out
of jail. Police realized Rencher was missing around 1 p.m. on June 28, 2005. Just over an hour
after Rencher escaped county lock-up, he was caught on tape robbing a downtown Chicago bank
still wearing the prison guard's uniform he stole. Rencher told tellers he had a gun and made off
with more than $2000 cash. Investigators say Rencher has a long rap sheet, including a conviction
for aggravated criminal sexual assault. In June 2005, Rencher was charged with home invasion
stemming from an incident where he broke in to a motel room. He held a 26-year-old woman and
her four children, all six years old or younger, at gunpoint, threatened to kill them and tied them
up. Rencher was convicted in that crime, as well as several others including stolen car charges,
burglaries, thefts, assaults and trespassing. The last time Rencher was arrested, in 2004, police
found him with a bus ticket to Georgia. They say he has a female friend near Atlanta that he may
be trying to visit. They also say Rencher may be dressing as a woman. Rencher has fiiends who are
known to dress in drag and he may be following their lead to disguise his appearance. Police have
confirmed that Rencher was seen in Chicago as recently as the early morning hours of June 29,
2005. At around 2 am that day, Rencher’s friend robbed him. The acquaintance targeted Rencher
after hearing media reports about the bank robbery. Rencher's friend made off with a minimal
amount of cash, a gold chain, and Rencher's cell phone. Marshals say that Rencher's tattoos could
be the best clue to finding him. In 1986, his tattoos identified him in a sexual assault and robbery
that occurred in a doctor's office rest room. His tattoos include the name “Slick,” a heart and a
pitchfork on his arms and the word “Outlaw” on his upper back. Rencher uses the aliases Jerry
Davis, Joseph Brown, Randal C. Brown, Alvin Mitchell, Macanen P. Gordon, Anthony C. Taylor,
Andrew Moss, Willy Browne Joseph, Robert N. Moss, Patrick Snyder, Joseph Brown, Gregory
Bailey, Donald C. Walker, and Andrew N. Davis. He is balding and is known to shave hair close
on sides. Rencher is a member of the Black Souls street gang in Chicago and police consider him
armed and dangerous. Rencher is 37, 6°3” and 180 pounds.

Jenny Liang (Murder) -- Liang and her boyfriend Patrick Sheen were together over a year
when they bought their home in Las Vegas, Nevada. Patrick owned his own insurance company,
and Jenny worked as a dealer at the Mirage Casino. Jenny’s 14~year-old son lived at their home
and attended school in the area, Patrick’s sister Ruby was close with the family. She visited her
brother often and they had a very close relationship. On October 2, 2000 Jenny called Dennis Lam
at the insurance company to tell him that Patrick would not be at work that day. Later that evening
Jenny called Dennis again and said Patrick would be out of town for a meeting and would not
return until Friday, October 6, 2000. The same day Jenny called Dennis, she also called her work
and spoke to a scheduler at the Mirage. Jenny called out sick from work on October 2 and 3. Then
on October 4, Jenny called the Mirage again and said she was hospitalized and would not be able



to return to work. Shortly after that phone call, Jenny picked up her 14-year-old son and dropped
him off at her ex-husband’s house. She also gave her ex-husband and her son the 1999 Mercedes-
Benz she owned with Patrick. She told her son he would have to take care of himself and that she
had to go. Within this week Ruby, Patrick’s sister, told cops she was trying to contact him and his
family, but no one could be reached. On October 11, 2000, Ruby was getting nervous and she
called the police station to file a missing person report on her brother. It wasn’t like him not to call
or stop by her house. The police, Ruby and a locksmith went to Patrick’s home. As soon as they
entered they knew there was a problem because of the smell that was coming from the bedroom.
The cops found Patrick’s body in his bed. He had been shot multiple times in his head with a .357.
Patrick’s fingers were starting to mummify, the home was not ransacked, there was no forced
entry, and there was $925 in his pocket. The only thing missing was Patrick’s girlfiiend, her son,
and their Mercedes. An investigation tracked Jenny to Los Angeles where she made a withdrawal
from an ATM and purchased a plane ticket to Hong Kong. She may be in China, and may be using
the names Zhen Yu Liang or Yu Zhen Liang as aliases. She almost always wears white clothing.
Jenny Liang is 42, 5'2 and 110 pounds. (See Shows #671, #698, #748 and #775, OADs 4/6/02,
11/23/02, 1/10/04 and 8/07/04)

Jennifer Servo Killer (Homicide) -- 22-year-old Jennifer Servo was less than three months
into her first full-time job as a TV reporter for the Abilene, Texas NBC station when her colleagues
noticed that she was not responding to phone messages at her home. They asked her apartment
manager to check on her and that’s when she was found dead. Servo had been strangled and had
suffered a head trauma. Jennifer was found fully clothes, but an autopsy turned up bruises on her
body that indicate she had been sexually assaulted before she was killed. Missing from her
apartment was a “Guess” purse with a photo of Anna Nicole Smith on it, three seasons of “Sex In
The City” and “Saving Private Ryan” on DVD, and a Kyocera brand cell phone. (See Shows #697
and #723, OAD 11/16/02 and 6/14/03)

MISSING:
Gabriella Mercedes

Age: 18 ' Height: 5’07~
Weight: 150 pounds .

On May 11, 2005, 17-year-old Gabriella Mercedes disappeared from Stanwood, WA. Gabriella
attended her third period class at Stanwood High School in Washington state but her fourth period
teacher grew concerned when she did not show up for class. Gabriella's mother, Mary

Mercedes, first thought her daughter could have left with a friend, but she never called home.
Gabriella never showed up for her birthday on May 19 nor did she attend an auction at which she
planned to sell a pig. Gabriella’s mother worries that she may have fallen in with the wrong crowd
or may even have been abducted. On Wednesday, June 22 Mary says she received a phone call at
midnight from her daughter and she pleaded with her to tell her where she was. In the background
her mother heard someone tell her to say that she was in Canada, Mary says she knows her
daughter was scared and she does not believe her Gabby is in Canada. In fact, with her own
detective work, she tracked her to a Lynnwood apartment complex. On Thursday, June 30 police



discovered surveillance video of Gabriella. Gas station surveillance video shows her walking
behind an unidentified white man, who appears to be in his late teens to early 20s.

The two went into the 76 station at 20409 Aurora Ave. N. in Shoreline and later used a pay phone
near the store.Police are hoping someone will be able to identify the man. Gabriella is 5'7" and 150
pounds. She has brown hair and brown eyes.

Note: If you have any information relating to fugitives or others featured on AMERICA'S
MOST WANTED, you may call 1-800-CRIME-TYV.

Mailing address: America’s Most Wanted
P.O. Box CRIME TV
Washington, D.C. 20016

Or visit AMW on the World Wide Web at http://www.amw.com
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AMERICA’S MOST WANTED — Show #812 (MW-1834) OAD 7/0905

The following are the featured fugitives and others being sought by federal, state or local
authorities. The Update (if any) gives current status, previous references, or related information.

Appleton Attacker (Attempted Murder) -- Police in Appleton, Wisconsin are searching for
the unknown stranger who nearly killed a 23-year-old woman in the early morning hours of August
7, 1999. The attacker approached a girl we will call Heather, which is not her real name, as she
was entering her mother’s home. . He called “Come with me” in a playful manner before quickly
grabbing her and dragging her across the street to a community park. Once they were in the park,
the attacker produced a knife and-stabbed Heather more than twenty times. At no time did the
attacker attempt to sexually assault or rob Heather, nor did he say anything that would explain why
he was undertaking this random attack. Emergency personnel arrived just in time to transport her
to the hospital where doctors were able to save her life. After two years of attempts to create an
accurate composite image of the attacker, investigators had Heather hypnotized. While in a
hypnotic state she was able to help the artist create a composite picture. The suspect is 22-26 and
5’8”-511". (See Shows #719 and #750, OADs 5/17/03 and 1/24/04)

Olivera Valentino Hernandez (Homicide) -- On October 17, 1992, Olivera Valentino
Hermnandez murdered Ernesto Lara, 17, at a construction site. Hernandez had been drinking and
became angry at ex-employee Lara. Hernandez chased Ernesto from house to house in a cat-and-
mouse style murder. The young boy was shot several times and then buried in a shallow grave
behind Hernandez’ garage. Hernandez, who has used the aliases Valentine H. Oliver and Jimmy
Castro, has the face of Jesus and a cross tattooed on his chest, two women and a rose on his left
biceps, a woman on his right biceps, and a rose and the Virgin Mary inside his right forearm. He
wears reading glasses, is known to carry a gun, and travels by bike or box car. He claims to have a
son and daughter. He may still be working in construction as a carpenter or wood carver.
Hernandez is 65, 5°11” and 170 pounds. (See Shows #337 and #719, OADs 10/22/94 and 5/17/03)



Chaka Raysor (Murder, Racketeering, Conspiracy, Drug Charges) -- Chaka Raysor is
wanted by the Bureau of Alcohol, Tobacco and Firearms and the United States Attorney's Office in
the Eastern District of New York for murder, racketeering, and conspiracy to distribute crack
cocaine. In 1985, investigators say Raysor and his brother Umeme formed a ruthless drug gang in
their Bedford-Stuyvesant neighborhood of Brooklyn. At its peak, agents say the organization raked
in over $90,000 a week dealing crack cocaine in Brooklyn, Maryland, Delaware, and Norfolk,
Virginia. The federal indictment also charges Chaka Raysor with a total of nine murders. But
agents believe the Raysor organization committed more than forty homicides during their ten-year
reign of terror. On the streets of Brooklyn, the gang was known as "The Killers". Agents say
Raysor mesmerized his gang members with fiery, Black Panther-style rhetoric, and maintained
their loyalty with an iron fist. they say during their reign of terror the ruthless Raysor gang
murdered innocent local residents, rival drug dealers, landlords, and a homeless man. On April 27,
1998 Umeme Raysor was convicted of federal racketeering, narcotics conspiracy and murder
charges, but his brother Chaka remains at large. Chaka Raysor has used the aliases Charles Herbert
Raysor, and the nicknames "Chik", "Chak", and "C". He is usually heavily armed, and is skilled in
martial arts. Raysor has a stocky, powerful build, close-cropped hair and a beard, and a glass left
eye with a scar underneath. He is described as ruthless, manipulative, charismatic, and extremely
violent. Police believe he may be working in the rap music industry as a record promoter. He may
be clean-shaven and bald. Raysor is 35, 5'10" and 200 pounds. Viewer tips previously placed
Raysor in Williamstown, South Carolina, but authorities were unable to locate him. (See Shows
#3517, #535, #559, #560, #561, #562, #571, #573, #582, #613, #725 and #777, OADs 11/7/98,
3/27/99, 9/25/99, 10/2/99, 10/9/99, 10/16/99, 1/8/00, 1/22/00, 4/1/00, 12/16/00, 6/28/03 and
8/28/04)

Derrick Henderson (Mu.rdgr, Conspiracy, Weapons Charges) -~ Derrick Henderson is
wanted by the United States Attorney's Office in the Eastern District of New York, and the Bureau
of Alcohol, Tobacco and Firearms for murder in aid of racketeering and conspiracy to distribute
crack cocaine. Agents say Henderson is a trusted lieutenant of alleged Brooklyn drug lord Chaka
Raysor. Agents say the gang dealt large quantities of crack cocaine and terrorized the Bedford-
Stuyvesant community of Brooklyn between 1985 and 1996. In the early morning hours of January
18, 1994, agents say Henderson ordered a crack addict to douse an occupied apartment building
with gasoline and set it ablaze. One resident, Yvonne Archibald, leapt to her death from a third-
floor window in a desperate attempt to escape the inferno. Henderson, who uses the aliases
Lamont Anderson, Lamont Henderson and the nickname “D-Black” is known to frequent drug
havens in Norfolk, Virginia, Maryland, Delaware and North Carolina. Agents say he has numerous
weapons convictions and should be considered armed and dangerous. Hendricks is an alleged rug
dealer and gang enforcer; agents say he always carries a weapon, and is extremely violent and
vengeful. Henderson is 36, 5'6" and 160 pounds. Tipsters previously spotted Henderson in
Fairmont, West Virginia. (See Shows #517, #535, #559 and #562, OADs 11/7/98, 3/27/99,
9/25/99 and 10/16/99)

Scott Alan Hornick (Escape, Burglary) -- Hornick is wanted for a number of con games,
burglaries and escape. In 2001 Hornick was locked up at the Warren County Correctional Center
in northwest New Jersey for burglary, theft and fraud. On August 6, 2001, Hornick and another



inmate, John Strubel, devised a plan to escape from the jail through a hatch in the day area of their
cell block. Corrections officials say they pulled it off by picking the lock using a pair of eyeglasses
as a tool. They then climbed into a crawl space and knocked out a drainpipe, which led to the
second story roof of the jail. Homick and his accomplice climbed down a ladder and over the
perimeter fence where they fled on foot. On August 8, 2002 Hornick and two other men were
trying to burglarize a Circuit City in Wayne, New Jersey. Cops responded to the call and the
burglars fled in an SUV, leading patrol cars on a high speed chase through northern New Jersey.
The SUV crashed and officers caught up with Hornick and his accomplices. Hornick cooperated
and gave a statement, but used the alias Jerry Todisco and fled before police could make a
fingerprint match. Police later caught up to Hornick in Mount Laurel, New Jersey, at an extended
stay hotel. When cops arrived, Hornick jumped out his second story window and fled in his car.
Since then, police have received confirmed sightings of Hornick at bars with gambling in the
Easton, Pennsylvania area and in a mall in northern New Jersey. Hornick, whose other aliases
include Scott Allen and Charles Hall, dates women to get access to their credit cards, then leaves
them. Hornick is 33, 5°11” and 260 pounds. (See Shows #719, #739 and #776, OADs 5/17/03,
11/01/03 and 8/21/04) UPDATE: In December 2004, police arrested the real “Jerry Todisco” who
was identified as a member Hornick’s gang. Police believe Hornick is traveling with another
member of the gang, Sasha Ingardi, a woman arrested in 2004 in New York with Anthony Todisco.
Detective Lippa says this odd couple should stand out - Hornick's is 300 pounds and Ingardi is a
petite, longhaired woman with a mole above her lip.

Eduardo “Limpy” Rodriguez (Murder, Attempted Murder) -- Rodriguez is wanted for
four counts of murder and two counts of attempted murder. Rodriguez, along with “Toonerville”
(“TVR”) street gang leader Timothy McGhee (now in custody) are accused of the 2001 shooting
deaths of Margie Mendoza, Mary Ann Wisotsky, Cheri Wisotsky and Bryham Robinson. Margie
Mendoza, a 25-year-old mother of two with no gang affiliation, was killed when Rodriguez and
McGhee opened fire on her SUV in a rival gang neighborhood in retaliation for another murder.
Mary Ann Wisotsky, her daughter Cheri and family friend Robinson were executed because
McGhee thought Cheri had informed on his sister to the police. Prior to the shooting, both
Rodriguez and McGhee had brutally beaten Bryham in an effort to extract information from him.
Shortly thereafter, all three were shot dead in Mary Ann’s car. Rodriguez, who has used the alias
Juan Carlos Campos Gamino, has several tattoos including “TV” on his stomach, “Toonerville” on
his back, a female head on his left shoulder, “RIP” on his right arm, and additional unidentified
tattoos on his right arm, upper left arm and right shoulder. He is an illegal alien from Mexico who
is also wanted by the INS. He has dyed his hair red in the past. He could be in Las Vegas or
Califionia. Rodriguez is 25, 5’9" and 170 pounds. (See Shows #719 and #747, OADs 5/17/03 and
1/03/04)

RECOVERED:

Shasta Groene
Age: § . Height: 3°'10”

Weight: 40 pounds



Dylan Groene (Possibly Deceased)
Age: 9 Height: Unknown
Weight: 60 pounds

Authorities were called about 6:15 p.m. on Monday, May 16, 2005, by a neighbor who reported
"suspicious circumstances” at the house located southeast of Coeur D'Alene, Idaho. When the
police arrived, they found the slain bodies of Brenda Groene, her 13-year-old son Slade Groene,
and her fiance Mark McKenzie. The bodies bore obvious signs of injury, but the cause of death
remains undetermined. An Amber Alert was issued for Brenda’s two missing children, 8-year-old
Shasta Groene and her 9-year-old brother, Dylan Groene. Both children lived at the house with
their mother. (See Shows #805 and #3806, OADs 5/21/05 and 5/28/05) UPDATE: Shasta was
rescued on Saturday morning after alert customer’s at a Denny's restaurant recognized her and
called police. Police arrested Joseph Edward Duncan 11T, 42, of Fargo, N.D., a convicted sex
offender and charge him with two counts of first-degree kidnapping. Police believe they may have
found Dylan’s remains at a remote western Montana campsite.

CAPTURED:

Edward Lawrence Myers (Attempted Murder, Kidnapping) -- After serving 20 years for
the brutal murder of his wife, parolee Myers met a young woman named Teri Rogers. After dating
for a while, Rogers wanted to end the relationship, and eventually married another man. On
September 9, 1996 Myers kidnapped Rogers. After five days of driving aimlessly, he pulled into a
secluded area and began stabbing and slashing her. He eventually broke his knife, then pulled her
out of the car and left her to die. However, a friendly dog led a postal worker to Rogers, who
survived, though requiring extensive reconstructive surgery. Following the AMW profile, a viewer
tip led authorities to Mt. Victory, Ohio, where Myers was hiding out with his sister. Myers
suffered a heart attack as the police closed in, but has survived surgery and is now in jail. (See
Shows #451 and #455, OADs 5/17/97 and 6/21/97)

Note: If you have any information relating to fugitives or others featured on AMERICA'S
MOST WANTED, you may call 1-800-CRIME-TV.

Mailing address: America’s Most Wanted
P.O. Box CRIME TV
Washington, D.C. 20016

Or visit AMW on the World Wide Web at-http://'www.amw.com
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The following are the featured fugitives and others being sought by federal, state or local
authorities. The Update (if any)} gives current status, previous references, or related information.

Leonardo Anselmo Cisneros (Murder) -- Cisneros was persuaded by Denise Davidson, a
former swimsuit model, to murder her ex-husband, pediatrician Dr. Louis Davidson for his life
insurance money. Cisneros enlisted the aid of two hitmen, who bludgeoned Davidson to death in
his home. Suspicion immediately fell on Denise Davidson. Police surveillance revealed that
Davidson wired money to one of the hitmen, and that Cisneros had called the hitmen's beeper
repeatedly. Cisneros fled back to Jamaica. Clothing left in a motel room by the hitmen was traced
as being purchased by Davidson. She and the two hitmen were taken into custody. All were
convicted of first degree murder. Cisneros is still at large. He is a native of the Dominican
Republic who likes the nightlife throughout the Caribbean, south Florida and Central America. He
holds a British passport and may be using the alias Paul Joseph Harvey, Paul Joseph Harvey or
Carlos. Cisneros is 43, 6'1" and 210 pounds. (See Shows #4035, #470, #578, #725, OADs 4/13/96,
10/18/97, 3/4/00, 6/28/03 and 12/20/03)

Randy C. Rencher (Escape) -- Police in Chicago are trying to track down a man who
escaped from the Cook County Jail. Randy Rencher was awaiting trial on weapons and sexual
assault charges in the Cook County Jail where he was working in the loading dock near the
kitchen. Rencher broke into a correction officer's locker, stole his uniform, and simply walked out
of jail. Police realized Rencher was missing around 1 p.m. on June 28, 2005. Just over an hour
after Rencher escaped county lock-up, he was caught on tape robbing a downtown Chicago bank
still wearing the prison guard's uniform he stole. Rencher told tellers he had a gun and made off
with more than $2000 cash. Investigators say Rencher has a long rap sheet, including a conviction
for aggravated criminal sexual assault. In June 2005, Rencher was charged with home invasion
stemming from an incident where he broke in to a motel room. He held a 26-year-old woman and
her four children, all six years old or younger, at gunpoint, threatened to kill them and tied them
up. Rencher was convicted in that crime, as well as several others including stolen car charges,



burglaries, thefts, assaults and trespassing. The last time Rencher was arrested, in 2004, police
found him with a bus ticket to Georgia. They say he has a female friend near Atlanta that he may
be trying to visit. They also say Rencher may be dressing as a woman. Rencher has friends who are
known to dress in drag and he may be following their lead to disguise his appearance. Police have
confirmed that Rencher was seen in Chicago as recently as the early morning hours of June 29,
2005. At around 2 am that day, Rencher’s friend robbed him. The acquaintance targeted Rencher
after hearing media reports about the bank robbery. Rencher's friend made off with a minimal
amount of cash, a gold chain, and Rencher's cell phone. Marshals say that Rencher's tattoos could
be the best clue to finding him. In 1986, his tattoos identified him in a sexual assault and robbery
that occurred in a doctor's office rest room. His tattoos include the name “Slick,” a heart and a
pitchfork on his arms and the word “Outlaw” on his upper back. Rencher uses the aliases Jerry
Davis, Joseph Brown, Randal C. Brown, Alvin Mitchell, Macanen P. Gordon, Anthony C. Taylor,
Andrew Moss, Willy Browne Joseph, Robert N. Moss, Patrick Snyder, Joseph Brown, Gregory
Bailey, Donald C. Walker, and Andrew N. Davis. He is balding and is known to shave hair close
on sides. Rencher is a member of the Black Souls street gang in Chicago and police consider him
armed and dangerous. Rencher is 37, 6°3” and 180 pounds. (See Show #811, OAD 7/02/05)

Rodrigo Cervantes-Zavala -- An AMBER Alert was issued for a 3-year-old Jennifer
Cervantes and her younger brother, 18-month-old Bryan on Sunday, July 10, 2005 in Maricopa
County, Arizona. Police issued the alert after they found the children's maternal grandparents and
uncle shot to death 1mnside a Queen Creek home late Sunday night. Authorities are also searching
for the children's father, 34-year-old Rodrigo Cervantes-Zavala (alias Rodrigo Espinoza), whom
they believe abducted the children, He is described as 5°3,” 165 pounds, with brown eyes and
brown hair. With a five hour, lead police fear Zavala was heading toward Mexico in a green 1993
Buick Regal with the AZ plate 709SDW. The Maricopa County Sheriff's Office responded to two
911 hang-up calls at about 10:30 p.m. on Sunday, July 10", Inside the home, deputies found 17-
year-old Jesus Manuel Acosta, 63-year-old Saul Lopez Acosta and 51-year-old Trinidad Castro
Acosta dead in the living room. Bryan and Jennifer were missing from the home. Bryan was last
seen wearing a shirt with an image of an airplane and blue shorts. Jennifer was last seen wearing a
pink shirt with a "B" and jeans with flowers. The children's mother, Oneida Acosta, who
sometimes goes by the name Isabelle, was at a birthday party and did not return home until about
1:30 a.m., after deputies arrived. The AMBER Alert was issued at about 3:30 a.m.

George “Blaze” Saravanos (Wanted for Questioning) -- Police are getting serious about
pinpointing ex-conman George Saravanos. In fact, Saravanos now sits on the list of New York
State's 100 Most Wanted Fugitives. However, authorities hope the 20-year-old doesn't stay on that
list for long. That's because they want to get him into their offices for questioning in the death of an
area corrections officer. At this point, Saravanos isn't facing any charges in Robert Ross' death, but
police want to talk to him anyway. Someone shot and killed Ross on December 4, 2004, He had
allegedly been partying at a hotel near the LaGuardia Airport on the night he died. As the party
came to a close, someone allegedly shot Ross in the groin, killing him. Ross



leaves behind a 9-year-old son and had been working as a corrections officer and guard before he
was killed. George Saravanos is known to use the aliases Victor Saravano, Victor Vargas and
George Vanos. Saravanos is 20, 5°5” and 155 pounds. (See Show #798, OAD 3/12/05)

David Benjamin Creamer (Child Pornography, Money Laundering, Weapons Charges) --
David Creamer is wanted on numerous child pornography charges stemming from a business he
ran out of his home in Tucson, Arizona which distributed CD-ROMs involving, among other
subjects, child pornography, adult obscenity and bestiality. On June 5, 1997, a 23-count indictment
was handed down, charging Creamer and his businesses, Profit Group, CD-Disc Inc., and CD Disc
Direct Inc., with distribution of child pornography, transportation of obscene materials and money
laundering. Between 1992 and 1995, Creamer’s business produced more than 100,000 CD-ROMs
in the United States and Denmark for world-wide distribution. A trial date was set for March 10,
1998. On December 17, 1997 he was due to appear for a pre-trial urinalysis test. He never showed
and hasn’t been seen since. In March of 2000 Creamer was added to the Customs’ Services Top
Ten List. He is also on the US Marshals’ Top 15 List. Creamer has scars on his face, right knee,
left knee, left leg, a circular discoloration on the left side of his ribcage and a scar shaped like a
plus sign on his neck. He wears glasses, often wears a full mustache, beard and ponytail, and likes
to wear one-piece jumpsuits and Mexican wedding shirts. He is diabetic and may be taking
medication. He has a fascination with Harley-Davidson motorcycles and has previously owned
them. He is interested in weapons and often carries a .38 in a shoulder holster under his jumpsuit.
He has worked as a handyman. Creamer is 58, 5°10” and 250 pounds. (See Shows #729 and #773,
OADs 8/02/03 and 7/24/05)

Raymond Ross (Car Jacking) -- On February 15, 2005, detectives in Lexington, Tennessee
responded to a call involving a young man who had been brutally assaulted. When they arrived on
the scene, 17-year-old Troy Bowen was found unconscious lying in the middle of the street.
Detectives had no idea how Troy ended up where they found him. Police say Troy's girlfriend told
them that he'd mentioned that he was meeting someone who wanted to buy his car stereo, but he
didn't tell her the person's name. Troy was flown to a hospital in Jackson where he slipped into a
coma. Fortunately, after 17 days, Troy finally came out of his coma, but he had no memory of the
attack. Detectives only had two clues as to who attacked Troy: a rough description of the
suspect and Troy’s 1997 Chevrolet Blazer. Police say witnesses described Troy's attacker as
a black male who was wearing a red t-shirt. Detective Hetherington put a BOLO out on Troy's
vehicle, which provided her with the break she needed the following day. A police officer from the
neighboring town of Humboldt had seen Troy's truck just hours after the vicious attack. The
officer’s dashboard camera caught the missing truck on video and it shows a man getting out of
Troy's Blazer. Humboldt officers say they recognized the man as a local gang banger named
Raymond Ross. Since the Humboldt officer didn't know about Troy's brutal assault or the stolen
blazer at that time, he did not arrested Ross. Raymond Ross is known as "Shotgun,” "Pisto]” and
"Toot." He has the tattoos "Blessed" on his right arm and "No Glory" on his left arm. He has
gold front teeth and police believe that he is affiliated with a gang known as the Gangster
Disciples. Raymond Ross is 22, 6’1" and 180 pounds.

Raheem "Radio" Edwards (Murder and Wanted for Questioning in a Murder
Investigation) -- To Daniel Springer, July 4, 2004, was going to be a special holiday with his



family and friends. As soon as his mother came home from work they were going to Coney Island
to watch the fireworks. But that never happened. On that Independence Day, Daniel would find
himself in the wrong place at the wrong time. Around three that afternoon Daniel was heading
back to his house with a friend. They had been playing video games all day and were not aware
that earlier two men in the neighborhood had attacked a man, named Lamesh Maxwell. Maxwell
had returned to the scene to seek revenge. One of the men he returned with was Raheem "Radio”
Edwards. Lamesh and Edwards couldn't find the guys who had given Lamesh his beat-down but
that didn't stop Raheem Edwards from lashing out. Daniel and a friend were walking by when
Edwards allegedly said "I didn't come here for nothing." He then pulled out a gun and shot seven
rounds at Daniel Springer. Daniel ran for his life but four bullets hit him in the back. He died at a
nearby hospital just a few hours later. When New York Detectives began investigating the
homicide they learned Edwards had previous run-ins with the law. According to Detective

Owen Steele, "People familiar with Raheem Edwards stated that this isn't his first crime, he's got a
body in California." Detective Steele learned that Edward's mother had lived in Anaheim and that
he would visit her for months at a time. With that information the NYPD contacted the Anaheim
Police Department to see if they ever had dealings with Raheem "Radio" Edwards. Anaheim
detectives told the NYPD that Raheem Edwards was a suspect in a 2000 murder. December 17,
2000, Haeng Shin Kim was working alone at the Lucky 7 convenience store in Anaheim. In the
middle of the afternoon two young men showed up at the store. The video camera recorded the
men grabbing various groceries and putting them in front of Mr. Kim. The men were wearing
hoods and they seemed to be hiding their faces from the camera. When the men disappeared to the
back of the store, Mr. Kim went to investigate. Seconds later, the video shows Mr. Kim struggling
to get away from one of the men. The video clearly shows one of the hooded men raise a gun and
shoot Mr. Kim in the back. The Anaheim police had few leads on Mr. Kim's murder so they aired
the footage on the local news with hopes of getting tips. They received many tips, some people
even said the shooter was Robert Feeney and his partner was Raheem Edwards. However, they did
not have enough evidence to charge them. By then, both men had skipped town. While Edwards
was on the run, his accomplice i1 the Lucky 7 convenience store robbery was picked up and
fingered him as his partner. Police obtained Edwards’ prints from his juvenile file and sent them to
the national computer. On October 24, 2004, a car was pulled over in Scranton, Pennsylvania for
swerving. The driver was arrested on DWI charges but the officer felt that a passenger in the
vehicle was acting suspicious. The passenger was taken into custody and later said his name was
Jayvanta Waters. To the officer’s surprise, the fingerprints came back clean and Waters was
released. A few days later, the officers learned that Jayvanta Waters was in fact Raheem Edwards.
Detectives believe Raheem Edwards headed back to Brooklyn shortly after he was released from
the Scranton Police Department but he is well traveled and could be hiding anywhere. Edwards
likes to go by the nickname “Radio” but he also sometimes calls himself “Ratchet” or uses the
aliases Jayvanta Waters and Lamesh Maxwell. He has a slightly lazy left eye and a scar on his
right cheek. Edwards is 24, 5°9” and 165 pounds. (See Show #799, OAD 3/19/05)

Jean Marie Jean-Francois (Murder) -- On November 7, 2003, the Broward County
Sheriff's Office were called to investigate the welfare of a family living in an apartment in
Pompano Beach, FL. After gaining entrance to the apartment, deputies found 37-year-old Fritz-
Anna Florestral murdered. The woman's twelve-year-old daughter was found gagged and bound,
but suffered no injuries. Florestral's live-in boyfriend, Jean Marie Jean-Francois, was missing as



was his four-year-old daughter, Medjie Jean Francois. An Amber Alert was issued for the girl, and
she was later recovered when a reverend called police to say he was caring for the child. The
reverend told investigators that Jean-Francois had dropped his daughter off the afternoon of
November 6, 2003. An autopsy has been performed on Florestral, however, the cause of death has
not been released. Jean-Francois, who is fluent in Creole, may have a mustache and may be
traveling in 2 green 1999 Honda Accord. He was a police officer in Haiti and he might be
employed as a security guard. Jean-Francois is 35, 5’8" and 170 pounds. (See Show #741, OAD
11/15/03)

MISSING:

Bryan Cervantes
Age: 1

Jennifer Cervantes

Age: 3

An AMBER Alert was issued for a 3-year-old Jennifer Cervantes and her younger brother, 18-
month-old Bryan on Sunday, July 10, 2005 in Maricopa County, Arizona. Police issued the alert
after they found the children's maternal grandparents and uncle shot to death inside a Queen Creek
home late Sunday night. Authorities are also searching for the children's father, 34-year-old
Rodrigo Cervantes-Zavala (alias Rodrigo Espinoza), whom they believe abducted the children. He
1s described as 5°3,” 165 pounds, with brown eyes and brown hair. With a five hour lead police fear
Zavala was heading toward Mexico in a green 1993 Buick Regal with the AZ plate 709SDW. The
Maricopa County Sheriff's Office responded to two 911 hang-up calls at about 10:30 p.m. on
Sunday, July 10", Inside the home, deputies found 17-year-old Jesus Manuel Acosta, 63-year-

old Saul Lopez Acosta and 51-year-old Trinidad Castro Acosta dead in the living room. Bryan and
Jennifer were missing from the Home. Bryan was last seen wearing a shirt with an image of an
airplane and blue shorts. Jennifer was last seen wearing a pink shirt with a "B" and jeans with
flowers. The children's mother, Oneida Acosta, who sometimes goes by the name Isabelle, was at a
birthday party and did not return home until about 1:30 a.m., after deputies arrived. The AMBER
Alert was issued at about 3:30 a.m.

Ricky Holland

Age: 7 Height: 3’5~

Weight: 55 pounds

Police in Ingham County, Michigan are searching for 7-year-old Ricky Holland. Police say they
believe Ricky left the house voluntarily sometime after his parents tucked him into bed around

9:30 p.m. Friday, July 1. Police say Ricky filled a backpack with 12 fruit snack pouches, a piggy
bank containing between $3 and $5 in change, and the army fatigue jacket and pants he loved



wearing. He also took his favorite rescue hero action figures. Ricky's parents, Tim and Lisa, gave
police the list of items in an effort to aid the search. Ricky’s family says that he has run away
before, but never for this long. Ricky has attention-deficit (hyperactivity) disorder and bipolar
disorder, and police believe he may be experiencing highs and lows of manic and depressed
behavior without his medication. Police searched for Ricky using bloodhounds, helicopters and
community volunteers. All they found was a soccer ball and a trail of candy wrappers. On Tuesday,
July 12, dive teams searching for Ricky say they didn't find anything while sifting through the
Ingham River. Within a twenty-mile radius of Ricky's home that there are sixty-nine registered sex
offenders. Police cannot confirm if Ricky left his home voluntarily and was then taken against his
will. Police have no leads about the boy's destination, but they describe him as resourceful. Ricky's
biological mother led a transient lifestyle and that he learned how to hitchhike and scavenge for
food. Ricky is white with blonde hair and blue eyes.

CAPTURED:

Robert A. DeSimone (Armed Robbery)

Ralph Lee Smith (Armed Robbery)

Michael Paul Taylor (Armed Robbery)

Matthew Donald Taylor (Armed Robbery) -~ A fugitive foursome that allegedly got away with a
sack full of jewelry thought they were set for some smooth sailing after allegedly holding up a
jewelry store in Indiana. Nevertheless, an "America's Most Wanted" tipster helped prove them
wrong. In fact the tipster was so quick, Robert DeSimone and his accomplices were arrested before
the story aired. When AMW reporter Rick Segall went to Hobart, Indiana to prepare a report about
the crime, it was written up in the local papers. A tipster read some of the articles and had already
seen the surveillance video of the robbery when it played on the local news in October. That's when
the tipster decided to call Hobart Police and identified one of the men as Robert DeSimone. The
tipster told police when he saw a man on the tape wearing a beard and a suit, he was sure it

was DeSimone. Following the tip, police headed straight to Niles, Illinois and arrested DeSimone.
Once in custody DeSimone admitted his involvement in the robbery of the Helzberg Diamonds
store and provided information on his three accomplices. He drew them a map that led them right
to the home of Ralph Lee Smith (allegedly Robber #4). He was arrested in Rockford, I1l. on Dec. 6,
2004. The final two fugitives, Matthew and Michael Taylor were arrested on Dec. 21, 2004.

Note: If you have any information relating to fugitives or others featured on AMERICA’S
MOST WANTED, you may call 1-800-CRIME-TV.

Mailing address: America’s Most Wanted
P.O. Box CRIME TV
Washington, D.C. 20016

Or visit AMW on the World Wide Web at hitp://www.amw.com
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AMERICA’S MOST WANTED - Show #814 (MW-1836) OAD 7/23/05

The following are the featured fugitives and others being sought by federal, state or local
authorities. The Update (if any) gives current status, previous references, or related information.

Alfredo Lopez-Cruz (Rape, Kidnapping} -- Police in Hamilton, Ohio are looking for a
man they say kidnapped and raped a 9-year-old girl. Police believe Alfredo Lopez-Cruz lured the
young and defenseless girl by taking her bike and threatening her. After the rape, the girl ran across
the street to her home and told her dad what happened. The victim’s father went to the location
where his daughter said she was assaulted and confronted Lopez-Cruz. Before cops could arrive,
Lopez-Cruz took off and hasn't been seen since. On Monday, June 20, 2005, the vacant house
where the crime allegedly took place had been spray painted with the words "child molester" and
“rapist," and was later set on fire. The fire impeded the investigation and has prevented officials
from revisiting the scene. Alfredo Lopez-Cruz uses the aliases including, Mario Martinez, Richard
Martinez, Richard Mario Martinez and Armando Fernandez. Lopez-Cruz may have shaved his
head or his hair may have been shaved on the sides resembling a Mohawk look. He may have a
mustache and a goatee. Lopez-Cruz is an illegal alien form Mexico who supports himself by
working in construction. Police believe Lopez-Cruz is still in the Ohio area. Lopez-Cruz is 25, 5°5”
and 135pounds.

Omar "Mines" Emanuel Maldonado (Murder) -- When intern Tami Ballard arrived at
the San Diego Police Crime Lab on the morning of Friday, February 17, 2000, she was greeted by
tired-eyed investigators who were called out to the crime scene in the middle of the night. There
was chatter around the office about the gruesome brutality that ended the young and innocent 17-
year-old girl's life. Investigators were working now to find and interview the partygoers in order to
help them identify the victim. Tami said that at the time as an intern, she was told to go and look
at the crime scene photos as part of her education and training. As she was walking down the
hallway to look at the photos her supervisor pulled her away with another assignment. Then Tanu
says that she left work that evening without ever getting a chance to see the crime scene photos.
But it was late in the afternoon that detectives say they did identify the victim as Leah Tadeo,



Tami’s sister. Investigators say that the medical examiner's office then left a business card at the
residence of Leah and Tami’s mother Nicole Tadeo. It asked her to call them immediately.
According to Nicole, when she got home from work, she saw the card stuck in her door. She was
told to call a family member to be with her and she hysterically called her oldest daughter to be
with her. It was just a few minutes after coming home from work that intern Tami Ballard says she
received a the frantic call from her mom. Tami says she jumped in the car and raced towards her
mom's house. This is when, in a strange and unfortunate twist of fate, that Tami realized the
unidentified murder victim from earlier that day was, in fact, her own half-sister Leah Tadeo. She
had been only moments away from inadvertently viewing her own sister's crime scene photos.
Today, Tami still works at the same crime lab as a DNA specialist. Detectives say that Tami has
been a valuable asset to the case because in her spare time she works diligently with her mom to
help find her sister's alleged killer, Omar Maldonado. On Wednesday, February 16, 2000, Leah
had met up with a friend to go to a party. The small apartment was packed with teenagers having a
good time. The party came to an abrupt end when Omar Maldonado pulled out a shotgun. He
pointed it at the ceiling and then at several people in the room, one of them was Leah. When Leah
told Maldonado to stop, he pointed the gun to the back of her head and fired. Everyone at the party
scattered including Maldonado. Every year, Tami and Nicole bring wanted posters to the border,
talk with customs officials, and also post flyers around the neighborhoods. Detectives say

that Tami and her mom even have received word-of-mouth information about sightings of
Maldonado and that they pass along this information to the police in hopes of one day finally
catching Omar Maldonado. Maldonado uses the aliases Omar Emanuel Maldonado-Cuevas,
Emanuel Omar Maldonado, Omar Cuevas, and is known by the nickname “Mines.” Maldonado
had a shaved head at the time of the crime but witnesses say he has grown it out recently.
Maldonado is very short and has a complex about it. He will get agitated very easily when his
height 1s at issue. Maldonado is a member of the UFK "tagging crew" that vandalizes public walls
and buildings with graffiti. Maldonado has family in Tijuana and is believed to have fled there after
the alleged murder. Authorities have credible information that Maldonado has frequently come
back and forth across the border to visit friends and family in National City and the Logan Ave.
area of San Diego. Maldonado is 22, 5’2 and 120 pounds.

Julian Jones (Homicide, Robbery) -- Julian Jones thought he had a knack for armed
robberies and wanted to share his knowledge with his nephew, Keian Wade Williams. On February
11, 2005, Julian turned the parking lot of a Union 76 gas station in Rialto, California into a
classroom. Jones' preferred teaching method was having Williams jump right into a robbery,
hoping he'd learn from first-hand experience. The lesson began with Jones and Williams enlisting a
couple of women's help in luring two victims into a trap. Spencer Fleming and Mark Rodriguez
were riding together in a car when they were coaxed by the women to come to the back of the
parking lot. There waited Jones and Williams, ready to pounce. Surveillance footage from the gas
station parking lot shows one of the women standing and talking with the men and police believe
they can see the other woman signaling Jones and Williams to come out of hiding. The last useful
images on the tape show the two armed men confronting Fleming and Rodriguez. Since the
camera was s$o far away, and most of the action took place inside the car, police have pieced



together what they think happened after the men approached their victims based on crime scene
evidence. When the armed robbery went awry, they believe Jones shot Rodriguez in the head when
he tried to defend himself against Williams. Then the duo walked calmly back to their car, where
they believe Williams asked Jones not to shoot the other victim, Fleming. While Rodriguez,

a husband and father of twins lay dying in the backseat, his friend since second grade sped off to a
nearby hospital for help. In March 2005, police received a tip that Julian Jones was on the run in
Las Vegas and staying with an ex-girlfriend. The tip came from the ex-girlfriend's father, who had
seen a wanted poster for Jones. However, when Vegas police tried to apprehend the fugitive, Jones
escaped out the back of the building. When Rialto police threatened to arrest Williams' girlfriend,
he did the right thing and turned himself in. Police now speculate that Julian Jones could be either
in Florida or Arizona where he has gang affiliations. Police also believe Jones' will do everything
in his power to avoid going to prison. Julian Jones, who is also known as Thomas Smith, Julien
Jones, Jay Jones, J Jones, JRue Jones, J Rue, “J.J”" and “X Cap,” has a scar on his right elbow and
on his left arm. He has as unidentified tattoos on his right forearm, upper arm and on his neck.
Jones is 32, 6’ and 165 pounds.

Scott King (Cocaine Distribution, Money Laundering) -- When a street level drug dealer in
Greenville, South Carolina was arrested by the DEA in 2004, investigators worked the case and
eventually uncovered an organized drug ring that they say moved significant amounts of crack and
powder cocaine through the southeast. Investigators tracked the operation all the way to Atlanta,
GA and to a high-end auto dealership called 404 Motor Sports, which dealt with some famous
celebrities. Ten people were charged in connection with the case, including Scott King and
Tremayne Graham. All of the key players turned themselves in, except Scott King, who drove off
in a white 500 series Mercedes. King is a former college football standout, who played at Mars Hill
College in Hendersonville, North Carolina. King and his associates lived a lavish lifestyle, using
their drug proceeds to purchase extravagant homes, jewelry, luxury cars and vacation in exotic
locales. With the money King's group made through their drug trafficking activities, they managed
to run in circles of elite company, regularly socializing with professional athletes, and well-known
celebrities. Scott King is 36, 6’5" and 225 pounds.

Robert Allen Ellison (Aggravated Kidnapping, Aggravated Sexual Assault on a Child) --
It was a normal day in Houston, Texas for a local woman and her 12-year-old daughter. Just
before 5pm on May 19, 2005, the two pulled into the Fiesta Grocery Store parking lot. Moments
later, they'd find that they were not alone. Before the mother and daughter could make it into the
store, a white van pulled into the lot and a white male jumped out. He was looking at the girl and
he was holding a gun. Speaking to the 12-year-old, he ordered her into his van. The mother,
unable to understand English, begged to know what was going on. But it was too late. The man,
12-year-old girl in tow, pulled out of the parking lot. This was the beginning of a nightmare.
Police say the girl was taken to an isolated lot where she was sexually assaulted by the man. After
the assault, he didn't take the girl back right away. Instead, he took her to a house where he
cleaned any evidence off the girl. Then, the girl was taken to a busy intersection near the grocery
store and was dropped off. After a reunion with her mother, the young victim reached out to
police. Not only did she give a chilling and detailed description of the attack, she helped
investigators identify a suspect. It began with a composite, but the girl was just getting started.



She was able to take investigators to the exact area where the attack took place and even
pinpointed the exact house where she'd been taken to clean up after the assault. She also told them
that the suspect had a tattoo on his leg. The police ran checks on the address where the brave girl
had been and found that two brothers lived in the house. Neither of them had the telltale tattoo, but
did mention that they had a roommate, Robert Allen Ellison. Ellison had that tattoo. A photo
lineup confirmed that Ellison was indeed the man they were looking for. However, Ellison has not
been seen since the day of the attack. Ellison has brown hair and may have blond highlights with a
military style haircut and a beard. He has tribal tattoos on his left calf, stomach and both upper
arms. Ellison is known to have a cocaine and crack addiction and to frequent prostitutes m local
motels. He joined the Army in August 2005 but was discharged before completing boot camp and
attended college but dropped out because he couldn't make the grade. Ellison is 27, 5°10” and 170-
190 pounds.

Warren Price (Armed Criminal Action, 1* Degree Assault, 2 counts 1% Degree Murder) --
On the night of February 13, 1997, four people were relaxing inside a Kansas City home when the
power went out. Moments later, a man with a Jamaican accent came to the door, asking to speak
with someone. The residents said no one by that name lived at the house. Three armed men kicked
in the door, sprayed the house with bullets, and fled the scene. A male victim was found dead on
arrival, a pregnant female died in the hospital and a third victim was hospitalized with gunshot
wounds. Police quickly discovered that the shooters were alleged drug dealers. They had been on
the prowl hunting for a teenage boy who reportedly stole $70,000 from them earlier in the day. But
they went searching for the boy at the wrong home; opening fire and killing two innocent,
unsuspecting people. Investigators say they learned the shooters were Ralston Wellington, Warren
Price and a third man known only as "Ruddy." Detectives searched a nearby safehouse used by the
shooters and recovered a large amount of drugs and weapons, including one of the murder weapons
and body armor apparently womn by the suspects. But Wellington, Price and "Ruddy" had
disappeared. In 1998, Kansas City police discovered that Warren Price was being held at Rikers
Island Prison in New York on a weapons charge. He had six months remaining on his sentence.
Detectives traveled to Rikers, but Price refused to talk. The Kansas City detectives placed a
detainer on Price for the outstanding murder charges, assuring prison officials would notify them
before Price was released. After several months, Kansas City detectives called to check on Price's
status. They found out he had been transferred into the custody of INS after completing his
sentence. Kansas City police contacted INS. The agency had no knowledge of the detainer, An
immigration hearing had already taken place and Price had been deported back to Jamaica in
February 1999. Every few months, Kansas City police ran detailed computer checks to see if
Warren Price had surfaced in the United States. Much to their surprise, Price was back. Using
aliases, Price returned to New York, where he was arrested in 2001 on misdemeanor weapons and
drug charges. But he posted bail and was released before New York police got the results from
fingerprinting and learned his true identity. Price narrowly escaped justice once again. U.S.
Marshals know price was staying with a girlfriend on Union Avenue in the Bronx in June of 2004.
He hasn't been seen since, but police believe he is still in the New York area. Price has used several
aliases, including: John O'Connor, O'Neil Robert Clarke, Claude Cauter and Omar Davis. Ralston
Wellington was arrested in London, England in 2003 and is still fighting extradition to the United
States. Police investigating the double homicide have not yet been able to identify the third suspect,



known only as "Ruddy"” by witnesses. Price has a Jamaican accent. Price is 28, 6’0" and 150
pounds.

Randy C. Rencher (Escape) -- Police in Chicago are trying to track down a man who
escaped from the Cook County Jail. Randy Rencher was awaiting trial on weapons and sexual
assault charges in the Cook County Jail where he was working in the loading dock near the
kitchen. Rencher broke into a correction officer's locker, stole his uniform, and simply walked out
of jail. Police realized Rencher was missing around 1 p.m. on June 28, 2005. Just over an hour
after Rencher escaped county lock-up, he was caught on tape robbing a downtown Chicago bank
still wearing the prison guard's uniform he stole. Rencher told tellers he had a gun and made off
with more than $2000 cash. Investigators say Rencher has a long rap sheet, including 2 conviction
for aggravated criminal sexual assault. In June 2005, Rencher was charged with home invasion
stemming from an incident where he broke in to a motel room. He held a 26-year-old woman and
her four children, all six years old or younger, at gunpoint, threatened to kill them and tied them
up. Rencher was convicted in that crime, as well as several others including stolen car charges,
burglaries, thefts, assaults and trespassing. The last time Rencher was arrested, in 2004, police
found him with a bus ticket to Georgia. They say he has a female friend near Atlanta that he may
be trying to visit. They also say Rencher may be dressing as a woman. Rencher has friends who are
known to dress in drag and he may be following their lead to disguise his appearance. Police have
confirmed that Rencher was seen in Chicago as recently as the early morning hours of June 29,
2005. At around 2 am that day, Rencher’s friend robbed him. The acquaintance targeted Rencher
after hearing media reports about the bank robbery. Rencher's friend made off with a minimal
amount of cash, a gold chain, and Rencher's cell phone. Marshals say that Rencher's tattoos could
be the best clue to finding him. In 1986, his tattoos identified him in a sexual assault and robbery
that occurred in a doctor's office rest room. His tattoos include the name “Slick,” a heart and a
pitchfork on his arms and the word “QOutlaw” on his upper back. Rencher uses the aliases Jerry
Davis, Joseph Brown, Randal C. Brown, Alvin Mitchell, Macanen P. Gordon, Anthony C. Taylor,
Andrew Moss, Willy Browne Joseph, Robert N. Moss, Patrick Snyder, Joseph Brown, Gregory
Bailey, Donald C. Walker, and Andrew N. Davis. He is balding and is known to shave hair close
on sides. Rencher is a member of the Black Souls street gang in Chicago and police consider him
armed and dangerous. Rencher is 37, 6’3 and 180 pounds. (Seec Shows #811 and #813, OADs
7/02/05 and 7/16/05)

ALL POINTS BULLETIN:

Jean Seraphin (Wanted for Questioning) -- On April 6, 2002, Dimitri and Claudy Joseph
set out to have a normal night on the town. So they called a few friends and decided to meet at a
nightclub in Brooklyn, New York. The guys met up with a few girls at a popular Haitian hot spot
called Club Model. The night took a terrible twist when they encountered Jean Seraphin. Police say
Seraphin had his eye on one of the girls and asked her to dance, but when she declined the offer,
the gang member just wouldn't take "no" for an answer. According to reports, as Seraphin
persisted, tempers started to rise. And that made Dimitri Joseph rise to his feet in defense of the
young woman. Shortly after Joseph got up, Seraphin shot him down with numerous blasts to the
head and torso. The shooting allegedly sent horror throughout the club and sent Seraphin running.



Medics rushed to the scene, but Dimitri Jospeh died from his injuries. Police consider Seraphin
armed and dangerous. They believe he might be hiding somewhere in Florida. Seraphin is 21, 5°7”
and 150 pounds.

Joe East (Murder, Weapons Violations, UFAP) -- Tamara Parrish saw college as a chance
at a new life - and that meant leaving her old life behind. But one figure from that world, her
ex-boyfriend Joe West, allegedly came back to haunt her. Tamara's family says that East started
stalking Parrish after she broke up with him. Finally convinced that he would never have her back,
police say, East broke into her home and killed her with three shots - right in front of her family.
Police say East is a Jamaican national who was in this country illegally. Wherever he is, they want
him caught right now. East, who has used the aliases Delroy Smith, Roy Wilson and Leroy Russel,
has a medium complexion and a stocky build. He has no known occupation. East is 40, 5'7" and
200 pounds. (See Shows #430, #509 and #775, OADs 11/23/96, 8/29/98 and 8/07/04)

Kevin Louis Vermette (Second Degree Murder (3), Attempted Murder) -- Folks around
Kitimat, British Columbia always thought Kevin Vermette was a curious man. A quiet loner with
a passion for restoring old cars, he lived and worked at the Kitimat Hotel. Some in town called
him a "silent psycho.” On July 12, 1997, police say Vermette exploded. Four young men - 20-
year-old Mark Teves, 20-year-old Michael Mauro, 21-year-old David Nunes, and 20-year-old
Donny Oliveira stopped at Kitimat's Hirsch-Creek Park that evening. At 9:30, fishermen heard
eight gunshots. When police arrived, they found all four young men lying on the ground in a pool
of blood. Only Donny Oliveira was still alive - he was rushed to a hospital by helicopter. Witness
accounts and evidence left at the scene led investigators to suspect Vermette. When Mounties
went to Vermette's hotel room to question him, they discovered he had cleared out. Armed and
dangerous, he's taken to the woods, but police say he could resurface anywhere. Vermette never
drinks or smokes and is a health food and fitness enthusiast. He has a tattoo of a cartoon cat with
“Lucky” written under in on his right upper arm and a coyote and dagger through a red rose on his
upper left arm. He may be wearing wire-rimmed glasses. Vermette is 50, 5'8" and 165 pounds.
(See Shows #458, #489, #507 and #774, OADs 7/19/97, 4/11/98, 8/15/98 and 7/31/04)

John Rollins Tuggle ( Attempted Murder) -- Idaho authorities and the FBI are trying to
track down registered sex offender John Tuggle who they say sexually assaulted and stabbed his
12-year-old daughter, then left her on the side of a rural road to die. The girl was found by a
camping family. She had been bound, stabbed and was cowering in bushes along a deserted
road near Wallace, Idaho. Police say Tuggle showed up at the Idaho home where the young girl
lived with her mother to take her shopping and boating. Instead, Tuggle drove her to the mountains
to sexually assault and kill her. According to officials, Tuggle had not seen his daughter in more
than 10 years. Tuggle was sent to an Idaho prison in 1995 for the statutory rape of a relative. He
was released from prison in January 2004 and registered as a sex offender in Colorado. Tuggle is
known to carry large knives. Tuggle is 37, 6’0" and 180 pounds.

Adam Mark Zachs (Murder, Escape) -- Adam Zachs was convicted of first degree murder
but when his attorney filed an appeal, he was released on bond and fled to Mexico with his
Spanish-speaking girlfriend. When his money ran out, Zacks left his girlfriend and is believed to
be back in the U.S. since he speaks little Spanish. He has used the alias "Mitchell Robertson" and



enjoys visiting museums and libraries. He has studied the computer and may be working in the
computer industry in Southern California. He is 42, 5'4” and 130 pounds with dark hair and light
eyes. (See Shows #81, #127, #253 and #254, OADs 9/3/89, 8/19/90, 1/29/93 and 2/01/93)

CAPTURED:

Christian Clemente Rodriguez (Armed Burglary, Sexual Battery) -- On March 12, 1999
Rodriguez and an accomplice broke into an apartment just off the University of South Florida
campus. Rodriguez tied up two college students and then both men sexually assaulted one of
them. On March 26, 1999, Rodriguez sexually assaulted another USF student in her apartment.
This time, Rodriguez created a ruse, saying he was collecting signatures from tenants to have a
party. When he confirmed the victim was home alone, he pushed his way in and sexually assaulted
her. After being charged with the crimes, Rodriguez fled to Miami and authorities missed
apprehending him by just minutes. (See Shows #736, #767 and #801, OADs 9/20/03, 6/05/04 and
4/02/05) Christian Rodriguez was captured in Catalina, Puerto Rico in April 2005.

Note: If you have any information relating to fugitives or others featured on AMERICA'S
MOST WANTED, you may call 1-800-CRIME-TV.

Mailing address: America’s Most Wanted
P.O. Box CRIME TV
Washington, D.C. 20016

Or visit AMW on the World Wide Web at http://www.amw.com
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The following are the featured fugitives and others being sought by federal, state or local
authorities. The Update (if any) gives current status, previous references, or related information.

Manuel Aguero (Murder) -- On March 22, 2005 Michael Perea and his daughter were
spending time with friends at their home in Albuquerque, NM. The visit was brought to an abrupt
end when Perea's daughter witnessed his death. It all started when someone knocked on the door of
the Perea residence. Michael stepped outside to see who was there, but was caught off guard
when man with a knife started jamming the blade into Michael's upper body. Worst of all, police
say Michael's 14-year-old daughter witnessed everything. They say she heard odd noises coming
from outside of the house and went to see what was going on. That's when she saw her dad being
stabbed. The brave little girl made a big, bold move by chasing after her father's alleged assailant.
She grabbed the man by his shirt and caught a glimpse of his face. Even though he got away, the
encounter helped her assist police. Police and rescue crews headed to the crime scene to try and
save Michael, but it was too late. He died in a puddle of blood just steps from his front doorstep.
The young woman told police she recognized the man who stabbed her father. She identified him
as Jose Perez. During the investigation, the police learned that on the day of March 22, Perez along
with Marc Herrera, Carlos Velasquez and Manuel Aguero went to Perea’s home. Shortly after they
arrived outside of the Perea residence, Aguero left the car and it wasn't long before he ran back to
the car and told Herrera to take off. Velasquez gave police a similar story and shortly after that,
police filed charges against Aguero for murder, conspiracy to commit murder and tampering with
evidence. During the investigation, police say they learned that Aguero is likely to have stolen the
identity of one of his old prison buddies and was using the person's information in several states.
Not only that, Aguero has other aliases including Antonio Pablo Lopez, Manuel Aguero-Alarcon,
Martin Castillo-Porras and Antonio P. Lopez. Police say Aguero could be in a number of places
including New Mexico and Mexico. Aguero is 34, 5°10” and 165 pounds.



ALL POINTS BULLETIN:

Fernando Ayala (Kidnapping) ~ On Friday, July 22, a Fernley, Nevada woman came home
from work around 3 pm and discovered her eight-year-old daughter missing. Lyon County
Deputies responded and discovered the scene of a well-planned abduction. The accused abductor
was a convicted sex offender. Deputies say 47-year-old Fernando Ayala befriended Lydia Rupp's
mother at a church function in the spring. The two dated and Ayala reportedly moved in with Lydia
and her mother. What Lydia's mother apparently did not know is that Ayala is a convicted child sex
offender. On Friday, Ayala dropped Lydia's mother off at work at 5:30 am, then called her around
noon to tell her that he would not be able to pick her up. Authorities say that when she finaily
arrived back home around 3 pm, Lydia was gone. Lydia’s clothes, and the family dog, a cocker
spaniel were missing as well. Her mother later learned that Lydia's personal information including
her birth certificate and social security card, and nearly every photograph of her were also missing.
Police have been interviewing Ayala's relatives and they have all been very cooperative.

According to deputies, they spoke with Ayala's sister on Sunday. She confessed she had spoken
with her brother just hours earlier. She says Ayala told her he does not want to harm the child.
Police are concerned because, they say, by the time Lydia's mother reported her missing, Ayala had
a 12-hour lead on them. On Monday, police say they spoke with several of Ayala's relatives and
they informed them that Ayala had returned to his native home in Tijuana, Mexico. Ayala was
convicted and sentenced as a sex offender in Los Angeles more than ten years ago for lewd and
lascivious behavior. Authorities said he has relatives in San Diego and Las Vegas, and may be
headed to one of those cities, or to Sacramento, California. Ayala, who is also used the names
Gonzales, Aguero, Pons, Vega, and Slacko, has salt and peppered colored hair and 2 mustache. He
was last seen driving a silver Kia Reo. Ayala is 47, 6’1” and 175 pounds.

William Lightner (Escape) -- Idaho officials are trying to track down William Lightner,
who police say is a violent sex offender who cut off his ankle monitor and took off. Lightner was
convicted molesting a child in 1994. Lightner served ten years, was released from prison in March
of 2005. He had been constantly monitored by a GPS tracking system for the past two months until
Saturday, when police say Lightner cut off his device and fled. Lightner is one of 30 Idaho sexual
predators registered as a violent sexual predator and one of 10 in the Boise area alone. When
officers went to check on him Saturday, July 23, 2005, Lightner was nowhere to be found. Police
believe that Lightner could be anywhere by now and fear that more children are in danger. He
might be driving a 1996 Suzuki with Idaho plates 1AW7722. Lightner is 43, 6’0" 165 pounds.

Carl Preston Evans Jr. (Murder, Attempted Murder, Arson) -- Maryland authorities are
trying to track down a convicted sex offender accused of murdering his 13-year-old stepdaughter
and then setting his house on fire. Police say that Carl Evans stabbed his stepdaughter to death and
then set the house on fire, with an 8-month old baby inside, hoping to destroy any evidence.

On Monday, July 25, 2005, authorities responded to the scene of a fire in Essex, Maryland.
Firefighters were able to rescue 8-month-old Mossett Kendrall Evans from the house and then
discovered the body of Breaunna Floyd. Witnesses told police they saw Evans leave the house
saying that his kids were dead. He has not been seen since he ran out of the burning house. Evans
was convicted of first-degree rape in 1991. In 1993 and 1996, Evans violated his probation and was



ordered to serve a seven year, eight-month sentence. Since his release, Evans has registered on the
Maryland Sex Offender Registry as a sexually violent offender. Now, authorities have expanded
their search for this convicted sexual predator. Evans has contacts in North Carolina, Virginia and
Florida and may be hiding out there. Evans’ is a diabetic who may seek medical attention. Carl
Evans is 35, 5’7" and 190 pounds.

Frederick Lavell Edmond (Murder, Attempted Murder) -- Police in Gary, Indiana say that
during an argument, Fredrick Lavell Edmond tried to shoot at his girlfriend but missed and killed
her pregnant 19-year-old friend Alexis Hamilton. Edmond took off after the shooting. Police
searched his home and seized numerous weapons and drugs, but there was no sign of Edmond.
Frederick Edmond is not a stranger to the criminal justice system. He served a five-year prison
term for reckless homicide after he shot and killed a man in 1993. In 1996, Edmond was sentenced
to two years in prison on a handgun violation. Now, his latest crime threatens to keep him behind
bars for good. Police believe Edmond may have fled to Texas or is lying low in Indiana. Edmonds,
who is also known as “Lil Pop™ and “Lil Pock,” usually wears his hair and facial hair in braids and
he may have a goatee and beard. Edmond is 30, 5’6” and 170 pounds.

Jaime Castro (Aggravated Sexual Assault, Indecency with a Child) -- In November of
1999, Austin, TX police received a report that an 8-year-old girl was touched by a man named
Jaime Castro. Within several days of the report, the police depariment issued a warrant for Casto's
arrest, but he fled before he could be arrested. In October 2001, Castro was arrested in Oregon and
extradited to Texas. Once back in Texas, Castro was able to make bond and was released pending
trial. But, once again, Castro fled. The judge continued the case without the defendant. Within ten
minutes, the jury returned a guilty verdict and took less than 40 minutes to decide punishment.
Castro was convicted in absentia for aggravated sexual assault and indecency with a child and was
sentenced to 70 years. Castro is 32, 5°5” and 158 pounds.

Binak "Kola" Gjergjaj (Assault) -- Rita Gjergjaj finally had the courage to tell her
husband she wanted a divorce. However, her Albanian husband, Binak Gjergjaj, wouldn't let her go
without a fight. April 16, 1998, Rita told Binak that she wanted a divorce. Binak's temper flared
out of control, and officials say he beat Rita. Miraculously, Rita escaped and made her way to the
hospital, where officials documented her wounds. On February 12, 1999, Binak and Rita Gjergjaj
were legally divorced. According to Albanian culture, Rita was stripped of everything and only
allowed to leave the marriage with the clothes on her back and visible scars. Binak refused to let
Rita see their children, but when she was granted visits, they were highly supervised and Rita was
not allowed to have physical contact with them. As Rita separated herself from her controlling ex-
husband and became more Americanized, she decided to fight Binak for custody of their children
but Binak wasn't going to give up the children. Binak threatened Rita and told her that if she ever
tried to take away the children, he would kill her. Now, police fear Binak finally made good on one
of his many threats to kill her. On February 21, 2001, officials say Rita was scheduled to meet
Binak in a busy parking lot to discuss seeing her children. On the parking lot surveillance video
tape, you can see Rita get out of her car and into another and sit for thirty minutes. Then, the car
drives off and out of sight of the cameras. Rita's been missing ever since. The night Rita
disappeared family members were gathered at a birthday party for Binak and his twin brother,
(Gjon. Police say Binak showed up an hour and a half late for his own party. Then, after the party,



Binak went to his Coney Island restaurant and slept in the office all night long. Officials believe
Binak really knows what exactly happened to Rita the night that mysterious February night and
now want to track him down. Binak also goes by the name “Kola.” Binak is 38 and 5°9.”

James Malave (Murder) -- East Coast officials say they're joining forces to capture James
Malave. They say that Malave is a cold-blooded killer with a hair-trigger temper. Malave has been
linked to two murders in Pennsylvania and New York. The 25-year-old fugitive managed to escape
authorities twice. In July of 1999 in Lancaster, Pennsylvania, Malave shot Hector Corneil after the
two had a dispute. When police prepared to charge Malave with homicide charges, the suspect had
already taken off. In 2001, police arrested him for a slashing in New York but Malave gave a fake
name during his arrest. He posted bail and took off before officials realized what happened. In June
0f 2004, Malave got caught up in another deadly incident. The New York Police Department says
he got into a brutal fight over a girl. Authorities say Malave stabbed two people and ended up
killing one of them. Malave has used the aliases James Hime Malave, James Hermino Malave, and
David Torres. Malave has been known to shave head as well as wear hair in a longer, braided style
and he has slight mustache in some photos. Malave is 25, 5°5” and 140 pounds.

FEATURED COLD CASE:

Donald Michael Santini (Murder) -- Cynthia Wood was 33, separated, and starting a new
life in Tampa with her nine year old son. She was hopeful she would win custody of her two
younger children who were living with their father. Cynthia hadn't dated since her separation but
had a potential suitor, a man who frequently came by the daycare center where Cynthia worked.
Every time he picked up his "cousin's children" he would ask Cynthia on a date. On June 5th, 1984,
Cynthia finally agreed to go on a dinner-date with Donald Santini. Before she left on her date that
night, Cynthia told her son she really didn't want to go, that she only said ves, so Santini would
leave her alone. She kissed her son goodbye and went off with Santini in his brown van. That was
the last time Cynthia Woods was ever seen alive. On June 9th, Cynthia's body was found floating
in a ditch in Hillsborough County, not far from where police had discovered the bodies of
two other women murdered weeks before. Police quickly realized that the man who strangled
Cynthia didn't match the M.O. of the other killer. Santini's girlfriend came forward days later and
said she had sex with Santini the night of June 5th and he had confessed to killing Cynthia as a
contract murder. Santini said he had dumped Cynthia's body where the other victims had been
found hoping to throw police off his trail. Santini has been on the run 21 years. Once he's arrested,
it is the hope of the Hillsborough Sheriff's office that they will have enough to charge the person
who allegedly hired Santini. Santini's hair was graying in 1984 - it may now be white and he was
known to dye his hair brown or blonde. He may have a mustache. Santini has a mole or a
birthmark below his Adam's apple. He is a laborer, electrician, landscaper and painter. He plays
the guitar and writes songs and likes to imitate Elvis Presley. He is proficient in karate and like
being around horses. Santini has used the aliases Donald Chapman, John Michael Trimble, Steve
Buice, Charles Michael Stevens and Joseph Brewster. Santini is 47, 6’1”and 160 pounds.

Lovekesh “Bobby” Kumar (Murder) — Kumar is the prime suspect in the double murder
of his estranged wife Pooja Vasudeva, 23, and her mother, Neeraj Narula, 43. A relative called
police on January 10, 2003 when her repeated phone calls to Pooja were unanswered. Police



officers discovered two bodies. There was evidence at the scene linking Kumar to the murders.
The victims were repeatedly stabbed and slashed with a knife. On the same day, San Jose police
received an anonymous call saying that a man was frantically running in and out of traffic in south
San Jose and was almost hit by a car. Half an hour later the driver of a car called saying that he
almost hit a man fitting Kumar’s description, and also gave the license plate number of a car
matching Kumar’s. Hollywood police subsequently found Kumar’s vehicle parked in a
commercial parking garage. An attendant reported the car after it was left over the weekend
without payment. Police had tips of Kumar being seen in the area. He may be using the surname
Vasudeva. Kumar is 33, 5°6” and 128 pounds. (See Shows #736 and #747, OADs 9/20/03 and
1/03/04) '

MISSING:
Lydia Bethany-Rose Rupp

Age: 8 Height: 5°9”
Weight: 85 pounds

On Friday, July 22, a Fernley, Nevada woman came home from work around 3 pm and discovered
her eight-year-old daughter missing. Lyon County Deputies responded and discovered the scene of
a well-planned abduction. The accused abductor was a convicted sex offender. Deputies say 47-
year-old Fernando Ayala befriended Lydia Rupp's mother at a church function in

the spring. The two dated and Ayala reportedly moved in with Lydia and her mother. What Lydia's
mother apparently did not know is that Ayala is a convicted child sex offender. On Friday, Ayala
dropped Lydia's mother off at work at 5:30 am, then called her around noon to tell her that he
would not be able to pick her up. Authorities say that when she finally arrived back home around 3
pm, Lydia was gone. Lydia’s clothes, and the family dog, a cocker spaniel were missing as well.
Her mother later learned that Lydia's personal information including her birth certificate and social
security card, and nearly every photograph of her were also missing. Police have been
interviewing Ayala's relatives and they have all been very cooperative. According to deputies, they
spoke with Ayala's sister on Sunday. She confessed she had spoken with her brother just hours
earlier. She says Ayala told her he does not want to harm the child. Police are concerned because,
they say, by the time Lydia's mother reported her missing, Ayala had a 12-hour lead on them. On
Monday, police say they spoke with several of Ayala's relatives and they informed them that Ayala
had returned to his native home in Tijuana, Mexico. Ayala was convicted and sentenced as a sex
offender in Los Angeles more than ten years ago for lewd and lascivious behavior. Ayala might be
heading towards Las Vegas, or San Diego, or even his home country of Mexico. He has
connections in all three places. The sheriff's office says Ayala was convicted and sentenced for
lewd and lascivious acts with a child under 14 out of Whittier California in 1985. He uses several
last names as aliases including, Aguerro, Gonzales, Pons, or Vega. Lydia is 4 feet 9 inches tall,
weighs 85 pounds, and has brown hair, brown eyes and a fair complexion. Ayala is described as a
slim Hispanic male, about 47 years old, 6 feet 1 inch tall, 175 pounds with dark eyes and a



mustache. He is thought to be driving a blue-gray, 2001 four-door Kia Rio sedan, without license
plates.

LaToyia Figueroa

Age: 24 Height: 5°2”
Weight: 130 pounds

Twenty-four-year-old LaToyia Figueroa had a maternal glow. She was five months pregnant with
her second child. On Monday, July 18, 2005 Latoyia and her boyfriend went to the doctor for her
monthly check up. After her doctor's visit Latoyia's boyfriend says they went to grab a bite to eat
and then went back to his place. He says she left around 3 p.m. that afternoon. That was the last
time anyone saw LaToyia. The clues were not looking good for the young mother. She was due to
pick up her 7-year-old daughter from day care that afternoon and never showed. Her cell phone
has been inactive since she has been missing, and her bank has recorded no transactions.

The Philadelphia police and the detectives are involved now, and they're making this their priority
case, Philadelphia Police Lt. Frank Vanore said authorities have no suspects in custody. Vanore
said Figueroa was a victim of robbery in April, but police believe that was an isolated incident
unrelated to her disappearance. Local Citizens Aid In Search The Philadelphia Citizens Crime
Commission, with the help of a Philadelphia blogger, have launched a reward fund for
information about LaToyia's disappearance. Santo Meanwhile, family and friends have been
searching a park near where she disappeared and passing out flyers with LaToyia's picture.
LaToyia is 5'2" and has a tattoo of the word "Angel” on her wrist.

CAPTURED:

Ernest Jose Gallegos (Murder) -- After committing a multitude of violent crimes
throughout the 1980s, Emest Gallegos became a frequent guest at the New Mexico Department of
Corrections. But by 2000, Gallegos was back on the streets and police say he hadn't been reformed.
In 2004, Gallegos had found steady work, installing mirrors in Albuequerque's homes. One of
those homes belonged to Jim and Carole Hogan. Soon after Gallegos started on the house, Jim
noticed a valuable watch had gone missing. He turned to Gallegos and asked if he'd seen anyone
take the watch. Gallegos took the question as a personal attack and was offended. The Hogans
would soon learn Gallegos did not take well to being offended. On August 24, 2004, the Hogans
had returned home from dinner. Jim settled into the den to watch the Olympics while Carole
worked on some laundry. But someone clse was lurking in the house. Soon enough, Carole
encountered the masked intruder who was armed with a club and a handgun. The intruder tied up
the Hogans and ushered Jim into their garage, hoping to get into the safe. When he was done there,
they say he took Carole upstairs to ransack the rest of the house. And just like that, he was gone.
Carole called the police who descended on the house. Officers who'd responded to the scene
noticed the suspect climbing the wall surrounding the Hogan's community. They thought the case
was closed, but they were dead wrong. Withstanding a burst of pepper spray and an intense house-
to-house foot pursuit, the suspect escaped from police. Once that chase ended, police back at the
Hogan's house made the sad discovery. Jim Hogan had been murdered during the home invasion.



Officers found the registration slip in the suspect’s pick-up truck which provided the name and
address of the suspect — Ernest Jose Gallegos. The officers also received a tip that Gallegos had
returned to his home but he was gone by the time the authorities arrived. Although Gallegos was a
U.S. resident, authorities believed that he fled to Mexico. US Marshals notified Mexican
authorities who helped capture and deport Gallegos back to Albuquerque to face murder charges in
May, 2005.

Note: If you have any information relating to fugitives or others featured on AMERICA’S
MOST WANTED, you may call 1-800-CRIME-TV.

Mailing address: America’s Most Wanted
P.O. Box CRIME TV
Washington, D.C. 20016

Or visit AMW on the World Wide Web at http://www.amw.com
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The following are the featured fugitives and others being sought by federal, state or local
authorities. The Update (if any) gives current status, previous references, or related information.

Unknown Indiana Shootout Bank Robber #1 (Wanted for Questioning) -- Police in
Anderson, IN and Muncie, IN are looking for the person or persons responsible for the robbery of
two banks: the Madison County Federal Credit Union on August 1, 2003 and the Mutual Federal
Bank on January 12, 2004. Police say at around 2:30 p.m., on August 1, 2003, a light skinned
black male in dark pants, a black baggy shirt, baseball gloves and a black ski mask entered the
Madison County Federal Credit Union. The robber was carrying a semi-automatic revolver. There
were two tellers and one patron in the bank at the time. The patron was the Assistant Chief of
Police, Ray Novak, who was dressed in plain clothing. The robber yelled, "You know what this
is!" When the tellers and Novak did not respond, he yelled "you know what this is" again, and then
instructed everyone to get down on the ground. When everyone finally got down on the ground, the
robber jumped over the second teller station. Novak grabbed his own gun and a shootout ensued
between officer and bank robber. Novak went out to his car to call for help, and the robber jumped
over the teller station to follow him. The robber fired one more shot at Novak and then ran across
the street to an abandon shopping center, then into the woods. The robber has not been seen since.
Police had no leads on the Anderson bank robbery until January 12, 2004. Police in Muncie, IN
say at around 2:15 pm that day, a light skinned black man dressed in a similar outfit, entered the
bank and, just like the Anderson robbery, yelled, "You know what this is!" He then fired one
round from his semi automatic chrome handgun. He then ordered everyone to get down on the
ground. He then proceeded to empty the bank tellers' drawers and flee. Police believe he may
have a getaway car in the neighborhood. The robber has not been seen since. Police believe the
man who robbed the Anderson, IN bank is the same man who robbed the Muncie, IN bank. They
are, however, investigating the two incidents separately, and are not willing to jump to any
conclusions. Unknown Indiana Shootout Bank Robber is 24-29, 6°0-6"3" and 220-275 pounds.
(See Show #754, OAD 2/28/04)



Indiana Shootout Bank Robber Accomplice (Wanted for Questioning) -~ Police in
Anderson, IN are looking for the unknown bank robber who robbed the Madison Community Bank
on August 1, 2003. At 1:20 p.m., a white male in his late 20's to early 30's, wearing dark colored
sunglasses, a black shirt, dark jeans, a baseball hat, and rubber tip over his fingers that looked like
hospital gloves on his left hand, entered the Madison Community Bank. He came and left twice,
asking to see a loan officer but never doing so. The third time the man entered the bank, he did so
with a dark colored semi-automatic handgun and a small black bag. He proceeded to walked up to
a teller, pointed his handgun at her, and said, "Give me all your money! Give me all your money or
I will kill you!" The teller put all of the money into the black bag and handed the bag back to the
robber. Police say the robber grabbed the bag and left the bank. As he left the robber told her, "If
you tell anyone, I'll come back later and I'll kill you. Police say the robber fled from the bank. He
ran toward the back of the bank where police believe a woman was sitting in a turquoise Ford
Aerostar mini van, in the Kia dealership parking lot. An employee at the Kia dealership saw the
woman sitting there for quite some time. Police say the white male jumped into the van with the
woman and fled. The robber has not been seen since. Police believe that this bank robber may be
connected to the Indiana Shootout Robber. The Indiana Shootout Bank Robber Accomplice 1s 25-
35, 6’0 and 140-170 pounds.

Gerald Michael Estes (Sexual Exploitation of a Minor) -- US Marshals and Macon
County police in North Carolina say Gerald Estes is one of the most extreme types of sex offenders
due to the number of boys he has violated. Gerald Estes moved to Franklin, NC from Fla. in the
early 90s. He'd owned Estes Jewelers in Miami and spent most of his life there, but eventually
moved north and retired. Estes was a heavy drinker and it was always getting him into trouble.
He'd been puiled over for drunken driving and would even occasionally check himself into rehab
programs. Police say Estes likes to prey on the innocent. He trusted rehab centers to deliver naive,
broken-down individuals who he thought would be easily manipulated. In truth, Estes preferred
children and had gotten away with victimizing at least two little boys in 2003. The children were
Estes' next door neighbors. The children’s mother trusted Estes enough to leave her children in his
care while she worked. The children were too scared to tell their mother that they were being
forced to participate in disgusting sex acts and even to watch as Estes raped his own dog. Police
don't know for sure how long this abuse had been going on, but they say it stopped when Estes
checked himself into a rehab program at a halfway house. There, he got a little too comfortable and
starting flaunting polaroid photographs of him raping the two boys. As soon as police heard about
the alleged crimes, they began an intense investigation and arrested Estes. During their
investigation, they made a shocking discovery. According to police, sewn into the cushions of
Estes' couch were multiple polaroids of him raping different children. Estes refused to tell cops
who the children were, or in which state they were taken, but admitted to raping his neighbor's
children and his dog. Estes was arrested but when a judge set bail, Estes fled. Police are continuing
to interview and question everyone they believe might know where Estes is hiding and
investigators say that determination may be paying off. They received several similar bits of
information from various sources that Estes drinks cheap mouthwash from dollar stores to get high.
Knowing this, investigators hit up dollar stores around Franklin on June 23, 2005, and showed
store managers Estes’ photograph. It turns out the managers recognized Estes and one even said the
fugitive had been in the store two weeks earlier buying mouthwash. Police say Estes may have
died his hair red or strawberry to appear younger. Estes is 68, 5’9" and 145 pounds.



Sucha Singh (Murder) --When Jagot Kaur's parents moved to the United States, all they
hoped for was a better life, full of opportunity. Little did they know their lives would be shattered
by a man they thought they could trust. In February 1994, Jagot Kaur's parents arranged for her to
marry thirty-one-year-old, Sucha Singh, a local businessman in Dallas. Seven years into the
marriage, Jagot Kaur realized her husband wasn't the man she or her parents thought he was. He
had a violent temper, especially when he drank. So, Jagot decided she was tired of Singh's
possessive nature and wanted out of the marriage. She filed for divorce and moved in with her
parents. On July 25, 2003, three days after receiving divorce papers, Sucha broke into Jagot’s
apartment and assaulted her mother before brutally stabbing Jagot more than two dozen times.
After the assault, Sucha he slid Jagot's wedding ring off her finger and took off. He hasn't been
seen since. Sucha often wears a turban and almost always wears a gold bracelet on his left wrist.
Police believe that he may be hiding in New York or Toronto. Sucha is 42, 6’0" and 200 pounds.

Clansie Banner (Criminal Homicide) -- On February 16, 2005, Kenyattus Kyles was shot
to death in broad daylight. Police in Harrisburg, Pennsylvania discovered Kyles' bullet-wounded
body on a sidewalk after responding to a “shots fired” call that came from a residential area. Police
rushed Kyles to a local hospital where he died from a gunshot wound to the chest into his chest.
Police say Kyles was far from being an innocent victim. Police believe Kyles' death was directly
related to the lifestyle associated with drug use and drug dealing. Officials believe Kyles was
getting his drug supply from Clansie Banner. The native Jamaican had been living in Florida until
2002 and that's when police think he moved to Harrisburg. The connection between the alleged
drug dealers soured when Kyles stole some marijuana from Banner. The incident set-off a feud
between the men and the fight came to a head in February 2005. Banner and Kyles got in a car
accident. They allegedly got out of the vehicles they were driving and started an argument in the
street. Police say it wasn't long before Banner shot Kyles in the chest and then fled the scene.
Police believe Banner could be hiding out in a number of places including Jamaica. Banner is bald
now and has a slight mustache in some photos. He speaks with a heavy Jamaican accent. Banner is
36, 5’11” and 170 pounds.

Tommy Dewayne James (Rape) -- Police in Louisiana are trying to track down convicted
killer, Tommy James. James was convicted of negligent homicide in the early nineties for stabbing
and killing his friend during an argument. After serving his time, James was released from jail. In
April of 2005, a thirteen year old girl told police that James had raped and molested her. Within
days, police had a warrant for James' arrest. Before police could arrest him, James took off in his
employer's 2004 white Toyota truck. Police believe James might be hiding out in Louisiana. James
1§ 37, 6’1 and 170 pounds.

Mark David Wood (Murder) -- Michigan authorities are trying to track down Mark David Wood,
who is suspected of fleeing from two Mattawan police officers during a high-speed chase that left one
officer dead and another injured. Officers Scot Beyerstedt and Scott Hutchins attempted to stop a blue Ford
Escort for reckless driving on July 26, 2005 after the Van Buren County Sheriff's Office had issued a
dispatch for area officers to be on the lookout for it. Officers Beyerstedt and Hutchins spotted the car and
gave chase. A couple of minutes into the chase, Officer Beyerstedt lost control of the cruiser, left the road
and hit a tree. He later died from his injuries. Officer Hutchins was severely injured, but survived the crash.
Authorities recovered the Ford Escort in a wooded area about a mile north from where Officer Beyerstedt's



cruiser crashed. Michigan State Police investigators traced the history of the vehicle and found that the
current owner was Mark Wood. The night of the accident, Wood approached several people who live near
the accident scene and asked for a ride to Kalamazoo shortly after the crash.

Officer Scot Beyerstedt joined the Mattawan Police Department as a part-time officer just 11 days before
his death. He had previously served with the Cassapolis Police Department for four months. Beyerstedt was
the first Mattawan police officer to lose his life in the line of duty. Mark Wood is 43, 5°8” and 140 pounds.

Paul Merle Eischeid (Murder) -- When the Hells Angels chapter in Mesa, Arizona wanted
someone punished, police say the man they turned to was Paul Eischeid. In 2001 after a woman
(Cynthia Garcia) at the motorcycle gang's clubhouse mouthed off to gang members, they assaulted
her and warned her to keep quiet. When she did not, Eischeid and other gang members viciously
attacked the woman, beating and stabbing her. Then, they tossed her into a car trunk, drove out into
the desert, and dumped her. But they weren't through with their fury yet. The bikers took turns
stabbing the woman's body until she was nearly decapitated. The gang left the victim’s corpse to
rot in the desert. But a passing motorist discovered the body and alerted authorities. Eischeid was
one of more than 50 Hells Angels and associates arrested in 2003 as part of a major crackdown on
motorcycle gang violence in Arizona. He was charged in connection with the murder. Because he
had a small prior criminal history and was holding a steady job at the time, a judge allowed
Eischeid to bond out while he waited for his trial. It was a major mistake. Eischeid removed the
tracking device he had been ordered to wear, and hit the road. Eischeid has numerous tattoos
including his name, "Eischeid" on his stomach, along with the Hells Angels logo; "Hell 666
Bound" tattooed across lower back; Death head tattooed across lower back. Eischeid has blues
eyes and is known to wear glasses. Eischeid is 33, 5°7” and 190 pounds. {(See Shows #779 and
#789, OADs 9/11/04 and 12/18/04)

William Floyd Lane (Aggravated Assault of a Minor) -- Investigators believe just two
weeks after William Floyd Lane was released from prison, he began to molest an eight-year-old
family member. When they went to question him about it in February, he ran away. Lane was
originally arrested in April, 1990 for Conspiracy to Possess and Distribute Cocaine and Marijuana.
He was a pilot for the notorious drug gang run by Sonia "La Nena" Berrios. He was sitting in
prison in Puerto Rico awaiting trial in 1991 when he concocted an elaborate escape plan. Two of
his associates rented a helicopter, pulled a gun on the pilot, and demanded they land in the
recreation yard of the penitentiary. The chopper landed and a firefight broke out. When it was all
over, William Lane and his two associates had escaped. Two weeks later, Lane piloted a small
plane to Colombia. That's when we featured him on AMW. Shortly after that, Colombian
authorities turned Lane over to the U.S, Marshals. He pled guilty to air piracy and conspiracy to
possess with intent to distribute marijuana and cocaine. He would serve 11 years in prison in the
United States. William Lane uses the aliases John J. Peterson, William J. Montgomery and
William Seebring. He has a tattoo of a leopard on the outside of his right forearm and speaks fluent
Spanish. Lane is 64, 5°8” and 175 pounds.

Calvin R. Sinclair (Murder) -- New Orleans Police say that on July 4, 2001 Calvin Sinclair
went to the home of his girlfriend Shantel Armstrong to settle a disagreement over money. The
couple started to argue, but unfortunately things got out of hand. Sinclair pulled out a gun and shot
Shantel and her mother Dorothea. Both women later died of their wounds.



Detectives believe that Sinclair fled New Orleans and was last seen in New York. Sinclair was
born in the South American country Guyana, but moved to the United States as a child. Police say
he has an extensive criminal record that includes arrests for battery and possession of crack
cocaine. Police say the most unusual characteristic about Sinclair is that he is four feet seven
inches tall. Sinclair is 32, 4’7”and 135 pounds.

Richard Robert Sanchez Sr (Assault, Rape, Kidnapping, Child Abuse) -- Police in
Albuquerque, New Mexico say that when Richard Robert Sanchez's wife kicked him out, he
wanted to get back at her any way he could. On August 21, 2000, Sanchez, armed with a stun
gun, pushed his way into the home of his estranged wife's sister. He spent several hours raping her,
and prodding her with a cooking fork as her five-year-old son watched. Because of the brutal and
repeated nature the crimes he's accused of, Sanchez is charged with eight different counts of
criminal sexual penetration. Since the c¢rime was committed in front of the victim's child,

Sanchez is also charged with child abuse. Adding to the list, since Sanchez confined his sister-in-
law and her child, he is charged with kidnapping. In November 2000, Sanchez turned himself in.
He was indicted and released on a $200,000 bond. While he waited for trial, Sanchez had to wear
an electronic monitoring bracelet. Detectives believe that when Richard Sanchez realized he would
go to prison for his crimes, he panicked. Sanchez cut of the electronic bracelet and abducted his
three non-custodial sons: Christopher, Daniel and Richard, Jr. Richard Robert Sanchez Sr. has a
stocky build and is losing his hair, He has a tattoo of the letter “R” on his left hand and a small
tattoo of the Grim Reaper on his lower left leg. Police say that he always wears a baseball cap and
may be seeking work as a glass installer. Sanchez is 39, 6’1" and 220 pounds.

Unknown Mickey and Trudy Thompson Hitman #1

Unknown Mickey and Trudy Thompson Hitman #2 (Murder) -- Mickey Thompson
made his name through race cars, both on and off the track. Whether he was drag racing, off-road
racing, or smashing another land speed record, Mickey pulled the crowds, eager to see what he
would do next. Even with almost five hundred speed records broken, Thompson didn't stop there.
His inventions and innovations not only made cars faster, but safer and better protected. With his
business moving along smoothly, and his love for his wife Trudy deeper than ever, in 1988
Thompson seemed to be on easy street. But just past six o' clock in the evening on March 16,
1988, Trudy and Mickey were brutally murdered by two gunmen in the driveway of their Bradbury,
California home. Two witnesses say that Mickey was shot first, injured, and force to watch his
wife being murdered before his eyes, knowing he was next. The Los Angeles County Sheriff's
Detective on the case, Mike Robinson, said that they "were there to do one thing and that was to
kill them...." The killers even had bicycles ready to make their escape--a shrewd move in Mickey's
gated community, where a car counld easily have been boxed in. The ruthlessness of the killers and
their apparent deliberate planning both suggest a contract killing, but who would want Mickey
dead? Many signs point to Michael Goodwin, Mickey's former business partner, who attempted to
swindle the Thompsons, but was stopped in court by Mickey. After a half-million dollar award
was made to Mickey, the couple began receiving numerous death threats. Goodwin, who is
serving time in federal prison for bank fraud, denies any connection to the murders. Police believe
their only hope is to track down the gunmen, and find out who put them onto the Thompsons.
Both suspects are described has having a thin muscular build and wearing dark hooded sweatshirts
during the murders. They approximately 32-45, 6'0", and approximately 175 pounds. The killers



possibly were seen in the area before the murders in a then-new maroon Volvo station wagon.
Following the initial broadcast, a tipster recalled having seen two men loading bicycles into a
Ryder truck in a nearby parking lot. Thompson’s sister has offered a $1 million reward for
information leading to the capture and conviction of those responsible for the deaths of her brother
and sister-in-law. (See Shows #476, #535, #621 and #730, OADs 12/6/97, 3/27/99, 2/17/01 and
8/11/03)

MISSING:
LaToyia Figueroa

Age: 24 Height: 5°2”
Weight: 130 pounds

Twenty-four-year-old LaToyia Figueroa had a maternal glow. She was five months pregnant with
her second child. On Monday, July 18, 2005 Latoyia and her boyfriend went to the doctor for her
monthly check up. After her doctor's visit Latoyia's boyfriend says they went to grab a bite to eat
and then went back to his place. He says she left around 3 p.m. that afternoon. That was the last
time anyone saw LaToyia. The clues were not looking good for the young mother. She was due to
pick up her 7-year-old daughter from day care that afternoon and never showed. Her cell phone
has been nactive since she has been missing, and her bank has recorded no transactions.

The Philadelphia police and the detectives are involved now, and they're making this their priority
case. Philadelphia Police Lt. Frank Vanore said authorities have no suspects in custody. Vanore
said Figueroa was a victim of robbery in April, but police believe that was an isolated incident
unrelated to her disappearance. Local Citizens Aid In Search The Philadelphia Citizens Crime
Commission, with the help of a Philadelphia blogger, have launched a reward fund for
information about LaToyia's disappearance. Santo Meanwhile, family and friends have been
searching a park near where she disappeared and passing out flyers with LaToyia's picture.
LaToyia is 5'2" and has a tattoo of the word "Angel" on her wrist. (See Show #815, QAD 7/30/05)

Note: If you have any information relating to fugitives or others featured on AMERICA'S
MOST WANTED, you may call 1-800-CRIME-TV.

Mailing address: America’s Most Wanted
P.O. Box CRIME TV
Washington, D.C. 20016

Or visit AMW on the World Wide Web at http://www.amw.com
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The following are the featured fugitives and others being sought by federal, state or local
authorities. The Update (if any) gives current status, previous references, or related information.

Jason Derek Brown (1st Degree Murder, Armed Robbery) -- At 10:00 am on
Monday, November 29, 2004, 24 year-old Robert Keith Palmares, an armored car guard from the
Dunbar Armored car Service, arrived for his regular a pick up from the AMC Theater Multi-Plex
in Ahwatukee, AZ following a busy Thanksgiving weekend. While Keith's partner followed
procedure by waiting in the armored truck, Keith went about his routine pick up of cash and
receipts from the theater. However, on this day, Keith's route was anything but routine. As Keith
left the theater complex, a hooded man, fully dressed in black, came running up to him with a gun
drawn. Then, without speaking a word, police say the gunman started firing at Keith's head,
presumably in a deliberate effort to avoid Keith's bulletproof vest. In all, six shots were fired, five
of them striking Keith in the head. Police say the gunman then grabbed the bag of money and took
off towards an alley. In the alleyway, police say the hooded fugitive hopped on a bike and fled. At
least one of the eyewitnesses made a desperate call to 911, begging for an ambulance and pleading
for instructions for how to help Keith. But, Keith’s injuries were far too great. He died just
outside the movie theater. In patrolling the area, police quickly found the getaway bicycle. A
forensics technician came to the scene and lifted fingerprints from the bicycle. They came back as
positive for Jason Derek Brown. But Brown hardly had the profile of a typical killer. The 35 year-
old toy salesman from Utah had ties to some of California's wealthiest coastal communities. He
was known for his money and lavish lifestyle, with a long list of possessions, including numerous
cars, boats, motorcycles, jet skis, and ATVs. But his superficial wealth, masked a mysterious man.
The life of the mysterious Jason Brown was finally being revealed. Police say Jason Brown was in
serious debt to several creditors and had defaulted on at least one large loan. In November 2004,
while living in the Sugarhouse area of Salt Lake City, police learned Brown purchased a Glock
semi-automatic 45 caliber pistol. According to officials, Brown had also taken a firearms class
while he was in Utah. Firearms instructor Clark Aposhian, who privately trained Brown, described
him as "an obnoxious student” who was inexperienced with firearms. According to records,



Brown completed the class in early November, but had not yet received his actual permit. Police
then discovered that the type of ammunition used in Keith's murder matched the exact type of
bullets that Brown purchased on the same day he bought his gun in Salt Lake City. Investigators
also learned that Brown had been staying at a hotel located a mile from the murder scene. He
reportedly checked in on Thanksgiving Day and checked out the evening of the murder. According
to witnesses, in the days leading up to the robbery-murder, they observed Jason Derek Brown
sitting in his distinctive BMW M3 in front of the theater for lengthy periods of time, observing the
area. But now, the trail has gone cold. Police believe Brown headed toward California via Las
Vegas shortly after the murder and now could be in Arizona, Utah, Nevada or even Texas. Jason
Derek Brown has used the aliases Derek Brown, Greg Johnson and Greg Harline Johnson. Brown
is a big spender who loves the nightclub scene. He enjoys water sports (boating and fishing), loves
to go off-roading and collects expensive cars. Brown has green eyes and may have grown a beard
or mustache, and may have dyed his hair. He is known to shave all of his body hair. Brown has
been spotted in Henderson, Nevada; Las Vegas, Nevada; Dana Point, California; Portland, Oregon.
Jason Derek Brown is 36, 5°10” and 170-180 pounds. (See Shows #791, #793, #795, and 4/02/05,
OADs 1/08/05, 1/29/05, 2/19/05 and 4/02/05)

Troy Devin Smith (Robbery, Kidnapping, Burglary) -- The Smith brothers are wanted fro
the 2003 burglary of a San Francisco Jewelry store. The Smith brothers, along with George Turner
and an unknown accomplice, broke through a wall separating two businesses and later restrained
the employees of Lang’s Antique Store when they arrived to open up the store for business. They
made off with more than $10 million in property. Turner was arrested in June 2003 and Devin
Smith was captured on June 4, 2004, but Troy remains a fugitive. Troy is a former professional
football player who loves to gamble. He might go by the name Devin Smith. Troy is 42, 6°3” and
185 pounds. (See Shows #741, #752 and #802, OADs 11/15/03, 2/07/04 and 4/09/05)

Teddy Lynne Ellis (Murder, Escape) -- Local and federal authorities are searching for
Teddy Lynne Ellis, an escapee from the Dick Conners Correctional Facility in Hominy, Oklahoma.
Ellis was convicted of murder and was serving a life sentence when he decided to escape. On
June 19, 1982, 17-year-old Teddy Ellis and two of his friends were driving towards Norman,
Oklahoma when they picked up a lone hitchhiker named Dale Eugene Spurgin. Once in the
vehicle, Dale attempts to impress the young men by displaying his antique black-powdered .38
gun. Ellis admires the gun and suggests that they pull over and use it for target practice. While
Ellis’ friends hang out in the car, Ellis unexpectedly shoots Dale in the head and back killing him
instantly. Ellis was arrested and sentenced to life in prison but on May 24, 1986, Ellis and four of
his fellow inmates escaped from the Dick Conners Correctional Facility. Ellis hasn't been seen
since. A bodybuilder who wore long black hair with a bandana, Ellis has a long scar over his right
cye and several tattoos: a teardrop under his left eye, castles and wizards on his arms, "Kay" on his
upper right arm and "T.E."” on his upper left arm. He has hazel eyes, may have a mustache or beard,
and wears an earring in his left ear. Ellis is described as an introvert who dislikes African
Americans and homosexuals. He carries a buck knife on his belt and is known to be a heavy beer
drinker. Ellis is 41, 5'8", 140 pounds. (See Shows #125, #145, #169 and #3802, OADS 8/5/90,
1/4/91, 6/28/91 and 4/09/05)



Joel Vidal (as) Urena (Murder, Assault with a Firearm, Robbery, False Imprisonment) --
On October 5, 1996, Steve Kerston was awakened at 5 a.m. by flashlights in his eyes. Four
masked men had broken into his family's Cotati, California home. Police say it was Joel Urena and
three accomplices. Steve says the men attacked him and then went into his parents’ bedroom. The
men demanded money, jewels, and guns from Mark and Mary Kerston. When the couple insisted
that they had none, one of the men went out to the living room and shot Steve in the leg. When the
couple still insisted they had no valuables, the men threatened to shoot Steve in the head.
Fortunately, they didn't follow through on the threat. Instead, they grabbed whatever they could get
their hands on and took off. Urena has scars on his face from a car accident and another scar on his
right hand. Although of Hawaiian heritage, he may appear Hispanic. He may be wearing a
moustache. Urena may be driving a 80's-90's silver or blue metallic Chevrolet Blazer or an 80's
black Chevrolet Astro van. He is 34, 6'0" and 260 pounds. (See Shows #472, #509 #537, #556,
#3582, #628, #0696, #771 and #802, OADs 11/1/97, 8/29/98, 4/10/99, 9/4/99, 4/1/00, 4/7/01,
11/09/02, 7/10/04 and 4/09/05)

Hugo Linares Lopez (Assauit, Child Endangerment) -- Hugo Lopez was arrested for
allegedly burning his girlfriend's eighteen-month old son with scalding hot water. Now, after a
loophole let the alleged abuser free, New York authorities are doing everything they can to track
him down. Police believe he might be headed to Mexico. Hugo Lopez is 26, 5°5” and 160 pounds.

MISSING:

Morgan Nick

Age: 6 (at the time of her disappearance)  Height: 4°0”
Weight: 55 pounds

On June 9, 1995 at 10:45pm Morgan Nick was getting ready to leave a Little League baseball
game. The 6-year-old girl was at the game with her mom and had stayed a little bit later to catch
some fireflies with friends. While walking to her mom's car, Morgan realized she had some sand
in her shoe. Morgan’s mom had already sat down in the driver's seat to turn on the air conditioning.
When she turned around to check up on Morgan, she was gone. She was never heard from again.
Officials say several witnesses saw a white male watching Morgan as she was playing in the park
with her friends. Those who saw him say he was about 6 feet tall, with a medium build and had a
mustache and one-inch beard. At the time, witnesses say he was between 23 and 38 years o0ld with
curly, black or salt-and-pepper, slicked back hair. At the time of the crime, a witness saw a
suspicious car parked nearby that disappeared around the same time as Morgan. The witness
described the vehicle as a white camper, with rear damage on the passenger side, hooked up to a
red Ford pick up truck. According to the witness, the pick up looked odd with the camper, since the
camper was around five inches too short for the truck. The truck had Arkansas plates. It has been
ten years since the disappearance of Morgan Nick. However, Alma, Ark. police have not given up
in their search. They released a composite sketch of the suspected unknown abductor and produced
an age-enhanced photo of Morgan, who would now be 16 years old. In 1995, at the time of her
disappearance, Morgan Nick was about 4-feet tall, around 55 pounds and had blonde hair and blue



eyes. She had five distinctive silver caps on her molar teeth. Morgan was last seen wearing blue
denim shorts, a green Girl Scout t-shirt and white tennis shoes.

Alex Davon Buckman

Age: 18 Height: 5107
Weight: 158 pounds

Seventeen-year-old Alex Davon Buckman was in the wrong place at the wrong time. Cops say he
was a witness in a murder case they were investigating. Now cops are investigating what may have
happened to him. Seventeen-year-old Alex Davon Buckman was always a very athletic young
man. Davon, as his family called him, was the star running back at Dorman High School in
Spartanburg, South Carolina. But life for Davon began to change when his parents divorced

and his father left the home. Davon's family says he was vulnerable and began to make some
questionable decisions. They say first he began hanging with a crowd who was often in touble.
Then according to his family he began to skip school. After missing too many days Davon had to
temporarily drop out of high school. The troubled teen was crushed because he was not able to do
the one thing he was most passionate about- play football. With some guidance from his older
sister, LaCresha Stanton, he decided to enroll in Job Corps. Davon now at least had a plan and
things were looking up for him. On December 11, 2004, 17-year-old Davon and his older brother
were hanging out with some friends and acquaintances at a home on Taylor Piedmont Road.
Police say among the crowd were Clifton Fleming and Shamon Martin. Davon began feeling
nauseous and went to the bathroom. While he was in the bathroom Davon heard shots. He
panicked and tried to climb out of the bathroom window but it was painted shut. He had no choice
but to walk out of the bathroom and try to escape undetected. When he opened the bathroom door
what he found would place him in a whirlwind of problems. Davon found the slain body of
Shamon Martin. Davon panicked and fled the scene. When cops arrived, they found Shamon's
body slumped over a 1984 Cadillac that was parked in the front yard of the house. Spartanburg
County Sheriff's Office Deputies and Rescue crews were called to the scene. Police were looking
for anyone who could talk to them about the shooting, Eventually Davon's name surfaced. "It was
just a situation of being in the wrong place at the wrong time, hanging out with friends,” said
LaCresha. Her husband is also a Spartanburg County Sheriff's deputy. While searching the
residence at the murder scene, investigators found crack cocaine. Clifton had been under house
arrest at the time of the murder; he told police he was home that night. But Davon told police that
Clifion was there. Eventually, Clifton Fleming was arrested and charged with Martin's murder.
Fleming had also been recently charged in a home invasion on two counts of kidnapping, armed
robber, first degree burglary and providing false information to police. His older brother Ralph
Fleming was also a suspect in Shamon's murder. Davon's family says he was quite nervous about
being a witness to a murder. Friends of his say that Clifton was not too pleased with Davon
placing him at the scene of the murder. Clifion's older brother Ralph was also critical of Davon's
cooperation with the cops. One day Ralph paid Davon a visit. According to Davon's mother,
Ralph dropped by the house to ask Davon what exactly he told police. So Davon went inside his
home and asked his mother for a copy of the statement. He showed Ralph the police statement and
tried to convince him that he did not "rat" on his brother. Davon's mother said Ralph did not
appear to be convinced. On March 24, 2005, Davon was hanging out with some friends in the



Howard and Williams Street areas of Spartanburg. He did not come home that night. His mother
says that she did not immediately worry because Davon used to stay out from time to time--but she
says he always called her. However, this time Davon had not come home nor had he called
anyone. A few days later, Davon's mother received an anonymous phone call concerning her

son. She immediately called the authorities. "We got a phone call that someone had heard he had
been beaten up and put in the trunk of a white 4-door Mercury, and the guys were riding around
with him in the trunk of the car," said LaCresha. "I believe he has been kidnapped. I believe he has
been beaten. I don't know if he's alive. We believe he is the victim of a conspiracy. We just want
him found." Davon's family strongly believes that his disappearance is linked to the homicide
investigation involving the brothers Ralph and Clifton Fleming. Ralph is serving time on unrelated
charges. Clifton is awaiting trial for the murder of Shamon Martin. Meanwhile, Davon's family is
desperate to find their missing loved one.

CAPTURED:

Howard Godfrey (Murder) -- In the fall of 1991, Patricia Ann Scoville made the decision
to leave her job in Boston, Massachusetts, and move to the mountains of Stowe, Vermont. She
wanted to leave the corporate world behind and become a children's ski instructor. But Patricia was
never able to enjoy her new life. On October 21, 1991, just 28 days after she arrived, Patricia went
on a bike ride to Moss Glenn Falls, a popular hiking trail. She never returned home. The next day,
her roommates filed a missing persons report. When police searched the woods near the falls they
found Patricia's bicycle abandoned against a tree. The search continued for ten days. Volunteers,
along with Patricia's family from New York, arrived in Stowe to aid in the search. Then eight days
later, on October 29, 1991, Patricia's body was found in a shallow grave about one hundred yards
from the top of the falls. Patricia Scoville had been raped and murdered. Investigators were able to
extract DNA from Patricia's body that belonged to the killer, However, the DNA did not match any
of their suspects. As the years passed, Patricia's parents, David and Ann Scoville, never gave up
hope that their daughter's murder would be solved. When they learned that the state of Vermont
did not have a convicted sex offender DNA database, they became activists. In 1996, David and
Ann successfully petitioned both the states of Vermont and Rhode Island to create DNA databases
that would check offenders' DNA against those in the national system CODIS (Combined DNA
Indexing System). They have also been successful in getting other states to expand their
databases. In April, 2002, David and Ann Scoville were honored by President Bush for their work
as victims' rights advocates. With the determination of David and Ann Scoville, many seemingly
unsolvable cases have been closed. On February 23, 2005, an FBI forensic specialist in Quantico,
Virginia was able to match Godfrey's DNA to the evidence collected form Patricia Scoville’s body
in 1991 Investigators wanted to confirm they had the right man, so they conducted additional
testing on cigarette butts that Godfrey had discarded outside of his construction business. When
secondary tests concluded that Godfrey was the perpetrator, police arrested him.
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The following are the featured fugitives and others being sought by federal, state or local
authorities. The Update (if any) gives current status, previous references, or related information.

Ismael “El Mayo” Zambada-Garcia (Drug Trafficking & Organized Crime) - The Drug
Enforcement Agency and FBI are hunting for the man they call their "#1 Most Wanted drug lord,"
Ismael Zambada-Garcia. He is wanted for the importation of tens of thousands of pounds of
cocaine, meth and marijuana. He is also accused of having links to other drug dealers who have
been involved in several acts of violence, including the torture and killing of a DEA agent.
Zambada, 55, 1s allegedly the leader of a drug organization based in the Pacific Coast town of
Mazatlan. Zambada is also suspected of increasing his power by facilitating the murder of his chief
rival, Ramon Arellano-Felix. Police believe Zambada lured him to his home turf and paid the local
police to kill him. When Benjamin Arellano-Felix was arrested, police say Zambada took over the
remnants of the brothers' operation, becoming the largest and most dangerous drug lord in Mexico.
According to authorities, Zambada's organization receives tons of cocaine from Columbia through
maritime shipping to the Mexican states of Sinaloa and Nayarit. The drugs are then smuggled with
a variety of methods into the United States, and members of the organization then transport the
drugs around the country to locations such as Los Angeles, Chicago and New York. The DEA and
FBI worked together in a 19-month-long sting called Operation Trifecta, which focused on
Zambada's drug organizations and the trafficking. The operation spanned several states and
resulted in the arrest of over 240 suspected smugglers related to Zambada's organization. The
operation seized nearly six tons of cocaine, 100 pounds of methamphetamine, 25 thousand pounds
of marijuana and $8.4 million in cash from alleged smugglers. Zambada's organization is also
suspected in a variety of other crimes, including the death of Tijuana's police chief, Alfredo de la
Torre Maraquez, in 2000. According to authorities, Zambada’s organization receives tons of
cocaine from Columbia through maritime shipping to the Mexican states of Sinaloa and Nayarit.
The drugs are then smuggled with a variety of methods into the United States and the members of
the organization then transport the drugs to Los Angeles, Chicago and New York. Zambada uses
the aliases “El Mayo”, El Ingeniero Quinto, Jesus Loaiza Avendano, Javier Garcia Hernandez, and



Ishmael Higuera-Renteria. Zambada is 57, 5°9” and 160 pounds. Mexican authorities believe that
he has recently had plastic surgery to alter his appearance. (See Shows #754 and #768, OADs
2/28/04 and 6/12/04)

Patrick Anthony Brown (Murder) -- Police in Boston, Massachusetts have spent more
than ten years trying to hunt down a cold-blooded killer with a quick temper. Patrick Brown
stabbed Zandera Sullivan to death after an argument about a woman. When Brown found out
Zandera was dating his ex-girlfriend, Brown flew into a jealous rage and murdered Zandera.
Zandera Sullivan's family has experienced their fair share of heartache and tragedy. Two weeks
before Zandera's death, his father was shot and killed. Patrick Anthony Brown, who is also known
as Derrick Mollay, might have a mustache or a goatee. Brown is 30, 6°0” and 200 pounds.

Fredrick David Russell (Vehicular Assault, Vehicular Homicide) -~ Frederick Russell was
out to have a good time the night of June 4, 2001. Russell started his night of fun by purchasing a
half gallon of vodka at a local liquor store. Later, he went with a friend to a local bar, and downed
a few beers. Severely under the influence, Russell hopped in his Chevy Blazer and headed
eastbound toward Moscow, Wash. on State Road 270. While speeding down the two-lane highway,
Russell illegally passed a slower car. A Geo Prism traveling in the opposite direction was the first
of two cars Russell would slam into. The car was flung to the side of the road and miraculously
everyone in this head-on collision survived. The next car was not nearly as lucky. Russell smashed
into an oncoming Cadillac carrying seven passengers, three of whom did not survive. In a bizarre
twist of fate, the occupants of the Cadillac were Russell's classmates from Washington State
University. Russell was a no show for court on October 26, 2001.The last anyone saw of him was
in his hometown of Pullman, Washington three days earlier. Shortly after Russell’s disappearance
his father received a letter from him. In the leiter Russell said that he was going to a state where no
one can hurt him. Russell's father, the dean of criminal justice at Washington State University has
agreed to cooperate with Washington State Police and the FBI Since the letter, Russell's father
says there has been no contact between the two. A few days after Russell's father received the
letter, three newspapers received letters thought to be from Russell. These letters were postmarked
in Spokane, Washington. Russell used his American Express card in Carson City, Nevada at a
Citgo State to buy gas on October 29, 2001. Since then Russell's whereabouts have been unknown.
Fredrick Russell has a tattoo of a green shamrock in the center of his upper back and a green Irish
cross on his upper arm. Russell is 26, 6’1" and 210 pounds.

Saul Junior Pena (Vehicular Homicide) -- Authorities in Florida are trying to track down
Saul Pena, who they say killed a man while he was driving drunk. Pena was under the influence on
August 29, 2003, when he got behind the wheel of a car. Florida police tried to pull him over, but
when Pena saw their flashing lights, he stepped on the gas. After a short chase, police say Pena ran
ared light and slammed into another car, killing the driver. Pena was airlifted to the hospital where
he was treated for his wounds. But when he was released, he took off and hasn't been seen since.
Over the past twenty years, Pena's been arrested more than half a dozen times for charges ranging
from aggravated assault to grand theft auto. In May of 2002, he was arrested in Florida for
possession of marijuana and felony fleeing and eluding. Police believe Pena may still be hiding
out in Florida or flying under the radar in Texas. Pena is 33, 5’4" and 160 pounds.



Anthony Quick (Grand Theft) -- Anthony Quick has already been convicted of 26 counts
of Grand Theft and one count of Fraud for scamming unassuming elderly victims. Today officials
say he's at it again, and this time, he's on the run. In 2004, an eighty-three year old female victim,
Rose, was told her husband had terminal cancer. Shortly after hearing the devastating news, things
Jjust got worse. Rose went to a local market to pick up some groceries for her ailing husband. When
she got back to her car, she noticed that her door was not completely closed. As she struggled to
shut the door, Anthony Quick approached her and offered to help. Quick claimed that he was in the
auto mechanic business and could help her, but the part needed to fix her door was $4,250.00. Rose
immediately became upset and confused and told him that her husband was very sick, and she
needed to get home to take care of him. Quick offered to fix her car immediately if she could come
up with the cash. Quick instructed Rose to drive to a local bank branch to get the money. Once he
had the money, he put on a glove, pulled at the door, thanked Rose for money and took off. He
hasn't been seen since. Anthony Quick has a tattoo of the name “Samantha’ on his left arm and a
tattoo of praying hands on the left side of his chest. He has green eyes and black hair. Quick is 41,
5’9 and 170 pounds.

Marco Antonio Camacho (Murder) -- Police in Napa, CA are looking for Marco Camacho
in connection with the fatal shooting of Roberto Torres. September 16, 2000 was an exciting day
for Janet Mendez. The 15-year-old Napa, CA girl was surrounded by family and friends as she
celebrated her Quinceanera, or "coming out" party. After attending a church mass, the teen and
over 300 guests attended her Quinceanera at the Napa, CA fairgrounds. She had asked Camacho to
be her escort to the special event, and the two were dressed in formal wear, appearing like a bride
and groom would, both at the church and at the elaborate party afterwards. However, police say
Mendez didn't know that her date had a violent past and an even worse temper. Robert Torres
showed up with his pregnant girlfriend and some other friends to the party. They were denied entry
by security because they did not have their invitations. Torres approached Camacho who happened
to be outside, and asked if he knew "Juan," who had invited him. Camacho became angry with
Torres and the two got into a heated verbal argument. Camacho then turned violent quickly, pulling
a gun from his waistband and shot Torres in the torso and wrist, Torres stumbled into the party and
fell. His pregnant fiancé held him in her arms. A nearby witness began to run away and cops say
that Camacho then turned the gun on him and began shooting. This second guest was able to
escape without injury. Camacho then fled was last scaling a fence at the fairgrounds. Two weeks
later, Torres died as a result of his gunshot wounds. Friends say that Torres had no prior affiliation
with Camacho. The Police investigation revealed that at the rehearsal for the Quinceanera {two
days prior), Camacho got into an altercation with a group of men, pulled out a gun and fired
several shots at them. By the time police arrived, everyone had fled. Camacho, who uses the alias
Jose Antonio Gutierrez, has a distinctive tattoo of a “X* on his right earlobe and a “3” on his left
earlobe. Camacho is 24, 6’0" and 160 pounds. (See Show #766, OAD 5/29/04)

Richard Steve Goldberg (Child Molestation) -- Goldberg molested six young girls under
the age of ten. He reportedly gained the trust of the neighborhood parents, then became a
babysitter and “friend” to kids in the area. The single man set his home up in a way that would
attract children. His backyard had swings and a cage with rabbits and ducks. Inside the house,
Goldberg had children’s computer games that he would allow them to use, kid’s music, art
supplies, and even children’s soap. He would also take them to Disneyland, parks, lakes, efc.



Goldberg was found out after two young girls playing on his computer saw an image of two of
their young friends naked, including the next door neighbor. A full investigation was launched and
six neighborhood kids reported being assaulted by Goldberg. Child pornography was found on his
computer, including a photo of him having sex with children. After cops came in to search his
house and took his computer away, Goldberg fled the area in late June. In early July, after finding
evidence on the computer, police issued an arrest warrant for him. Authorities know he visited his
parents in Rumson, New Jersey, shortly after running. There is evidence he was also in Las Vegas,
and Bullhead City, Arizona. Goldberg’s hair is jet black but would be gray if he didn’t dye it. He
has a receding hairline. He used to work at Boeing before being laid off. He likes outdoor
activities and was the president of a gun and revolver club in Long Beach, California. Police know
Goldberg fled home to his parents in Rumson, New Jersey after leaving Long Beach. However, his
trail ends there. Since he has been on the run, police say Goldberg has been linked to Las Vegas,
NV; Bullhead City, AZ; CO and GA. Goldberg’s ex-wife and two adult children live in Atlanta,
GA. Goldberg loves hunting and fishing and police believe he may have changed his appearance
by shaving off his mustache and not dying his hair. Goldberg is 58, 6'0" and 160 pounds. (See
Shows #665, #680, #707, #725 and #771, OADs 2/16/02, 6/15/02, 2/22/03, 6/28/03 and 7/14/04)

Rashawn Capers (Murder, Attempted Murder, Weapons Possession) -- On March 27,
2005, Officer Wayne Smith was called out to investigate a fight at about 3:45 in the morning. Little
did he know his entire life was about to change forever. At the scene he encountered a crowd
surrounding a person lying on the ground. As he approached the injured young man, things took a
turn for the worse. He soon discovered that the limp, lifeless body lying on the sidewalk was his
20-year-old son Dayshawn Smith. Officer Smith immediately joined rescue efforts to try to revive
his son. Officials rushed the Dayshawn to the hospital where he was later pronounced dead.
According to police, Dayshawn was trying to stop a fight Rashawn Capers had provoked.
However, Capers did not respond kindly to Dayshawn’s involvement and fatally stabbed him.
Capers has not been seen since the incident. Rashawn Capers, who is also known as “Rah-Rah,”
has a long, vertical scar on his forehead and a Chinese symbol tattooed on his left forearm. He
wears his hair long or short and has been known to wear a mustache and goatee. Capers was last
seen in front of an after hours club in Patterson, NJ and police believe he may be headed to North
Carolina or South Carolina where he has family. Capers is 24, 5’6" and 165 pounds. (See Shows
#801 and #802, OADs 4/02/05 and 4/09/05)

William “Jeff” Komlo (Drunken Driving) -- In the 1980's William "Jeff" Komlo was
living the dream of a professional football player. He was drafted by the Detroit Lions and also
played for the Tampa Bay Buccaneers. But these days, it's a completely different story. Komlo is
still wanted, but for all the wrong reasons. In early July of 2005, Komlo failed to show up for
sentencing following two drunken-driving convictions. The one-time NFL star faced at least 30
days behind bars. Komlo, 48, apparently went on the run in early May after failing to comply with
a court order to wear an electronic monitoring device. He also did not show up for a May 10th
hearing to answer assault charges stemming from an earlier altercation with his girlfriend. On
October 17, 2001 Komlo was convicted of DUI and Recklessly Endangering Another Person
after authorities say he cut off his girlfriend and caused her car to swerve off the road in Chester
County, Pennsylvania. Police say there were frequent domestic disturbance calls to to Komlo's
West Pikeland Township, Pennsylvania home which mysteriously burned to the ground on June



4th, 2005. Police say the fire is suspicious and they would like to question him. However, this is
not the only time one of Komlo's homes has gone up in flames. Authorities in Florida are also
looking to talk to Komlo about a fire that burned down his home in West Palm Beach in the
previous year. Komlo also had an August 4th court date in Palm Beach County, Florida where he
faces cocaine charges. Komlo has also been mentioned in an indictment against his former college
roommate and teammate Peter Bistrian. Bistrian was charged with the alleged theft of $1.4 million
from a South African steel manufacturer. According to the indictment, Bistrian had some of the
money wired to Komlo's bank account. Police hope a lot of these questions can be resolved once
they find the man whose glory days now appear to be long gone. Komlo is 48, 6°2” and 195
pounds.

Unknown James Phillip Brooks Killer -- For more than ten years, the residents of Fossil,
Oregon have questioned the death of a local cowboy. On September 20, 1994, James Phillip
Brooks was found shot to death, with a bullet to the chest. Police do not have any clues as to the
identity of the killer, or if, in fact, it was a murder. With no weapon and no witnesses authorities do
not know who killed James Phillip Brooks. The citizens of Fossil, Oregon are still puzzled by
the mysterious death and numerous scenarios have surfaced. The town of 460 people is searching
for answers. Was it because of a land dispute? A woman? A simple hunting accident? Or has a
cold-blooded murderer roamed free for more than a decade? Brooks was twenty-three when he
was shot to death by a high-powered hunting rifle during popular elk season, He was killed on
Tuesday, September 20, 1994, but it was not until Thursday, the 22nd, after the police called in
"man frackers" from the Warm Springs Indian Reservation not far from Fossil, that his body was
found. On his back, with his cowboy hat still on his head, Brooks died of a gunshot wound to the
chest, a bullet lodged near his heart. After ten years, the pain of the mysterious killing still haunts
those who live in the small western town, the death of a young cowboy still unsolved.

MISSING:
Tracey Gardner-Tetso

Age: 33 Height: 5°04”
Weight: 130 pounds

A heavy metal band has joined in the efforts to locate a missing Maryland woman. Tracey Gardner-
Tetso was on her way to a Motley Crue concert, but she never made it and hasn't been heard from
since. Now, Motley Crue is matching a reward put up by Tracey's employer and Metro
Crimestoppers in hopes of generating some information about Tracey's whereabouts. Nikki Sixx of
Motley Crue hopes that the band’s involvement will bring more attention to this case. Motley Crue
will be returning to suburban Washington DC on August 13" and hope that Tracey will be at that
show — they will be holding a pair of front row tickets for her. The 33-year-old Rosedale, MD
woman was last seen March 6, 2005 before she failed to meet friends at a

Motley Crue concert at the MCI center in DC. Tracey never made it to the concert, and when her
friends tried to call her cell phone, it was turned off. On Monday, March 7, Tracey's friend,
Christian, who she was supposed to go to the concert with, called her office to see if Tracey had



shown up for work. Tracey's supervisor and friend, Monika Barilla, told Christian that Tracey
wasn't in yet. Christian told Monika that Tracey had never made it to the concert. By Tuesday,
March 8, Tracey was still missing and no one had heard from her. Her friends decided to call the
police. The only clue police found was a record of Tracey's car passing through the southbound
tube of the Baltimore Harbor Tunnel at 7:48 p.m. the night she went missing. Her last outgoing cell
phone call was at 3:05 p.m. when she phoned her friend, Christian, who had bought her the Motley
Crue tickets for her birthday. According to officials, Tracey's car was later found in the Glen
Burnie area at a local Days Inn. The person who drove the car there was not Tracey. So far, police
have few leads as to Tracey's whereabouts and are hoping with national attention, someone might
come forward with additional information that might lead them to Tracey. Tracey is a Caucasian
female. She has blue eyes and long blonde hair at the time of her disappearance. (See Show #804,
OAD 5/14/05)

Amanda Jones

Age: 26 Height: 5°8”
Weight: 225 pounds

The family of 26-year-old Amanda Jones is worried sick. They have not seen Amanda since
Sunday, August 7, 2005. Amanda works as a loan processor at Eagle Bank in Festus. She was last
seen at the horse-show grounds of the Hillsboro Civic Center on Highway 21 in central Jefferson
County at about 5 p.m. Among the concerns is the fact that Amanda is nine months pregnant.
Family members said she had gone to the fair grounds to meet with the father of her unborn baby.
Although police said they don't consider the man a suspect, family members say police met with
him and his lawyer on Monday. Police would not confirm the meeting but said the man was
cooperating with authorities. Police said Jones was reported missing by her parents, who were
babysitting her 4-year-old daughter. Police found Amanda's unlocked car at the civic center but
said it offered no clues as to her whereabouts. About 80 to 100 police officers and firefighters
searched the fairgrounds and nearby woods Monday but found no trace of Jones or any clue as to
her whereabouts. Lt. Tommy Wright of the Jefferson County Sheriff's Office said police were
suspending their search while they gather additional information. Wright said it was out of
character for Jones to disappear without alerting her friends and family but said there was no
evidence to indicate foul play. Wright said police had checked with area hospitals,

searched Amanda's home and visited the homes of her friends but found nothing suspicious.
Police describe Amanda as 5-foot-8 and about 225 pounds. She has blue eyes, blond hair and a
dolphin tattoo on her left upper torso. When she was seen last, she was wearing a pink shirt and
pink sandals. Police are circulating a photo of Jones wearing eyeglasses. However, family
members say she was wearing contact lenses when she disappeared.

CAPTURED:

Christopher Lament Hampton (Murder) -- On Friday, August 12, 2005 the Spartanburg
Department of Public Safety charged 25-year-old Christopher Hampton with the murder of Tamika
Antonette Huston. Hampton told a reporter during an interview at the Spartanburg County Jail that



he was ironing clothes before work and threw a hot iron at 24-year-old Tamika Huston and hit her
in the head as they argued about money. He said he panicked after killing Huston and drove
around with her body in a borrowed car for hours. At sunrise he said that he buried her in a
wooded area in Duncan, marking the spot with a cross made from tree branches. Later, as the
missing woman's family's appeals intensified, Hampton said he was riddled with guilt. He returned
to the grave months later and dug up the remains. He said he planned to take the body to police and
turn himself in but he got scared. He said that he didn’t want people to think that he was a monster.
He stated that he knows he deserves ot go to jail, but he also believes that he deserves a second
chance. (See Shows #797 and #810, OADs 3/05/05 and 6/25/05

Note: If you have any information relating to fugitives or others featured on AMERICA’S
MOST WANTED, you may call 1-800-CRIME-TV.

Mailing address: America’s Most Wanted
P.O. Box CRIME TV
Washington, D.C. 20016

Or visit AMW on the World Wide Web at http:/fwww.amw.com
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The following are the featured fugitives and others being sought by federal, state or local
authorities. The Update (if any) gives current status, previous references, or related information.

Unknown Konstantinos “Gus” Boulis Killer ( Murder) -- One of south Florida's biggest
mysteries is the bizarre case involving multi-millionaire 51-year-old Konstantinos "Gus" Boulis.
Depending on who you talk to, Gus was worth anywhere from 50 million to 200 million dollars.
His savvy business deals such as his enormously successful Miami sub shop chain and his ritzy
SunCruz Casino cruiseline made the Greek immigrant one of the most high profile men in south
Florida. Gus was living the American Dream and life was good - until February 6, 2001. That night
around 9 pm, after a late meeting, Gus got into his black BMW outside his Ft. Lauderdale office.
He was alone and heading toward a relative's house. Gus drove south on Miami Road and had gone
just a short distance from his office when a car in front of him stopped. Then, a second car, a dark
colored Mustang, drove up from the opposite direction and stopped alongside Gus' car. From out of
nowhere came a shiny silver pistol. The man behind the gun fired four or five shots into Gus'
BMW. Then the cars drove off. Mortally wounded and bleeding to death, Gus incredibly managed
to drive his car onto the main highway. But once there, he lost consciousness and the car smashed
into a tree. Gus was rushed to the hospital, but it was too late. He died before police had a chance
to talk to him - leaving behind his millions and a mystery. As Ft. Lauderdale police tried to
unravel the mysterious murder of millionaire Gus Boulis, they realized they had little to go on.
There was limited physical evidence and very limited information as to specifically what had
occurred. It didn't take long for detectives to figure out that Gus was set up. They believe someone
was laying in wait for Gus to leave his office building. The one break in the case came from a
witness who got a good look at the triggerman and helped police create a sketch. Detectives believe
the shooter 1s white or possibly a Hispanic male, in his 30's with short dark hair, a mustache and a
medium build. Police then began to wonder if Gus’ cold-blooded murder was related to his wealth
and his businesses. One of Gus' most profitable business ventures was SunCruz Casinos. In 2000,
SunCruz Casinos was purchased by a Washington DC investor group headed by businessman
Adam Kidan. The sale price was 147 million dollars. From the beginning there were problems with



the deal, and soon, Gus and Kidan were at each other's throats - locked in a bitter battle as they
fought over money and control. Now, high-profile Washinton DC lobbyist, Jack Abramoff and
Adam Kidan have been charged with conspiracy and wire fraud for allegedly scheming to defraud
two lenders in the purchase of SunCruz Casinos. Detectives hope that just as money was probably
the motive in Gus' death, money will motivate someone to talk about what really happened.

Patricia Kelly Yoshikawa (Aiding and Abetting) -- U.S. Marshals are on the hunt for
Patricia Yoshikawa who police say is a high-priced Miami call girl turned fugitive. According to
officials, Yoshikawa and her boyfriend, a former police officer, stole a police cruiser and then
robbed a bank in New Hampshire. They made off with more than $23,000 in cash. Then, the pair
mailed the money home and took off for Florida. Police later searched the couple’s home and
found the stolen cash hidden in a bathroom cabinet. Yoshikawa and her boyfriend were arrested
and held on multiple charges. Yoshikawa was released on bond until her trial and was required to
wear a GPS tracking device. However, on March 20, 2003, two days before she was to plead guilty
before a Florida judge, Yoshikawa cut off her bracelet and ran. Now the former police officer
turned bank robber is behind bars serving a 25 year sentence for his connection to the bank heist.
However, his alleged partner in crime, Patricia Yoshikawa, is still on the run. Yoshikawa has long,
wavy hair in some photos (she may have cut it short) and has a sun tattoo on the nape of her neck.
Police say she may speak several languages including English, Spanish, Japanese and Portuguese.
She may be hiding out in Miami. Yoshikawa is 24, 5°5” and 130 pounds.

Roberto Ramirez (Murder, Robbery) -- Federal and local authorities are trying to track
down Roberto Ramirez. Ramirez murdered and robbed his 21-year-old neighbor Melissa Dorner.
Melissa's strangled and beaten body was found in January 2005 in her Chicago apartment.
Authorities believe Ramirez robbed Melissa and then savagely beat her to death. They also say that
shortly after the crime took place, Ramirez's friends saw him with blood on his clothes and
scratches on his face. When they asked him what had happened, he allegedly told them he had
"done something bad." Before long, Ramirez was nowhere to be found. Unfortunately, Melissa
Dorner was no stranger to violent encounters. In an odd twist, police say she fought off an attacker
at a different apartment building just a year and a half before the deadly assault. In fact, they say
she had moved to the new building to make a fresh start. While police continue to hunt for
Ramirez, Melissa's neighbors are also very concerned. They say this is the second murder to take
place in the building in recent months. Investigators believe Ramirez could be in Mexico and need
help putting him behind bars where he belongs. He may call himself Roberto Vasquez and might
try o find work in a restaurant. Ramirez is 25, 5°8” and 160 pounds.

Frantz Dieudonne (Traveling in Interstate Commerce with the Intent to Engage in Sex
with a Minor) -- When an Illinois State Trooper saw a car on the side of the road with its
emergency lights flashing, in June of 2002, he stopped to offer help. That's when he noticed the
male driver and a female passenger switch seats by climbing over each other. He asked the young
woman behind the wheel for her driver’s license, and she told him she didn't have one. When he
searched the car, the trooper found her high school ID. She was 15 and that's when the real story
came out. The man in the car, Frantz Dieudonne, met the girl online and drove from New Jersey to
have sex with her. He was taking her back to his home when the Trooper found the pair.
Dieudonne was arrested and charged, but he bailed out and disappeared before his court



appearance. Dieudonne has a scar on his right wrist and he has worked as a chemist and nursing
assistant. Dieudonne is 45, 5°7”and 145 pounds.

Robert Anthony Walker (Conspiracy to Import and Distribute Cocaine) -- Agents with
the Miami division of Immigration and Customs Enforcement say Robert Walker's real name is
Ralph Newman. Agents have his alias, Robert Walker, as the name on their arrest warrant because
it was the only name they knew at the time he was indicted. Robert Walker manipulated his way to
the top of a big-time drug organization and has somehow managed to remain the only missing link
in a drug ring. Authorities have linked Walker, a Jamaican national, to at least 40 cocaine
smuggling ventures, bringing in roughly 100 kilograms of cocaine and additional marijuana from
Jamaica between 1998 and 2001. The drugs smuggled as a result of his leadership were distributed
to Central and South Florida, as well as other various locations. In order to get the drugs from
Jamaica to the U.S., agents say Walker recruited people with little to lose -- those who were down
on their luck and struggling financially to make ends meet. Agents say Walker promised them an
all-expense paid vacation to Jamaica, and $1000 for just one drug run. They say most people
jumped at the chance, becoming "mules” who smuggled the drugs into the U.S. from Jamaica.
Agents say the operation worked like this: After Walker preyed on people and they agreed to
become mules for the drug operation, they flew out to Jamaica for a few days, where they would
make contact with a drug distributor. That distributor would then give the mules cocaine, and
provide them with transportation to the Jamaican airport in Montego Bay. From there the mules
flew into the U.S. and attempted to smuggle in approximately 5-8 kilograms of cocaine at a time.
Agents say they identified and arrested most of these mules. Walker, however, remained at large.
On August 15, 2000, agents say Walker was arrested after he was pulled over for speeding. When
police ran Walker's driver's license number, they found he was the subject of an active warrant for
willingly and knowingly making a false statement when applying for a passport. Since Walker was
an alien, he agreed to deportation, and was supposed to surrender himself to his probation officer
he never showed. In 2001, Walker was finally indicted for conspiring to import and distribute
cocaine. In March 2001, agents attempted to arrest Walker in Winter Haven, FL where he rented a
home but he'd been tipped off. Walker fled, and hasn't been seen since. Authorities say Walker is
so fearful of being arrested that he refuses to drive anywhere because he doesn't want to risk being
caught in another traffic arrest. Robert Walker uses the aliases Ralph Newman (his real name),
Colin James, Rusty and Preston. Walker is 33, 6’1" and 225 pounds.

Fabian Cayetano Urrea (Murder) -- California Army National Guard specialist, Jorge
Estrada, 24, faced the realities of war for six months while his heart was half-way around the world
in Murrieta, California with his pregnant wife, 19-year-old Diana Estrada. The pair met while
serving in the Army National Guard, and soon after Jorge and Diana were married, the two
found out Diana was pregnant. But, the timeline revealed that Jorge was not the biological father of
the unborn child. Instead, Fabian Urrea - Diana's jilted ex-lover - was the biological father. Jorge
reassured Diana that he would love the unborn child as if it was his own flesh and blood. Then,
Jorge was called to duty. Soldiers were needed to fill gaps in the Middle East, which most likely
meant he was going to miss the birth of the baby he soon hoped to call his own. On June 3, 2005,
Jorge Estrada was granted a two-week leave from his military assignment in Iraq, and he planned
to surprise his wife by being at her side through the delivery of her first born child, Liliana Estrada.
Three days after the baby came home from the hospital, Urrea, the biological father, called Diana,



demanding to see the baby. At first, Diana refused, but Jorge reasoned with her that they needed to
make peace with Urrea for the sake of the child. Diana finally agreed to meet Fabian in the parking
lot of the couple's apartment complex. Jorge and Urrea began arguing over the custody of the
infant. Then Urrea pulled a 9mm semi-automatic handgun from his waistband and fired three
shots, killing Jorge Estrada. As he lay dying, Fabian fled the scene. Paramedics arrived on the
scene within minutes, but it was too late. Jorge Estrada was pronounced dead. Shortly after the
murder, Urrea fled to his sister's house for refuge. As the investigation moved forward, police
discovered Urrea's pickup truck parked near his sister's apartment in Hemet, CA. Murrieta police
arrested Urrea's sister, Patricia Pena Urrea, who is currently being held at the Robert Pressley
Detention Center in Riverside, CA. Police have also arrested and charged Fabian's aunt, Margaret
Arambula. When questioning Arambula, they found out that Margaret Arambula drove Urrea to
the Mexico-California border. Margaret Arambula is also being charged as an accessory to murder
and is behind bars. Urrea has piercings in both eyebrows, both ears and his lower lip. He has a
tattoo of the phrase "Natural High" written above a marijuana leaf on his right calf and he has a
tattoo of a devil holding a puppet on his right arm (from shoulder to elbow). Urrea enjoys riding
dirt bikes and is a low-rider car enthusiast. He’s an active baseball player who works in
construction. He is known to listen to Chicano rap music, he’s a heavy marijuana user and prefers
to wear hooded sweatshirts and baggy shorts. Urrea is 19, 5’8" and 145 pounds.

COLD CASE:

John Kelly Gentry Jr. (Murder) -- John Kelly Gentry was serving six months in the Lucas,
Ohio County jail for felonious assault when he met the young, beautiful kitchen manager, Barbara
Gerber. The quick-thinker convinced Gerber that he was in jail for getting into a bar fight over a
woman's honor. In fact, he was serving time for crushing his male lover's adam's apple. When he
finished serving his time, he began dating 26-year-old Barbara and was soon spending much of his
time at her home in Deerfield, Michigan. What Barbara didn't know was that Gentry was
romantically involved with someone else as well, 52-year-old William Veith. Veith owned a coin
shop in Toledo, Ohio, and Gentry lived with him in his Toledo home. Gentry spent his time
commuting between Toledo and Deerfield, Michigan just over the Ohic-Michigan state line. By
mid-April the charade was over. On April 12, Barbara's nude body was found in her home. She had
been stabbed to death and sexually assanlted. When police went to Toledo, Ohio to try and find her
boyfriend John Gentry, they checked the address on his probation report which listed his residence
at William Veith's house in Toledo. Veith was not home, so they decided to check his coin store.
When they found the store locked as well they became suspicious. Tragically, their instincts were
right. Veith's body was found in the basement of his shop, a bloodied axe nearby. Police say Veith
was bludgeoned to death with the blunt end of the axe. Police also found coins, diamonds, and
Veith's car missing. On April 22, 1983, Veith's car was found in downtown South Bend, Indiana.
On the seat of the car was a road map of the Ohio Indiana Turnpike to Chicago. There was also a
styrofoam coffee cup on the front seat with Gentry's prints on them. On August 29th, a warrant for
Gentry's arrest was issued charging him with murdering Veith. Within the next week, Gentry sent a
friend a postcard from San Diego, and his father a postcard from Los Angeles. No one has heard
from him since. Four years later he was charged with the murder of Barbara Gentry as well.
America's Most Wanted aired this case three times between 1990 and 1992... but Gentry is still on
the run. Police hope our rerun of this cold case might shake something loose and bring out new



clues to the whereabouts of John Kelly Gentry. Gentry has a circular burn scar on his left elbow
and scars on his left wrist and on his left arm. He has the initials "LCJ" crudely burned into his
upper left arm, the initials "USM" on his left arm and "LuAnn" on his right arm. Gentry wears
glasses and has a thin to medium build. Police say that he occasionally wears a full beard, a
mustache and sometimes has long sideburns. He is bisexual and prefers to live in Gay
communities. He is know to frequent night clubs with female impersonators. Gentry allegedly uses
marijuana, glue and LSD and he is also known to drink Bacardi's 151 rum with a beer chaser. He
smokes two packs of Kool cigarettes a day and has worked as a landscaper, car wash attendant,
janitor and porno book clerk. Gentry is 52, 5’7" and 160 pounds.

MISSING:
Fony Luzio Jr

Age: 25 Height: 6°03”
Weight: 200 pounds

Anthony Luzio, Sr. was accustomed to investigating crime. As a 31-year-veteran with the
Columbus Police Department in Ohio he has seen his share of crime. He never suspected that he
would one day be on the other side of the fence. Anthony's pride and joy is his 25-year-old son
Tony Junior. As a police officer Anthony frequently worried about both of his children. However,
Anthony understood that at 25 he had to let Tony be a man. Though Tony stayed with his parents
briefly after he finished college he had recently moved out of his parents' home into his own
apartment. On the evening of July 3rd Tony had gone to a friend's house to play some cards.
Afterward Tony stopped at a local hangout to meet up with some more friends of his friends. At
approximately 2:30 a.m. the group went to a party less than one mile from Tony's parents.
Witnesses say they saw Tony leaving the party at around 4 a.m. They assumed he was heading to
his apartment though he had given the key to one of his friends. That was the last time that
anyone saw Tony. On July 4th, Tony was supposed to work at The Limited Brands Inc., where he
worked third shift as security. However, he never showed. His parents had not heard from that
day. Tony's family says that missing work and not being in touch with his parents is extremely out
of character for him. Anthony Sr.’s investigative instincts kicked in and he left home immediately
and began searching for his son. When he could not locate him he called the local police
department and reported his son missing. Police have searched the nearby Scioto River and
surrounding wooded areas. They have found no trace of Tony. Tony had limited funds at the time
he disappeared and there has been no activity on his bank account or his cell phone. Tony is 6 feet
3 inches tall, weighs 200 pounds and has brown hair and eyes. The Delaware County Sheriff's
Office said Luzio was driving a silver four-door 2004 Honda Civic with license plate number DCA
5615. The car has a Bush-Cheney sticker on the rear window. There is a $5,000 reward being
offered for information about Tony's disappearance



CAPTURED:

Mark David Wood (Murder) -- Michigan authorities are trying to track down Mark David
Wood, who is suspected of flecing from two Mattawan police officers during a high-speed chase
that left one officer dead and another injured. Officers Scot Beyerstedt and Scott Hutchins
attempted to stop a blue Ford Escort for reckless driving on July 26, 2005 afier the Van Buren
County Sheriff's Office had issued a dispatch for area officers to be on the lookout for it. Officers
Beyerstedt and Hutchins spotted the car and gave chase. A couple of minutes into the chase,
Officer Beyerstedt lost control of the cruiser, lefi the road and hit a tree. He later died from his
injuries. Officer Hutchins was severely injured, but survived the crash. Authorities recovered the
Ford Escort in a wooded area about a mile north from where Officer Beyerstedt's cruiser crashed.
Michigan State Police investigators traced the history of the vehicle and found that the current
owner was Mark Wood. The night of the accident, Wood approached several people who live near
the accident scene and asked for a ride to Kalamazoo shortly afler the crash. Officer Scot
Beyerstedt joined the Mattawan Police Department as a part-time officer just 11 days before his
death. He had previously served with the Cassapolis Police Department for four months.
Beyerstedt was the first Mattawan police officer to lose his life in the line of duty. (See Show #8186,
OAD 8/06/05) Mark Woods was captured in August, 2005 in Kalamazoo, Michigan.

Tommy Dewayne James (Rape) -- Police in Louisiana are trying to track down convicted
killer, Tommy James. James was convicted of negligent homicide in the early nineties for stabbing
and killing his friend during an argument. After serving his time, James was released from jail. In
April of 2005, a thirteen year old girl told police that JTames had raped and molested her. Within
days, police had a warrant for James' arrest. Before police could arrest him, James took off in his
employer's 2004 white Toyota truck. (See Show #816, OAD 8/06/05) Tommy James was captured
on August 7, 2005 after an AMW tipster told authorities that James would be traveling from
Joplin, Missouri to Nashville, Tennessee by bus on that day.

Note: If you have any information relating to fugitives or others featured on AMERICA’S
MOST WANTED, you may call 1-800-CRIME-TV.

Mailing address: America’s Most Wanted
P.O. Box CRIME TV
Washington, D.C. 20016

Or visit AMW on the World Wide Web at http.//www.amw.com
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The following are the featured fugitives and others being sought by federal, state or local
authorities. The Update (if any) gives current status, previous references, or related information.

Kenneth Marshall Cofer (1* Degree Murder) -- Even before September 11, 2001,
Oklahoma City residents knew the horror of terrorism. Nearly everyone remembers April 19, 1995,
when explosives brought the Alfred P. Murrah building down. Since then, Oklahoma City
residents have become an even more profoundly patriotic community. That's why when Kenneth
Cofer claimed America got what it deserved from the Oklahoma City bombing and 9/11 attacks,
Vietnam veteran Larry Buchanan passionately defended his country and beliefs. Police say this
was just the beginning in a series of confrontations that would eventually end in murder. The day
after Cofer and Buchanan's initial confrontation, the two found themselves face-to-face once again.
This time, it was at the Country Palace Bar, Buchanan's favorite local hangout. He was a regular
there and all the locals knew him as "Buffalo." When Cofer entered the bar the men began to
argue. Buffalo kept his cool but it was clear that Cofer wanted to fight. Buffalo didn't want Cofer
there, and the bartender obliged by tossing him out. When Buchanan left the bar minutes later,
police say that Cofer was hiding in the shadows. Six inches shorter and hobbled by recent surgery,
Buffalo was outmanned, but bravely stood up to Cofer. Police say that Cofer knocked Buchanan to
the ground a few times and then drove off. On September 13, 2002, Cofer and Buchanan ran into
one another for the third and final time. Cofer was hanging out with a group of men at a rural
property outside Oklahoma City when Larry Buchanan showed up. As had happened the previous
two days, the two squared off. Instead of a fist fight, Cofer pulled out a handgun and shot Larry
Buchanan in the head. Witnesses say Cofer walked over to his truck, stated, "I guess I have ruined
my life," climbed in and drove away. Buchanan died at the scene. Months later, cops found Cofer's
truck in a ditch near the murder scene. It had been spray-painted black and had receipts inside
suggesting Cofer had traveled to Arkansas and back. Cofer hasn't been seen since the day of the
murder. With the ten-year anniversary of the Oklahoma City bombing reopening old wounds, this
community is once again looking for justice. Kenneth Marshall Cofer uses the alias “KM Cofer.”
He wears very thick glasses due to poor vision, has brown hair, and is known to wear a goatee.



Cofer has a burn on his chest and several tattoos on his chest including two Vikings on the right
side, three skulls on the left and an eagle with a swastika in the middle. He has a magic circle and
untcorn on his upper left arm and a Japanese sword, Mt. Fuji and two lighining streaks on his
upper right arm. Cofer may be working as a cabinet maker or a roofer. He could also be playing
drums in a band. Cofer is 45, 6’2" and 190 pounds. (See Shows #803 and #809, OADs 4/16/05
and 6/18/05)

David Lopez (Murder)

Ruben Lopez (Murder) -- David and Ruben Lopez are wanted by the San Jose Police
department for the 1997 murder of Leonard Miller. Police say the Lopez brothers were involved in
a business dispute with Leonard’s son, Steve. Brother David, Ruben and Efram Lopez operated
Red’s Hydraulics in Long Beach, California. Steve Miller and his father, Leonard Miller, owned
and operated Lowrider Hydraulics in San Jose. The two companies were fierce competitors in the
lucrative custom-lowrider car parts supply industry. Detectives say David and Ruben hired three
men from Los Angeles and sent them to San Jose to kill Steve Miller. On the morning of March 3,
1997 one of the men entered Lowrider Hydraulics and asked to see the owner. When sixty-year-
old Leonard Miller walked out to the counter he wag gunned down. The intended target, Steve
Miller, was not at work that morning. Within weeks the three contract killers were arrested. The
hitmen implicated David and Ruben Lopez as the men who had hired them to kill Steve Miller.
Before police could arrest them, the Lopez brothers packed up their families and disappeared from
Long Beach. Both brothers have used the surname Ramirez. David Lopez has a stocky build and
long, flowing hair. He is married to Clara Elena Lopez; they have four children. David Lopez is
43, 5'4" and 176 pounds. Ruben Lopez wears a goatee and has long flowing jet-black hair. He is
described as a workaholic. He is married to Margaret Elaine Lopez; they also have children.
Ruben Lopez is 47, 5'8" and 180 pounds. Ruben has been spotted at low-rider shows and
conventions while he’s been on the run. Police believe he is still selling hydraulics. (See Shows
#526, #528, #566, #667 and #803, OADs 1/23/99, 2/6/99, 11/20/99, 3/09/02 and 4/16/05)

William Peter Fischer (Murder) -- Billy Fischer met Nancy Hyer on a Manhattan-bound
train and opened up his life to her. Nancy soon found that the polite young man sitting next to her
suffered from cystic fibrosis - he had been sick most of his life. During this time, he was
abandoned by uncaring parents and left to drift from one foster home and group home to the next.
The only caring family Billy had was his brother Jayson, who lived in separate foster homes while
they grew up. The brothers saw each other as often as they could, and Jayson would fill Billy in on
their absent and unpredictable father, William Peter Fischer, Ten years after he abandoned his two
sons to foster homes, Fischer remarried and suddenly took a renewed interest in the boys. Jayson
maintains that this surge of fatherly love was hollow and motivated by a desire to lock better in the
eyes of his new wife's family. But the Fischer family reunion was short-lived. Jayson says that his
father was deep in the throes of a crack habit and that made his behavior erratic and hot-tempered.
The boys decided they would be better off on their own. For four years, Billy refused to talk to his
father, but on a trip to New York to see Jayson, he learned that Fischer was willing to see him.
Billy's health had taken a turn for the worse, and when he arrived at his father's home in
Southampton he found a father who was supportive all of a sudden. Billy now found a father ready
to pay for his medical bills - which had already piled up on Fischer's doorstep - and even ready to
buy him a car. But, police say, this was all just a ruse to put Billy off his guard. Nancy, the



woman Billy met on the train, was moved by Billy's story and wanted to sece him again. She called
him at Fischer's Southampton home and arranged to meet him at 8:00 p.m. on December 11, 1986.
It turned out to be her date with destiny. Nine days later, police found her body and Billy's in her
abandoned car at the Southampton Elks Club. Billy had been shot 18 times, and Nancy had been
stripped of her clothing and stabbed in the chest and abdomen. Serving a search warrant on
Fischer's home, police say they discovered three bullets lodged in the wall that matched those that
had killed Billy. And with the blood-detecting chemical Luminal, they discovered blood traces
throughout the house - even in the vacuum ¢leaner. Fischer, meanwhile, was in the process of
getting a second mortgage on his house. When a grand jury indicted him for murder, he had
already left with $60,000 in his pocket. His car was discovered at New York's Kennedy Airport on
February 27, 1987. Fischer has a tracheotomy scar on his throat and a receding hairline. He is a
fancy dresser and very flirtatious - he reportedly engages in "kinky" sex with multiple partners. He
is a heavy drinker, a suspected crack cocaine user, and a smoker. He us a heavy antacid user and
may have stomach problems. He has worked as an auto dealer. Fisher is 60, 5'11" and 185-200
pounds. . (See Shows #218, #408, #497, #577, #646, #726, #759 and #803, OADs 6/19/92,
5/4/96, 5/30/98, 2/26/00, 8/25/01, 7/12/03, 4/10/05 and 4/16/05)

Unknown Christopher Maderller Killer (Murder) -- According to friends and family, 24-
year-old Chris Mader had always had aimed high in life. By holding himself to the highest
standards, Chris was able to land incredible internships that would lead him to his big dream of
being a television sports broadcaster. Chris was a busy guy, working his internships, taking
courses, and bartending all at the same time. But friends and family say his drive for success was
unstoppable and that he'd do anything to make it big as a sports journalist. He even auditioned for
ESPN's "Dream Job" show. On Thanksgiving morning, 2004, 911 dispatchers received a call from
a Washington, D.C. police officer who lived in Chris' neighborhood. He'd just gotten home, when
he heard a gunshot, and a car crash. Afier reporting the incident, the officer rushed around the
block searching for the source of the loud crash he'd heard. When he found Chris' Dodge Stratus,
the officer's fears were confirmed. The car had crashed into an electrical box, and Chris was
slumped over the wheel, having been shot in the head. The officer, out of his jurisdiction and off
duty, told the dispatchers he'd preserve the crime scene until the other officers arrived. When
Detective Keith Moody arrived, he immediately knew he was dealing with a murder scene, and got
to work collecting what little clues were left behind. Detective Moody determined Chris had been
turning right into his neighborhood when a bullet came through the driver's side window, and that
he'd died immediately. The detective also found the weapon was most likely a 40-caliber berretta.
But they still didn't know where it came from. Based on the angle in which the bullet sliced the car
window, Detective Moody believed Chris’ killer was most likely standing in the median strip of
the road, or across the street in front of an elementary school when they fired the deadly shot.
Detectives were working hard to find out how this man, who family says was loved by everyone,
was murdered so callously. Then there was a break in the case. Two hours after the murder, police
received a suspicious 911 call. Police say it was as if the caller was asking questions to find out
what police knew about the Chris’ murder. Police say if they can find out who placed the call, they
might be able to track down the murderer. Another break came when a witness came forward and
told police they'd seen a man walking near the crime scene the night of the murder. Based on the
description given by the witness, cops developed a sketch. Now, they are hoping someone



recognizes the man in the sketch. Police believe the man could give them the answers they need to
solve Chris’ mysterious murder.

MISSING:
Brianna Maitland
Age: 18 Height: 5°4”

Weight: 105

On Friday evening, March 19, 2004, Brianna Maitland left her waitress job at the Black Lantern
Restaurant in Montgomery, Vermont. It was around 11:20 p.m. She climbed into her mother's
green, 1985 four-door Oldsmobile 88 and drove off into the night. Brianna was heading for a
friend's house where she had been staying. Hours later at 1:22 a.m. that Saturday morning, a state
trooper radioed in that he had found an empty car that had plowed backward into an abandoned
building, a mile from the Black Lantern. Meanwhile, Bruce and Kelly Matland say they received a
call from Brianna's friend informing them she had not returned home after her shift. Bruce and
Kellie quickly filed a missing person report with local police. Nearly a week later, investigators
linked the wrecked car to the missing child. They had believed it was deserted by a drunken driver.
Authorities searched the area where the car was found with police dogs and helicopters.

They found no signs of the missing teenager. More than 500 volunteers searched throughout
Franklin County. The Vermont National Guard also aided in the search for Brianna. Evidence
uncovered by police leads them to believe she was more than likely involved with drug dealers
who had out-of-state dealings and she owed money to them. Brianna Maitland also goes by the
nickname "B". She has a scar on her forehead near her left eyebrow and her nose is pierced.
Brianna’s family is praying for her safe return. Police encourage anyone with any information to
come forward. (See Show #792, OAD 1/22/05)

CAPTURED:;

Fabian Smart — Unknown Jason McMann Killer (Murder) -- In April of 1999, 21-year-
old Jason McMann's badly bruised and decomposed body was discovered in a densely wooded area
outside Lock Haven, Pennsylvania, a small town nestled in the Appalachian
Mountains. He had been missing for three months. Jason McMann was last seen on January 23,
1999 at a party held at a place called the “Football House”, an off-campus residence where
members of the Lock Haven University football team live and hang out. According to friends and
family members, Jason had been involved in an ongoing feud with one of the football players,
Fabian Smart, over money owed to Jason’s cousin. Eyewitnesses say Jason was last seen fighting
with Smart and several members of the football team shortly before his disappearance. Authorities
have been stymied in pinpointing exactly what happened to Jason McMann because of alleged
threats and a blanket of secrecy that has fallen on this small town. AMW entered the case with
retired Miami Beach police Detective Sergeant Joe Matthews, who brings 29 years of homicide



experience to assist the Pennsylvania police in their investigation. As a direct result of an AMW
investigation by retired Homicide Detective Joe Matthews, on June 10, 2002, Fabian Smart, the
former quarterback of LHU's football team, and who cops believed brutally beat Jason McMann to
death, was arrested in his hometown Rincon, Georgia for 1st degree murder and kidnapping. Willie
Marvin "Diggy" Williams, Jr. a former student at Lock Haven University was also arrested in June
2002 for Jason's murder. Williams was taken into custody at his home in Philadelphia by a fugitive
squad. Two other accomplices, Jermaine Ballard and Quincy Teal, also former football players
from LHU surrendered to authorities in 2004 and charged for their role in the kidnap-murder of
Jason McMann. (See Shows #586, #647 and #803, OADs 4/29/00, 9/01/01 and 4/16/05)

Jermaine Lanell Ballard (Conspiracy to Commit Kidnapping) -- Jermaine Ballard, former
defensive back for Lock Haven University football team had been carrying a terrible secret around
for two years -- knowledge of a 1999 homicide that occurred while he was attending college in
Lock Haven, Pennsylvania. At first Ballard so feared for his life, he never told anyone about it.
When he left school and moved away, he thought the secret would remain buried, forever.
However, all of that ended when AMW's investigator Joe Matthews caught up with Ballard in the
summer of 2001 at his mother's house in Frederick, Maryland. Matthews, a retired Miami Beach
Homicide detective, had spent two years trying to unravel the secrecy surrounding Jason's death. A
confidential informant had told Matthews that Jermaine Ballard was one of four football
players involved in the homicide of Jason McMann. When Matthews questioned Ballard about the
night Jason was murdered, Ballard's body language gave him away, Ballard was so bothered by a
few gnats flying around that Det. Matthews suspected Jermaine's itchiness was because he was
hiding the truth. Joe Matthews passed his theory onto Lock Haven Det. Charlie Shoemaker who
interviewed Ballard two days later. When Ballard badly flunked a polygraph exam, he knew it
was finally time to come clean. And like dominos they fell. Ballard led police to Quincy Teel and
Diggy Williams, who corroborated Ballard's story and admitted to their roles in the
kidnapping/murder. Armed with three eyewitness statements police arrested Fabian Smart, a
former star quarterback, for the murder of Jason McMann.

Smart was convicted in October 2004 of Jason's murder thanks, in part, to the testimony of
Jermaine Ballard. (See Shows #586, #647 and #803, OADs 4/29/00, 9/01/01 and 4/16/05)

Note: If you have any information relating to fugitives or others featured on AMERICA’S
MOST WANTED, you may call 1-800-CRIME-TV.

Mailing address: America’s Most Wanted
P.O. Box CRIME TV
Washington, D.C. 20016

Or visit AMW on the World Wide Web at hitp://www.amw.com



TO:

FROM:

DATE:

SUBIECT:

I NTEROFFICE MEMDO

JFOX\

FOX BROADCASTING COMPANY
A UNITOF FOX TELEVISION

Fox Affiliates

Jeanette Jones

September 12, 2005
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The following are the featured fugitives and others being sought by federal, state or local
authorities. The Update (if any) gives current status, previous references, or related
information.

Gerald Michael Estes (Sexual Exploitation of a Minor) -- US Marshals and Macon
County police in North Carolina say Gerald Estes is one of the most extreme types of sex
offenders due to the number of boys he has violated. Gerald Estes moved to Franklin, NC from
Fla. in the early 90s. He'd owned Estes Jewelers in Miami and spent most of his life there, but
eventually moved north and retired. Estes was a heavy drinker and it was always getting him into
trouble. He'd been pulled over for drunken driving and would even occasionally check himself
into rehab programs. Police say Estes likes to prey on the innocent. He trusted rehab centers to
deliver naive, broken-down individuals who he thought would be easily manipulated. In truth,
Estes preferred children and had gotten away with victimizing at least two little boys in 2003.
The children were Estes' next door neighbors. The children’s mother trusted Estes enough to
leave her children in his care while she worked. The children were too scared to tell their mother
that they were being forced to participate in disgusting sex acts and even to watch as Estes raped
his own dog. Police don't know for sure how long this abuse had been going on, but they say it
stopped when Estes checked himself into a rehab program at a halfway house. There, he got a
little too comfortable and starting flaunting polaroid photographs of him raping the two boys. As
soon as police heard about the alleged crimes, they began an intense investigation and arrested
Estes. During their investigation, they made a shocking discovery. According to police, sewn into
the cushions of Estes’ couch were multiple polaroids of him raping different children. Estes
refused to tell cops who the children were, or in which state they were taken, but admitted to
raping his neighbor's children and his dog. Estes was arrested but when a judge set bail, Estes
fled. Police are continuing to interview and question everyone they believe might know where
Estes is hiding and investigators say that determination may be paying off. They received several
similar bits of information from various sources that Estes drinks cheap mouthwash from dollar



stores to get high. Knowing this, investigators hit up dollar stores around Franklin on June 23,
2005, and showed store managers Estes' photograph. It turns out the managers recognized Estes
and one even said the fugitive had been in the store two weeks earlier buying mouthwash. Police
say Estes may have died his hair red or strawberry to appear younger. Estes is 68, 5’9" and 145
pounds. (See Show #816, OAD 8/06/05)

Vincente Soto (Murder) -- It was about 3:30 a.m., when a blue Ford Taurus came
barreling into the parking lot of a local hospital in Russellville, Alabama. Hospital employees
were concerned that the driver was drunk and might seriously hurt themselves or innocent people
nearby. One staff member called 911, reported the reckiess driver and requested help. When
officers arrived, they found a bullet-riddled and blood-soaked blue Ford Taurus in the hospital
parking lot. The unidentified driver had already been admitted with multiple gunshot wounds to
his arms and head. He died an hour later. Authorities now had a murder investigation on their
hands. Officers ran the tag on the Taurus, and it led them to Dionicio "Dio" Bahema's trailer
home nearby. Authorities interviewed Dio's wife and she told them that her husband had been out
late the night before. Police a cab driver who told them he'd given Dio a ride home and that Dio
mentioned that he was going to see a 16-year-old girl at a trailer park. Police canvassed local
trailer parks in hopes of discovering a crime scene. They found evidence at Greg's Trailer Park,
several miles east of Russellville. At trailer "H," they found several bullet casings on the ground
next to the porch. Authorities also found evidence that the trailer had been hit by a car. The paint
on the trailer matched paint from Dio's blue Ford Taurus. Authorities now had a crime scene and
a possible suspect - 29-year-old Vincente Soto, who lived in trailer "H" with his 16-year-old
girlfriend Sharleena Hernandez. Dio had been having an affair with Hernandez, and when Soto
found out, he decided to take matters into his own hands. On August 7, 2005, Soto and
Hernandez were celebrating their 1-year-old son's birthday. That same night, Dio came to visit
Hemandez. That's when Soto came out of the trailer armed with a handgun and shot Dio several
times while he was still in the car. Bleeding to death from multiple gunshot wounds, Dio drove
himself to the hospital while Sote and Hernandez took off with their 1-year-old son. Ten days
after the murder, Alabama police got a tip that Hernandez had dropped her son off at her
grandmother's house in Barton, Alabama. Detectives immediately checked out the lead, and to
their relief, recovered the 1-year-old boy. Detectives then learned that Nina was still in the area
and planning on taking off again. Officers set up surveillance at an apartment in Decatur, AL and
soon saw Hernandez leaving in a car. They stopped the vehicle at a convenience store and
arrested Hernandez. Unfortunately, there was no sign of Soto. Police believe Soto may be hiding
out in Chicago and may still driving a 1999 Pontiac Grand Prix with Alabama license plate #
33B422Z. Vincente Soto, who also goes by the name "Vichola," has a tattoo of his last name
“Soto” on his upper left arm. Police believe he may be seeking work in construction. Soto is 29,
5’9” and 190 pounds.

Roman Saldarriaga (DUI Manslaughter) -- Police in Florida are trying to track down
Roman Saldarriaga. Saldarriaga is a young teen who they say was driving drunk when he
slammed into another car, killing the driver. On September 1, 2003 Saldariagga was on his way
to a friend's house in Naples, Florida when he lost control of his car and hit another car. Janelle
Hail, a mother of two, died at the scene, entangled in the wreckage of the crash. At the scene of
the crash, investigators found empty beer cans inside Saldarriaga's car. When police asked him



about the evidence they found, Saldarriaga confessed that he had five or six beers and gave a
blood sample. When the results came back, they weren't surprised. Saldarriaga's blood-alcohol
content was more than twice the legal limit. However, before police could arrest him, Saldarriaga
managed to take off and he hasn't been seen since. Saldarriaga may be in Colombia where he has
family. Saldarriaga is 21, 5’8” and 170 pounds.

Edgardo Rodriguez (1* Degree Murder) -- Police in Chicago suburb Cicero, Illinois are
searching for Edgardo Rodriguez, who they say was only 16 years old when he killed a man. It
all started when Lorenzo Ayala, a member of the Saint Disciples gang, and one of his friends
ventured in to rival territory when they went to visit Lorenzo's grandmother on July 14th, 2003.
On the way back home, detectives say that 19-year-old Lorenzo was confronted on the street by
some "Pee Wee" members (junior, younger gangsters) of the Maniac Latin Disciples. The group
exchanged words, and the battle escalated to a full-on street brawl. Amidst the street scuffle a
shots rang out. Rodriguez had pulled up in a car during the fight and came out firing. He hit
Lorenzo in the shoulder and the another bullet passed through his lung and heart. The man who
had just gone to visit his grandmother died on the scene. Despite his age, Edgardo Rodriguez
faces adult charges for Lorenzo's murder. Cicero Police also would like to question Rodriguez
about a second homicide once he is in custody. Rodriguez is a self-proclaimed Maniac Latin
Disciple gang member. He’s described as short-tempered and is considered armed and
dangerous. Edgardo Rodriguez has multiple ties to the Chicagoland area. Rodriguez is 18, 5°6”
and 140 pounds.

Cesar Anthony Lira (Felony Escape)

Manuel Ayala (Parole Violation) -- In the spring of 2004 Cesar Lira was in prison for
violating parole on a 1992 drug conviction when he injured his leg. As prison officials took him
to a Milwaukee hospital, Lira sprang from his wheelchair and jumped into a waiting getaway
vehicle with his girlfriend and young daughter. State troopers spotted the getaway vehicle in
Oklahoma and tried to stop Lira with a roadblock. Lira crashed through the barricade killing his
girlfriend and injuring his daughter. Lira was convicted of several crimes surrounding the police
chase mcluding second-degree murder for the death of his girlfriend in the crash. He was
sentenced to 20 years in an Oklahoma prison. Just nine months into his Oklahoma prison
sentence, Lira was taken on a quick trip back to Milwaukee to answer charges related to his
prison escape. However, Oklahoma prison officials made a big mistake. The paperwork that
accompanied Lira never specified that the prisoner was to be returned to Oklahoma to serve the
remainder of his 20-year-murder sentence. As a result, a Wisconsin judge unknowingly set a
$15,000 bond for Lira, mistakenly allowing for his release. Lira walked out of a Milwaukee jail
on June 15, 2005. Before Wisconsin and Oklahoma officials realized their mistake, Lira met up
with a lifelong friend, Manuel Ayala (another Milwaukee convict who just discovered that he
was about to go back to prison for violating his parole) and the two fugitives hit the road.
Manuel Ayala, a resident of Milwaukee, was on parole after being convicted of manufacturing



and delivery of cocaine in April 2003. His parole was revoked on May 31, 2004 after he was
involved in two incidents involving a firearm. Ayala knew that the authorities would be coming
to pick him up in a matter of days. Police say instead of returning to prison, Ayala decided to flee
with Lira in his 1991 white Range Rover with the Wisconsin license plate 970JTC or 856HEV.
Police believe Ayala and Lira are heading to Texas, where they have family and friends before
trying to slip over the border into Mexico. Police say Ayala has an aggressive, violent history and
was spotted with a gun in the month before he fled. According to detectives, Ayala told his
family that he would rather die than go back to prison. Lira is also known as Cesar Antonio Lira
and Sergio Cano. He has a six-inch scar above his right ankle. Oklahoma prison records show his
leg mjury was fixed using a metal plate, pins, and screws. He also has a scar on is right ankle,
two small scars on his right knee, a naked woman in a sombrero with words "Mi Vida Loca" on
his back and praying hands with comedy and tragedy masks, spider web, hour glass and "Lira" on
his right forearm. Lira is 34, 5°9” and 190 pounds. Ayala uses the aliases Manual Hernandez,
Cordora Manual, Manual Ramirez, and “Duby.” He wears a manicured goatee but may have
shaved it off. He has a scar on his upper lip and on his left eye and he has undetermined tattoos
on his back, upper left and right arms, both hands and left and right breasts. Ayala is a heavy
drinker who frequents bars. Ayala is 35, 5°11” and 260 pounds. (See Show #811, OAD 7/02/05)

Mark Cerino (Contracting Without A License During A State Of Emergency) -- Amidst
the rubble and downed trees, many of Florida's elderly tried to rebuild their lives after the
destructive 2004 hurricane season. When people offered to help, it was often welcome. What
these helpless victims didn't expect was a scam artist who was more than ready to take advantage
of their pain. Police in Florida are trying to track down Mark Cerino. Cerino is a man who preys
on unassuming victims of disaster by posing as a certified contractor. Cerino imitates a licensed
contractor scheduling jobs, making estimates and collecting payment. But, according to the state
of Florida, Cerino is not a licensed contractor. Cerino takes money for home repairs from
unsuspecting victims and takes off. Now, authorities fear Cerino may have made his way to the
devastated Gulf Coast and is pulling the same scam there. Cerino has a scar above his right eye
and a scar on his right leg. He has an unknown tattoo on his right arm and another unknown
tattoo on his upper right arm. Cerino is 45, 5°10”-6°0” and 145-170 pounds.

Enrique Molina (Grand Theft, Contracting Without a License) -- Miami police are trying
to track down Enrique Molina. Molina is accused of posing as a licensed contractor who has
conned victims out of thousands of dollars in cash. Molina entered contracts with sixteen
different Florida victims to build pools at their homes. Then he would dig a hole in the victim's
yard and abandon the job site with money in his pocket, totaling more than $152,000. Authorities
caught up with Molina 9 times, but before he could be prosecuted, Molina was allowed to bond
out of jail and fled. Molina uses the alias Henry Molina. Molina is 5’8" and 175-200 pounds.

Stanley Osbourne (Rape, Assault) -- In March 2001, police say Osbourne raped his 16-
year-old step-daughter and fled before he could be arrested. Five months later, Osbourne decided
to kill his wife, Bonita. According to police, he lured Bonita to Kings Point, New York under the
pretense of going to see a marriage counselor for their problems. But Osbourne had no intention
of legitimately addressing their marital issues. In fact, they say the way he planned on "fixing"
the problem was to murder the woman he married. A witness told police he saw a couple



arguing in the street. He noticed the man, who cops later identified as Osbourne, was holding
something black in his hand that might have been a gun. The witness called 911, but by the time
police arrived, it was too late. Osbourne's wife had been severely beaten with a hand gun. She
was alive, but badly injured. Luckily, between Bonita's account and the witness', police were able
to piece together what had happened. Authorities say when the couple arrived at Kings Point,
Osboume tried to cut Bonita with a razor. But Bonita fought back and jumped out of the car.
Then Osbourne attempted to shoot her, but the gun misfired. In a rage, Osbourne pistol whipped
his wife, causing a skull fracture and a huge amount of blood loss. Bonita told police Osbourne
fled in his car, and she somehow managed to drag herself off the ground and to the road. She was
treated for her injuries and released. Osbourne, who is also known as Oswald Leon, Stan Leon,
Leon Osboume, is a body builder who has a scar on his eyebrow above his left eye and another
scar on his face. He speaks Spanish and has worked in construction and as a truck driver.
Osbourne is 48, 5’10 and 225 pounds.

Gary Alan Irving (Rape, Assault, Kidnapping) -- Massachusetts State Police say that
during the summer of 1978, Gary Irving assaulted one girl and raped two others. But at the time,
police had no idea who they were dealing with. The first attack took place on July 1. The victim
was an eighteen year-old girl from South Weymouth, Massachusetts. The young girl was
walking home from a friend's house around midnight when she passed a green Pontiac parked
along side of the road. As the girl approached, a young man jumped out and forced her at
knifepoint into the car. The man drove her to a secluded area, where he sexually assaulted her.
Afterwards, he dropped her off near her home and took off. The rapist struck again ten days later
in Cohasset, Massachusetts. His sixteen year old victim told police that she was riding her bike
home when a man jumped from his car and grabbed her bike. She says he put a knife to her
throat and forced her into the car. This time the assailant carried his vicious attack further and
raped her. He released the victim and disappeared. On July 29, another sixteen year old was
waking home from a friend's house in Holbrook, Massachusetts when she saw the green Pontiac
car coming toward her. She told police that a man got out of the car and grabbed her and threw
her into his car. Police say this time there were two men. They drove her to a remote location
and raped her. Then the assailants dropped her off on the side of the road just like the other two
victims. It appeared that the police in Massachusetts had a serial rapist on their hands, but they
couldn't identify him. They kept waiting for a break in the case. Police say the rapist made his
first mistake on September 1, 1978. Police say he tried to abduct two girls as they were walking,
but this time the girls managed to escape. Fortunately the girls were able to remember four digits
on his license plate. Police ran the plate number and came up with eighteen-year-old Gary
Irving. Irving had just finished his freshman year at Boston College. In high school he was an
honor student and a trombone player in the marching band. Police tracked down Irving and
arrested him. The two girls were able to identify him as their attacker. His case went to court and
he was found guilty of three counts of rape, one count of rape unnatural, kidnapping, and two
counts of aggravated assault. The judge decided that Irving wasn't a flight risk and delayed his
sentencing so he could get his personal things together. Irving took care of his personal affairs
and then split town. The Massachusetts State Police have placed Irving on their Top Ten Most
Wanted List. Police believe that Irving is a serial rapist and is living in the United States with a
new Identity. Irving is an excellent trombone player who has a 2" scar on his chest. Police say
he may be a college graduate working in a technical field and he may see a doctor on a regular



basis for a heart condition (had heart surgery as a teenager). Gary Alan Irving is 45, 6°10” and
180-240 pounds.

Roger "Alex" Alexander Mendez-Lopez (Murder)

Eberto DeJesus Ulloa-Vallencillos (Murder)

Rigoberto Otero Aguilar (Murder) -- On the night of Feb. 7, 2005, Virginia police were
called to a wooded are in Haymarket, Virginia where they found the body of a man who was
brutally murdered. The man's body was mutilated with puncture wounds and his head was
smashed with a carpenter's hammer. However, after searching the scene, police learned the man's
wallet was missing and he didn't have an ID in his possession. Fortunately, investigators were
able to recover two pieces of paper from the man's pockets, which would eventually help them
crack the case. One of the pieces of paper was a receipt and the other was a napkin with the name
"Jennifer" and a phone number. First, investigators say they followed up on the credit card clue.
They ran the numbers from the receipt and followed it to a man named Jose Efrain Guzman.
Then, they followed the receipt to a place called Pepe's Bar. When they got to the bar, police met
a waitress named Jennifer. And after meeting with her, they were able to put all of the pieces of
the puzzle together. Jennifer told police that Jose was at the bar alone the night before. After she
met him, she said they danced briefly, and then exchanged telephone numbers. She also told
police the restaurant had a surveillance system. After looking over the video, police learned more
about the night's events. While Jose had allegedly headed to the bar alone, it didn't stay that way
long. He ended up partying with two other men: Alex Mendez-Lopez and Eberto DeJesus Ulloa-
Vallecillos. Police say the men offered to give Jose a ride home, or at least that's what they told
him they were going to do. Instead, the two men began a night-long crime spree, using Jose's
credit cards at ATM's and gas stations. Along the way, they picked up third suspect, Rigoberto
Otero-Aguilar. When the men couldn't get anymore money, they beat Jose to death. Police have
since charged the men with first degree murder. Alex Lopez is 29, 5°4” and 150 pounds. Eberto
Ulloa-Vallencillos is 36, 5°6” and 160 pounds. Rigoberto Aguilar is 26, 5°4” and 150 pounds.

Steven Kirkley (Capital Murder, Escape) -- In October 2004, real estate agent Janelle
Hatton was robbed at her home in the Bunker Hill community of Marion County, Mississippi.
According to investigators, she was then shot to death and buried thirty miles away over the
Louisiana border. Eight people were charged in connection with the slaying, but police say
Steven Kirkley was the shooter. He was arrested on Halloween in 2004 and charged with capital
murder. Kirkley was awaiting trial, housed in the Marion County Jail when Hurricane Katrina
made its approach toward Mississippi's coast. After Hurricane Katrina ravaged communities
along Mississippi's shore, police from all over the state began responding to the incredible
devastation. Sheriff's Deputies in Marion County were no exception. While the attention of the
sheriff's department was diverted to relief efforts, Kirkley and two other prisoners planned their
escape from the prison. And exactly one week after Katrina struck, so did Kirkley and his
accomplices. In the early morning hours of Labor Day on September 5, three men crawled up
through the jail's air vents, over the roof, and escaped the jail. Kirkley has numerous tattoos
including the word “outlaw” with a skull on hi left arm; the words “no limit” on his left wrist and
hand; a sword on his entire back; a lion head on his left shoulder blade; a battle axe on his right
shoulder blade; a heart with chains and an unknown name on the right side of his chest; a gothic
design on the left side of his chest and shoulder; a Native American armband with feathers on his



left bicep; the sun on his right shoulder; a spider web with letters “SUR” above it on his right
elbow; swords, crosses, flowers and skulls on his right arm; the word “GINQO” above his navel.
Kirkley is 27, 5°6” and 145 pounds.

Curtis Dickson (Murder, Attempted Murder) -- Investigators say Curtis Dickson
murdered two men in the Expose community of Marion County, Mississippi, as the result of an
ongoing dispute. Police arrested Dickson and two other suspects in the crime. That's when they
discovered that Dickson was also wanted in New Orleans for Attempted Murder, Aggravated
Kidnapping, and Carjacking. Marion County Sheriff's Deputies say Dickson and two other
inmates plotted their escape for several weeks before Hurricane Katrina hit the Gulf Coast. A
week after the devastation, Dickson and two other inmates set their plan in motion. As officers
were focusing on the relief effort, police say Dickson climbed up the jail's air vents and onto the
roof. He hasn't been seen since. Dickson is 25, 5’7 and 150 pounds.

Note: If you have any information relating to fugitives or others featured on AMERICA'S
MOST WANTED, you may call 1-800-CRIME-TV.

Mailing address: America’s Most Wanted
P.O. Box CRIME TV
Washington, D.C. 20016

Or visit AMW on the World Wide Web at http:/fwww.amw.com



This Saturday, September 17, 2005, AMERICA’S MOST WANTED: AMERICA
FIGHTS BACK will be airing the following cases. If you have any questions or
would fike to request a video, please contact Kim Newport at 240-482-1198.

Erie, Pennsylvania...UNKNOWN BRIAN WELLS KILLER...Brian Wells was
known as a nice man; a simple man. Being a pizza delivery guy, and a life-long
resident of Erie, he was familiar with a lot of streets in town. But on August 28,
2003, he arrived to deliver a pizza at an address that was on a deserted dirt road,
adjacent to an array of TV satellite dishes and towers. He would later tell police
that at the site, three men accosted him, strapped a bomb to his neck. and gave
him directions and plans to rob a bank. But things went terribly wrong. After the
bank robbery, police caught up with Brian Wells and held him at bay. Handcuffed
and pleading for help, Brian Wells lay on the ground desperate. Then the bomb
went off, killing him. Now, two years later, John Walsh & AMW go inside the
investigation to reveal new clues — including evidence that's never been seen
before -- that could help determine whether Brian Wells was an innocent victim or
a ruthless bank robber whose own device ended up killing him.

Columbia, South Carolina...ELBY HARS...Cops in South Carolina are looking
for a man convicted of sexually abusing his daughter and then turning her into his
partner in crime. Elby Hars' trouble with the law started back in 1982. He was
convicted of sexually abusing his daughter Terri Hars. But even prison bars and
handcuffs couldn't keep Hars from getting to his victim. That's because after Elby
Hars was released, he reunited with his daughter. This time around, police say
Hars didn't make his daughter his primary victim. Instead, authorities say the
father and daughter teamed up to become partners in crime. Terri Hars became
a link in her father's chain of victims by allegedly going out and finding young girls
for her dad to abuse. But in February of 2000, police say a 13-year-old girl told
them that Hars was abusing her and that's when authorities slapped the ex-con
with his second round of sex abuse charges. But that's not all -- Terri Hars also
faced her own set of charges. A few months later, police say Terri Hars turned
herself in. But her dear old dad didn't follow her footsteps. Instead, he decided to
remain on the run. Terri Hars is doing time in a South Carolina jail. And now
police want to make sure to reunite this pair where they belong -- behind bars.

Cottonwood, Arizona...DOMINGO VALDEZ...Cops in Arizona are trying to
track down an accused killer. According to officials, Domingo Valdez got into an
argument with 27-year-old Omar Cardenas and shot him to death. Cops say
Valdez stuffed Omar's body in a car and left it along Highway 260 in Cottonwood,
Arizona. Two days after the murder, an officer noticed the parked car alongside
the highway and found Omar’s body inside. Authorities believe Valdez may have
fled the area in his black 1994 Ford Ranger pickup shortly after the homicide. He
has ties to Mexico, California, and Arizona, but so far cops have been unable to
track him down.



Oregon City, Oregon...ROGEL!O DEAQUINO...Cops say Rogelio Deaquino
lured a 25-year-old mentally handicapped woman in to his apartment, saying
they were going to watch cartoons. There, cops say, Deaquino brutally raped
her. Deaquino was arrested and charged, but fled in the middle of his trial. He
was convicted in absentia and sentenced by a jury to 100 months, but cops have
been unable to track him down.

Darke County, Ohio...DOUGLAS HOLLER... Police say on May 22, 2004,
Douglas Holler's careless actions changed one Ohio family forever. That night,
Holler allegedly ran a stop sign and crashed into the car of David Neff, Killing him
instantly. Cops say Holler checked into a hospital following the crash. Police
didn't file charges immediately because they were waiting for results from a blood
alcohol test -- they suspected Holler had been drinking. Holler didn't wait around
for the test results; instead he took off and hasn’t been seen since. Police say he
travels with a woman named Marcia Franz and there's a possibility he may still
be with her. Authorities say the pair frequently stop at lakes and campgrounds;
specifically Kiser Lake, Indian Lake, Grand Lake St. Mary's and Lake Ft.
Loramie.

Naples, Florida...PEDRO RODRIGUEZ and GRACIANO DEJESUS LOPEZ...
Cops say on May 28, 2005, 12-year-old Eric Brown was on his way home after a
bike ride around the neighborhood, when a gray Nissan pick-up fruck came down
the road, swerving erratically. Witnesses in a car traveling behind the truck
watched in horror as the truck slammed into Eric on his bike, killing him, and then
took off without even the slightest hesitation. According to police, the registered
truck owner called officials to report the truck stolen around midnight on the night
of the crash. But later, the owner admitted he was lying, and that the truck wasn't
stolen at all. He was apparently trying to protect two men he says were using the
truck. Cops say the men are Graciano Dejesus Lopez and Pedro

Rodriguez. Both were illegal aliens and don’t have driver's licenses.

Gary, Indiana...LARRY BURNS.. According to police, Vicki Burns was staying
with her mother after divorcing her husband, Larry Burns. Life was peaceful for
Vicki until the morning she saw something in her backyard, her husband with a
gun in each hand, headed straight for her. Cops say Burns killed Vicki with two
shotgun blasts to the head and that he hasn’t been seen since.

Richmond, Virginia... TAYLOR BEHL MISSING...Cops say 17-year-old Taylor
Behl was last seen on September 5, 2005 as she was leaving her Virginia
Commonwealth University dorm at approximately 10:00 PM.

Huntsville, Alabama...IN THE LINE OF DUTY — DANIEL GOLDEN...Officer
Daniel Golden was shot and killed when he responded to a domestic disturbance
call at a restaurant. A police officer for three years, Officer Golden joined the
Huntsville Police Department on July 8, 2003. He had previously served as a



reserve officer with the Fayetteville Police Department. Golden's dedicated
service and compassion for others will never be forgotten.



This Saturday, September 24, 2005, AMERICA’S MOST WANTED: AMERICA
FIGHTS BACK will be airing the following cases. If you have any questions or
would like to request a video, please contact Kim Newport at 240-482-1198.

New York, New York...UNKNOWN RASHAWN BRAZELL KILLER...After
Transit Authority workers made a gruesome discovery of a bag of body parts in a
deep subway tunnel, police were handed a dreadful murder case to solve. Then
more bags of body parts surfaced; everything but the head. Good detective work
soon identified the victim as a 19-year-old man. Police discovered that the body
was dismembered by a chainsaw, with precision accuracy. Forensic work
confirmed all of the body parts from the three bags belonged to Rashawn Brazell.
His head is still missing, and the killer is on the loose.

Wilmington, North Carolina...EDWARD L.LEE GREEN... Authorities say that
one night, Edward Green and his wife were having a heated argument at their
home. Green allegedly began beating his wife and violently raping her. She
could not take the abuse any longer so she checked herself into The Oaks, a
psychiatric hospital at New Hanover hospital. She reported the incident to the
Wilmington Police Depariment a couple of weeks later. Police say, one month
later Green kidnapped his wife's sister, Susanne Avery, and allegedly held her
against her will for over 12 hours, raping her repeatedly before letting her go.
Green has not been seen since.

Austin, Texas...CHARLES RANDALL BRUNSON...In 1987, Charles Randall
Brunson was sentenced to 35 years in a Texas prison for shooting a man to
death and injuring a young woman who was caught in the crossfire. But three
years into his sentence, Brunson was released on an appeal bond. Cops say
Brunson returned to his family and began to repeatedly sexually assault his own
four-year-old daughter. Brunson was arrested, convicted of aggravated sexual
assault of a child, and sent back to prison. But he was paroled with an electronic
tracking bracelet in March 2000. On November 19, 2000, authorities from the
Texas Department of Criminal Justice Parole Division received a "tamper alert”
from their fugitive’s GPS tracking system, indicating that something was wrong
with Brunson's tracking bracelet. Officers rushed to Brunson's address in Del
Valle and found that he had somehow cut off his tracking bracelet and skipped
town.

Newark, New Jersey... RAKEEM BASKERVILLE...The U.S. Marshals have
added a notorious New Jersey gangster, wanted in connection to two murders of
government witnesses, to their 15 Most Wanted List. Cops say Rakeem
Baskerville has been on the run for more than 17 months. Now, officials are
turning up the heat with the hopes that Baskerville will land behind bars.

Cobb County, Georgia...GUILLERMO PERALTA CASTANEDA... According to
police, Guillermo Peralta Castaneda rode his bicycle to his ex-girlfriend Lisa's
house, and stabbed her at least 50 times before discarding her body. He then



allegedly took off in her new boyfriend's car. Despite the horrific nature of Lisa's
death, police say this isn't the first time Castaneda killed someone. Police say
they learned that Castaneda killed another person in 2000. Authorities in Vera
Cruz, Mexico say Castaneda killed a man by shooting him in the back of the
head. Now, Castaneda faces several charges and they say it's time to bring him
down.

St. George, Utah...JORDAN ALLGOOD KILLER CAPTURE...In November
2003, Jordon Allgood was shot and killed while at work in a rare coin shop he
owned. Jordan was murdered by a gunman who stole $20,000 in rare coins from
his shop. Fourteen months to the day of Jordan's murder, officials got their man.
Cops say AMW tipsters gave them the lead they needed to charge Daniel Robert
Campbell with the murder.

Warren County, Ohio and Remington, Indiana...MELVIN KEELING...An
urgent manhunt is underway in the Midwest. Police in Warren County, Ohio say
on Monday, September 19, Melvin Keeling killed a 13-year-old girl who was
reportedly slated to be a witness against him in a sex abuse case. Cops say after
the murder, Keeling killed two store clerks in Remington, Indiana as he made his
getaway though Indiana. Now authorities need the public's help to put Keeling
behind bars.

Marion County, Mississippi...STEVEN KIRKLEY...According to police, in
October 2004, real estate agent Janell Hatton was robbed at her home in the
Bunker Hill community of Marion County, Mississippi. Cops say she was then
shot to death and buried approximately 15 miles away in an abandoned barn.
According to authorities, Steven Kirkley was the shooter. He was arrested on
Halloween in 2004 and charged with capital murder. Kirkley was awaiting trial,
housed in the Marion County Jail when Hurricane Katrina made its approach
toward Mississippi's coast. After Hurricane Katrina ravaged communities along
Mississippi's shore, and the attention of the sheriff's department was diverted to
relief efforts, Kirkley and two other prisoners planned their escape from the jail.
Police say on September 5, the three men crawled up through the jail's air vents,
over the roof, and escaped the jail.

Richmond, Virginia.. TAYL.OR BEHL MISSING UPDATE...Cops say 17-year-
old Taylor Behl was last seen on September 5, 2005 as she was leaving her
Virginia Commonwealth University dorm at approximately 10:00 PM. Richmond
police have named 38-year-old Ben Fawley as a "person of interest” in Taylor's
disappearance. Fawley, a photographer, is reported to have had a romantic
relationship with the missing freshman from Virginia Commonwealth University.

Queens, New York...UNKNOWN USHA TANEJA KILLER...On August 20,

2004, Usha Taneja went out with her shopping cart to get some groceries from a
store up the block. She never returned home. On her way to the store, cops say
a man in a white van confronted her. Surveillance video shows Usha talking with



the man for a minute before continuing on her way. But 20 minutes later, 9-1-1
received a frantic phone call from an ice cream truck driver. He fold dispatchers a
woman was lying on the ground bleeding. Cops say she had apparently been
beaten with some kind of blunt object. Usha went into a coma and died four days
after her attack.

Port St. Lucie, Florida...ERIN NEMBHARD MISSING...Florida police are
concerned for 15-year-old Erin Nembhard. According to officials, she ran away
with 35-year-old convicted sex offender, Corey Witty. He has since been
arrested, but there is still no sign of Erin Nembhard.

Lawrence, Massachusetts...JACINTO MALDONADO and ANDRES
MALDONADO...On the evening of August 15, 2003, police say Andres
Maldonado and two accomplices did a drive-by shooting that left 20-year-old [nal
Gomez dead. Police learned during the course of their investigation that Andres
Maldonado was the shooter who gunned down Inal. On September 4, 2003, just
a couple of weeks after Andres was charged with murder, police say

Andres' brother, Jacinto Maldonado, participated in a two-car accident that was
staged as part of an insurance scam to get some extra cash. Police say among
the eight people recruited as passengers for the crash was Jacinto and Andre’s
grandmother, 65-year-old Altagracia Arias. The collision was a scam designed to
allow all of the passengers to claim injuries, then run up medical treatment bills
with shady chiropractors, doctors and lawyers in Lawrence who were part of the
scam and stood to gain five-figure paydays for their "professional" services to
their injured "clients". But the staged accident did not go as choreographed.
Police say Jacinto Maldonado accelerated too fast, lost control after hitting the
other vehicle, and crashed into a telephone pole. His grandmother was killed in
the crash, and Jacinto Maldonado was charged with manslaughter in the death of
his own grandmother. The Maldonado brothers may be on the run together and
could be hiding out in the New York City or northern New Jersey where they
have numerous relatives.

El Paso, Texas...IN THE LINE OF DUTY — RUBEN ORQZCO...Sgt. Ruben
Orozco was killed in an automobile accident while on duty. A police officer for 26
years, Sgt. Orozco was also a Marine Corps veteran. In 2002, he received the
Supervisor of the Year award from the Texas Narcotics Officers Association for
his work with the Metro Narcotics Task Force. Sgt. Orozco was a leader of the
hostage negotiation team and was a master peace officer. When he was not in
uniform, Sgt. Orozco spent much of his time volunteering for the Special
Olympics. A friend to all those he came in contact with, Sgt. Orozco will be sorely
missed.



